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Cayman Islands
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59 Dongjie Street

Gulou District

Fuzhou, Fujian Province
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PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
The Landmark 18/F, Edinburgh Tower
15 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong
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CCB International Capital Limited
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As to Hong Kong and U.S. law:
DLA Piper Hong Kong

As to PRC law:

Fujian HaoChen Law Firm

As to Cayman Islands law:
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Tricor Investor Services Limited
26/F, Tesbury Centre
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China Construction Bank Co., Limited
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Financial Highlights and Summary
VA 50 B

RESULTS E 35

For the year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=t+-BLEE
2010 2009 2008 2007
“E-2F _IZENF _TENF _ITELF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTIT ARWTR ARKTR

Revenue WA 529,940 462,967 361,706 151,189
Gross profits EH 255,796 219,877 130,204 59,141
Operating profits BERN 186,623 168,649 93,945 40,705
Profit/(loss) attributable to: ATALEIERF, (BE):

() Equity holders of the Company ()  ERARREBBA 161,095 140,819 79,775 31,588

(i)~ Non-controlling interests (iy  FEEEER (15) (39) (545) 572
Earnings per share - Basic (RMB cents) BRER-EX (ARES) 0.2858 0.2564 0.1453 0.0575
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES & EE U

For the year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+-BLEE
2010 2009 2008 2007
—B2-%% _—TTHE Z-TT\F C—TT+tHE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMTR ARETT ARETR ARKETR

Total assets BmEE 1,285,003 499,588 364,599 245,655
Total debt BE®E 54,764 84,107 103,477 77,587
Total liabilities EEY =N 213,417 197,808 203,599 167,885
Equity attributable to: MNAT GRS :

Equity holders of the Company ARAERFEBA 1,071,114 301,293 160,474 76,699

+EFERARAT —T-TFFH §



6

Financial Highlights and Summary
YR 0 B

FINANCIAL RATIOS

Gross profits margins: ERE:
(i)  Overall iy g
(i) Newspaper advertising (i) WHAESE
(iii)  Distribution management, (iy BOER -FANM
consulting and printing ENFRI AR 7%
services
(iv)  Online services (iv) BERE
(v)  Television and radio advertising v) ERKERES
Operating margins mEREE
Net margins FME X
Return on equity R B 3%
Return on assets BEDRE

BHRNFEREX (A)
Trade payables turnover (days) BHRMNFERER(B)
Gearing ratio ERAELE

Trade receivables turnover (days)

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010
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For the year ended 31 December

BEt+t-A=1T—HLEE

2010
—E-ZF

48.3%
41.9%

56.2%
91.2%
14.8%
35.3%
30.4%
15.0%
12.5%

141

4.3%

2009
—EENF

47.5%
40.1%

61.9%
92.2%

36.4%
30.4%
46.7%
28.2%
106
23
16.8%

2008

36.0%
30.4%

62.8%
96.6%

26.0%
21.9%
49.4%
21.7%

84

42
28.4%

39.1%
29.9%

58.3%
91.5%

26.9%
21.3%
41.9%
13.1%
71

141
31.6%



Chen Zhi BR&
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer
and Executive Director

T BERITERNTEF

In 2010, the media and advertising industries experienced stable
and healthy growth in tandem with the rapidly expanding PRC
economy, exhibited by a steady increase in revenue among printed
media enterprises across the country. In this favorable climate, we
strengthened our overall competitiveness in both the traditional
and new media advertising markets through reinforcing our
integrated printed media advertising platform, developing our
digital media business and entering the radio advertising market.
As a result, the Group recorded a significant year-on-year increase

in both revenue and net profit of 14.4% in 2010.

The year marked not only the tenth anniversary, but also a new
era of development for the Group. The Group was successfully
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, widening the financing channel for our business
expansion in the fast growing advertising industry. Capitalizing
on this access to the international capital market, the Group
attracted various renowned and influential investors, such as New

World Strategic Investment Limited, Templeton Strategic Emerging

Chairman’s Statement

B E e

-2 HETELEEREYD BRERK
EETRBERERRE R 2E R KEEK
ARTHE R - AL EE B 058 & R H 58 f &7
PEEEBTE HEBFRENESER.
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RN T AKEEERIRE &ﬁﬁhﬁ
TEENEABFN B AEER =
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14.4% -

FAN BRTEASE+FEREE RARDOE
AEBBAFTHNERE SERNI2A3BRE
BHMARSGHMAERARIERET BAHRHTAE
EHRmERE DHAEEERREENES
ERRR(EE™IS RN RS B HEE AR
MBES  BBRSIAZMNNEL AFEHNE
BEEE RIEMEARKREARAA
TEFEMBSES RERBAEEEEERRA
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Chairman’s Statement

ENEi g

Markets Fund Ill, LDC, and CCB International Asset Management
Limited and thereby obtained valuable capital and a more
robust financial position to further our business development
and enhance our overall value. These investors have also made
telling contributions by offering their management and operating
experience in various industries and enhancing our standard of

corporate governance.

In addition to the “ten-year” foundation laid down in the past
decade, our “Shifang”, or “tenfold capacity”, was also a key to
our business development. Our tenfold capacity is represented
by our all-round presence in the eight geographical directions
(namely east, south, west, north, southeast, northeast, southwest
and northwest) as well as sky and earth. Building on our
diversified business and comprehensive “Shifang” cooperation
network with all kinds of media, we have set ourselves to
become an integrated media service provider for advertisers in
various industries so as to establish our position as a multi-city
operator. We have also striven to acquire a broader audience
base and to make an impact on a wider group of people for our
advertising customers using our integrated services spanning from

advertisement design, content creation, printing and distribution

to the organization of events.

Beijing
db3R

A Multi-City Operator in China WA EIHZ W £ BER

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010

A NMEBAETARENERNMUBES
EEEXBEHRMEERN EER TMME
FUENEREEMEERLR TAMBER

BT

BTHERMANITFIOREERSE RN
T BHEENEXBRRAREER [T
FlRENANFT(R-B-Aw-d-FE- R
PR~ Fadb) - LA R R AN o i B AP B R B
BRRBAZETENESHERET NG
RERGESR NAMSND AL BEM
BItH]M2RRAERE ETEEE B
MZWHEBENA AR EERT AERE
R ETHRMEDN —RBILRE RE
TEEFPEEEZNXR FEEZHOAR-



While consolidating our strong position as a printed media service
provider in second-tier and third-tier cities, we have also fostered
additional printed media partners and extended our operation to
appropriately capture opportunities in the rapidly emerging radio,
internet and mobile phone advertising sectors, as well as the
steadily growing television sector. Furthermore, we have expanded
the coverage of our media operation through consolidating
our customers and media resources. Our determination and
strength were shown by the fact that we have secured a 5-year
cooperation project with YangGuang DuShi, a subsidiary of
China National Radio (AR AREHKE S ) and a national media
enterprise, at the end of last year, and were granted the first
internet publishing license for our new media business in Fujian
at the beginning of this year. Meanwhile, the Group continued to
innovate, introducing mobile reading platforms in order to quickly
establish our foothold in the PRC mobile phone market and its
600 million subscribers. Furthermore, we continued to further the
development of our client-end reading software for operating the
iPhone, iPad and Android operating systems so as to strengthen

our media coverage.

Looking forward to 2011, we expect the stable growth of the
domestic media and advertising industries to persist as the PRC
economy grows steadily and the consumption power of the
Chinese public rises. In the future, we will continue to reinforce
our market position as an integrated printed media service
provider, improve our operations in the internet, radio and
television segments, foster more media partners, innovate new
media cooperation arrangements, consolidate resources, and
further strengthen our comprehensive package sales team. We
will provide higher value-added services to our customers while
offering appropriate and diversified contents to their audiences.
We will also forage in key regions that have been recently
supported economically by the central government, such as the
Bohai and Gulf of Tonkin regions, Northeastern and Central
China and the Southeastern coastal region. As further reforms
are expected for the PRC cultural industry, the Group plans to
participate in the shareholding restructuring of printed media and
consolidate our operational platform through equity investments
that will transform our role from an agent or partner to that of a
stakeholder.

Chairman’s Statement

B E e

BMEZEEB = — B mONRIE RS HER
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RE-_F——F BETEKESERTIER
KERBEKFORET RABRSHENER
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2ORNEEREBNEE FARRBNGES
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Chairman’s Statement

Wl

Leveraging on the Group's diversified, long-standing and unique
cooperative relationship with printed media in various cities,
as well as our cross-media network, integrated advertisement
design capacity, diversified customer base and deep management
experience, we are well positioned to capture the development
opportunities arising from the rapidly growing advertising
industry and our comprehensive cooperation with the media.
Therefore, we are confident about creating long-term value for
our shareholders and business partners. In the meantime, we will
dutifully maintain our high level of corporate social responsibility

while offering suitable and appropriate content to the public.

Last but not least, on behalf of the board of directors, | would
like to express my sincere gratitude to our valuable shareholders,
customers and business partners for their trust and continuing
support. | would also like to thank the management and all staff
for their professional and selfless contributions. Through our joint
efforts and determination, we believe we will prevail and achieve

greater success in the future.

Chen Zhi

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 March 2011

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B PILG wd  2 3 He

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group derives income from four major sources,

(iii) distribution

namely
(i) newspaper advertising; (ii) online services;
management, consulting and printing services; and (iv) television
and radio advertising. As of 31 December 2010, the Group’s
businesses have extended to over 16 second-tier and third-
tier cities across eight provinces in the PRC. The Group is set to
offer one-stop solutions to advertisers and create value for our
customers. Although the newspaper advertising business is our
major revenue source, the Group is actively developing television
and radio advertising, online services and digital media advertising
businesses so as to provide comprehensive advertising services to

advertisers.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the PRC domestic
economy grew steadily. Domestic consumption was boosted by a
series of proactive economic stimulus measures launched by the
central government, and the consumption growth in cities was
particularly resilient. The advertising industry has experienced a
strong rebound and rapid growth after the financial crisis. On the
back of increased demand for advertising and marketing services
in second-tier and third-tier cities in China, the Group recorded
turnover of RMB529.9 million in 2010, representing an increase
of 14.4% as compared to the corresponding period last year.
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company amounted
to RMB161.1 million, representing an increase of 14.4% as
compared to the corresponding period last year and 0.9% higher
than the profit forecast of RMB159.7 million as stated in the

Prospectus.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

R Tig

Diversified advertiser base

After years of persistent and ambitious business expansion, the
Group has developed a diverse customer base covering a wide
spectrum of industries in the cities in which we operate, including
consumer products, real estate, 3C (computer, communication
and consumer products), telecommunications, home appliance
retailing, automotive, home construction materials, healthcare
and medical, education and classified ad sectors. Advertising
for consumer products has been the Group’s largest advertising
source, followed by real estate, automotive, 3C (computer,
communication and consumer products), medical institutions and
medical and healthcare products. Our future strategy is to further
increase the media placement amount and the proportion of

consumer products advertising gradually.

We have professional teams who understand the needs of
customers in their specific industries. Our customer relations
team is responsible for planning and organising industry-oriented
promotional events and activities. Both our customers and relevant
industry participants are invited to participate in these activities in
order to consolidate our relationship with existing advertisers and

establish new business relationships with prospective customers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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In order to further expand our customer base and attract
more potential customers, we intend to introduce high quality
advertising packages that address their marketing needs. These
packages, created by our all-round and powerful design and
content planning team, enhance the quality and broaden the
range of value-added services offered by us to our customers. We
also plan to implement Media Advertising Information Tracking
System (MAITS) which will help us strengthen our local operation
and provide more in-depth analysis on advertising data to
customers who seek to advertise in different locations throughout
the PRC.

Newspaper advertising

In 2010, the national newspaper advertising income exhibited
stable growth while the Group achieved a growth rate of 9.9%
in revenue, which outpaced the overall industry growth level.
Newspaper advertising is the Group's biggest revenue source, with
a turnover of RMB408.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2010, representing an increase of 9.9% as compared to the
corresponding period last year and accounting for 77.1% of our
aggregate turnover, which was mainly attributable to an overall
increase in the number of advertisements placed by advertisers

and the unit price of each advertisement.

As of 31

publications in over 16 second-tier and third-tier cities across

December 2010, the Group partnered with 11
eight provinces in the PRC, including Southeast Express, Lifestyle
Express, Shenyang Evening News, Modern Life Daily, Yan Zhao
Metropolitan Newspaper Jidong Edition, Southeast Business,
Jinhua Daily, Jinhua Evening News, Dalian Daily, Changjiang
Business and Central Guizhou Morning Post. These newspapers
have granted the Group exclusive rights to sell their advertising
space. In connection with the sales of advertising space, we
offer value-added one-stop advertising services solution such as
target markets and readership analysis, content development
and planning, design, layout development, editing and event

organisation to our customers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

R Tig

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group pro-actively
optimised our operating strategy and services, and consolidated
our resources, in accordance with the applicable regulations
in various industries in the PRC. Following the introduction of
advertising regulations by the central government on the medical
and medicine industry in 2010 which places certain restrictions
on the content of healthcare and medical advertisements, we
have aggressively refined and rationalised our resources with the
support of our long-standing advertising customers, readers and
partners. Our initiative began in Fuzhou, Fujian where we have
established strategic cooperation with experts from 10 public
hospitals to serve readers by publishing health advice, consultation
and features, thereby transforming newspaper advertisements into
interactive materials between experts and readers, and provided

policy-oriented solutions to advertisers at the same time.

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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To enhance our position as an integrated print media service
provider and capture the opportunities brought by the national
reform of the cultural industry, the Group will consider
participating in the shareholding restructuring of newspaper
media in the PRC and consolidate our operating platform through
equity investment and cooperation. Meanwhile, the Group will
continue to forage for multi-city media partners in key regions
supported by the central government, such as the Bohai Bay and
Gulf of Tonkin regions, Northeastern and Central China, and the
Southeastern coastal China region, with an aim of expanding
the market coverage and enhancing the market position of the
Company. Furthermore, the Group will also consolidate and
explore the information on our advertising customers and target
readers over the years so as to further enhance the value of our

customer services.

Online services
Leveraging the technology trend and increasing numbers of
digital media, the Group has developed online services and digital
media related business. The online services business derives its
income and increases its profit mainly through publishing printed
contents by digital means. During the year ended 31 December
2010, turnover of the Group's online services and digital media
related businesses amounted to RMB65.3 million, accounting for
12.3% of the Group's total income and representing an increase
of 38.8% as compared with the corresponding period last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

R Tig

After having received the written approval for the issuance of
an internet publishing license by the General Administration of
Press and Publication of the PRC at the end of 2010, we have
accelerated the development of our Internet and digital publishing
businesses. We are now enhancing the contents, functions and
features of our website named Duk (www.duk.cn), including
the posting of contents from different new sources, so as to
attract younger readers who are more used to reading news
and other information on the Internet instead of newspapers.
Being one of the largest digital media publishing platforms in the
PRC, this website mainly publishes electronic magazines, digital
newspapers, online novels etc on its online platform. Currently,
it has online publishing right agreements with over 40 publishers
and 610 magazine publishing houses with 5,000 magazines as
well as digital publishing cooperation with 16 daily, evening
and commercial newspapers in various cities. Its total circulation
of online novels amounted to over 120,000 volumes and the
accumulated circulation of electronic periodicals, electronic
magazines and digital newspapers has reached over 230 million

volumes or pieces.

The Group is optimistic about the business and the growth
potential of the mobile phone reading market. It is estimated
that by 2013, sales in the PRC mobile reading market will reach
RMB6,531 million with 369 million active subscribers, according
to a survey by Analyses International. The Group continues
to focus on the development of end-market wireless mobile
reading platforms and has introduced client end platforms for
operating systems compatible with iPhone, iPad and Android
in order to create a closer bond with content providers such as
newspapers, books and publishers, and strengthen the promotion
and advertising of the platforms. The Group has built a wireless
team in Beijing in 2010 for the launch of Duk WAP Website (&
ZEWAPH UL ) and Duk FEXE 3 mobile phone reading software
for Symbian systems. Meanwhile, the applications for software
patents for Duk WAP Mobile Phone WEB Reading System V1.0( &
EWAPF #1432 )78 Z £tv1.0) and Duk Mobile Phone Client End
System V1.0(FE & F#E P i 5 4tv1.0) have been approved.
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Distribution management, consultation and printing
services

Turnover of the Group's distribution management, consultation
and printing services amounted to RMB41.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2010, accounting for 7.8% of the Group’s
total income and representing a decrease of 5.9% as compared
to the corresponding period last year. The decrease was mainly
due to a drop in the income from outdoor distribution and
promotional activities. We believe that such decrease was only
temporary and remain confident in the prospect of our business in

this sector.

The Group conducts direct sales of advertising services and space
to customers, including both end-advertisers and advertising
agents, for its distribution management and consultation
businesses. Our sales force is organised according to customers
by industry, and there are different dedicated teams serving
key customers in the relevant industries. In addition, we have
established key customer centers which are responsible for certain
key customers and direct referrals by our senior management. The
sales and marketing team is responsible for formulating strategies
to solicit new customers, as well as maintaining relationships with
existing customers in order to boost revenue from them. Our sales
and marketing department also works closely with the design
and content provision teams to conduct analysis on advertisers’

specific needs and provide feedback.
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On the other hand, our printing services are provided pursuant
to our comprehensive cooperation contracts with Southeast
Express, Lifestyle Express and Central Guizhou Morning Post and
we charge them printing fees which are calculated based on
the actual number of printed copies. Through the operation of
printing services, we are able to achieve win-win situation with
the publications under which not only have we better control over
the print quality of their publications, but also strengthen the

cooperation with these media.

Television and radio advertising

In terms of television and radio advertising, the major current
projects of the Group relate to the real estate and automotive
industries. Our television media business is principally built on the
foundation of the existing printed media operation as an extended
service to customers in the printed media business to enhance
our comprehensive service capability. During the year ended 31
December 2010, turnover of the Group’s television and radio
advertising business amounted to RMB14.4 million, accounting for

2.7% of the Group's total income.

In 2010, the Group signed two advertising cooperation contracts
with Nanning Television Station in Guangxi and Dalian Television
Station in Liaoning, respectively. The Group obtained advertising
time slots on four channels from Nanning Television Station for
advertisements in respect of the automotive and related industries
and the right to design and produce mini-programs and relevant
advertisements focusing on the automotive industry, during
which advertisements can also be aired. From Dalian Television
Station, we obtained the right to sell all advertisements in relation
to the real estate industry. Turnover from these two operations
accounted for 66.1% of the turnover of our television advertising
business. Given the healthy growth of the automotive and real
estate industries, we believe the demand for advertising from

these industries will continue to grow.
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The Group intends to further explore its television advertising
business and become one of the key service providers for
television operators and related media resources. Building on
our integrated media and event planning capability, we will
increase our investment and scale of operation by implementing
a comprehensive agency model which spans from designing
unique advertisements on newspapers and printed media to
television according to the overall marketing needs of customers.
We are also currently negotiating with various potential
television operators for partnership arrangement similar to our

comprehensive/partial cooperation with newspapers.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, in tandem with the
stable growth in newspaper advertising expenses, advertising
expenses on radio across the PRC rose substantially in 2010.
According to a market research conducted by CTR Market
Research Co. Ltd. (R4 TTI35H9T) , advertising expenses on radio
surged by 33%, particularly as a result of a significant increase in
the number of mobile users, and there is huge room for future
growth. With our industry insight, and diversification strategy
to develop to broadcast media resources in addition to existing
newspapers and online digital media, the Group has secured
a 5-year cooperation project with YangGuang DuShi (Beijing)
Culture and Media Co. Ltd (RE# ™ (Lt R) X(LBEBR A
A)) (“YangGuang DuShi”), a subsidiary of China National Radio
and a national media, at the end of last year, pursuant to which
YangGuang DuShi authorises the Group to operate cooperative
projects in relation to the development of radio stations on
provincial, municipal and county levels. The parties are now
conducting in-depth discussions to finalise details such as program
purchasing, operation of advertisement timeslot and contracting
of the operation of the entire frequency. Beijing Shifang Yizhi
Company Limited (b R +7 BE XL EHEBR R F]), the project
company of the Group, has commenced operation in March 2011.
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We believe the radio advertising business will become an
important growth driver of the Group. It will offer a wider group
of audiences, in particular mobile users and other demographic.
This will diversify the Group’s business, help advertisers reach
out to more people and reinforce the competitive strength of the

Group’s integrated media platform.

Listing of the Group

The Group was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited on 3 December 2010 and was supported
by well-known investment institutions and investors, thereby
successfully raised net proceeds of RMB402.6 million. Capitalising
on this access to international capital markets, the Group has
obtained valuable operating resources and achieved better
financial position to capture the opportunities in cross-media,
multiple-content and multi-city business development as well as

the consolidation of the PRC advertising market.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Total revenue increased by 14.4% from RMB463.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2009 to RMB529.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2010, primarily because of the revenue from
newspaper advertising of Southeast Express, Shenyang Evening
News, Lifestyle Express, Modern Life Daily, Central Guizhou
Morning Post etc. increased by 9.9% from RMB371.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2009 to RMB408.7 million for
the year ended 31 December 2010. Our revenue from online
services increased by 38.6% from RMB47.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2009 to RMB65.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2010. The substantial increase in our advertising
revenue was attributable to an overall increase in the number of
advertisements placed by advertisers and the unit price of each
advertisement. Revenue from our comprehensive cooperation
contracts accounted for approximately 83% of our total
newspaper advertising revenue for the year ended 31 December
2010. As at 31 December 2010, the new television and radio
advertising business recorded an income of RMB14.4 million in
2010.
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Cost of sales

Our cost of sales increased by 12.8% from RMB243.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2009 to RMB274.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2010, primarily as a result of an increase
in costs resulting from the increase in income from the newspaper
advertising business and the new television and radio advertising

projects.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit increased by 16.3% from RMB219.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2009 to RMB255.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2010, which was derived from the newspaper
advertising, the internet services and the new television and radio
advertising businesses commenced in 2010. Our gross profit
margin increased from 47.5% in 2009 to 48.3% in 2010. The
increase was mainly due to a rise in the gross profit margin of the

newspaper advertising business.

Other income

Other income increased by 57.4% from RMB6.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2009 to RMB9.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2010, primarily as a result of the financial
subsidies granted by government bodies and an increase in the

income from other operating activities.
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General and administrative expenses

Our general and administrative expenses increased by 49.4%
from RMB34.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2009 to
RMB52.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2010, mainly
because of the implementation of the share option schemes
and the provision for bad debt. Our general and administrative
expenses as a percentage of our gross revenue increased from
7.5% in 2009 to 9.8% in 2010. We have strictly controlled
administrative expenses according to our budget, which has
effectively restrained the increases in general and administrative

expenses as our business expanded in 2010.

Selling and marketing expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses increased by 18.6% from
RMB22.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2009 to
RMB26.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2010, mainly
because of an increase in compensation paid to our sales team.
This increase was in line with the increase in our revenue as we
pay commissions to our sales personnel based on sales volume.
In addition, we have hired additional sales personnel. Our selling
and marketing expenses as a percentage of our gross revenue
increased slightly from 4.9% in 2009 to 5.1% in 2010.

Profit before income tax

As a result of the foregoing factors, our profit before income tax
for the year ended 31 December 2010 was RMB185.4 million,
representing an increase of 12.1% as compared to RMB165.4

million for the year ended 31 December 2009.
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Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses slightly decreased by 0.8% from RMB24.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2009 to RMB24.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2010 as a result of the
preferential tax treatments enjoyed by certain subsidiaries. Also,
our effective tax rates decreased from 14.9% for the year ended
31 December 2009 to 13.1% for the year ended 31 December
2010.

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing factors, our profit for the year
increased by 14.4% from RMB140.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2009 to RMB161.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2010.

Profit/loss attributable to non-controlling interests
Our loss attributable to non-controlling interests decreased from
RMB39,000 for the year ended 31 December 2009 to RMB15,000
for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
As a result of the foregoing, profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company increased by 14.4%, from RMB140.8 million for
the year ended 31 December 2009 to RMB161.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2010.
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Liquidity and capital resources RBESRELXRER
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—HLEE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —EThF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR T AREF T
Net cash generated from operating activities LEEBEANR S FE 66,762 48,264
Net cash used in investing activities KREEDHANE S FE (154,834) (1,985)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEFBEL (BA)HN
financing activities & FHE 593,430 (16,370)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RekAE&EMEER
EPIlIDE 505,358 29,909
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FYHNReRRESEFMEIEAE
of the year 40,643 10,734
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year FRNRESERRESFMEIEE 546,001 40,643
Cash flow from operating activities RETHRERE

For the year ended 31 December 2010, net cash generated from HE_Z-—ZF+_A=1T—RHLLFE &%
operating activities amounted to RMB66.8 million, primarily EHEANRESFERARARBCIEET *
attributable to profit before tax of RMB185.4 million, which was CHRBHAIENEARBI8S4BE T M
offset by an increase in trade receivables of RMB112.7 million as  FABEERAEINSZ S EIIEE DA RE
well as an increase in advances and deposits paid to newspaper 127880 UBRN FHREKFENBERIRILS
partners resulting from the increase in advertising income for the BE S WA IE N PR s o

year.
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Cash flow used in investing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2010, net cash used in investing
activities amounted to RMB154.8 million, resulting primarily from
the prepayment for long term investment of RMB98.0 million,
deposit paid to a new comprehensive cooperative media partner
of RMB32.0 million, payments for the additions of plant and
equipment such as printing equipment and office fixtures of
RMB24.0 million and payments for the additions of intangible

assets of RMB1.0 million.

Cash flow from financing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2010, net cash used in financing
activities amounted to RMB593.4 million, primarily attributable to
the capital contribution by equity holders in January 2010 and the

net proceeds from the Global Offering of the Company’s shares.

Capital expenditures

Our business generally does not require significant ongoing
capital expenditures. We incur capital expenditures mainly for
the purchase of printing machinery and office equipment. Our
capital expenditures were RMB2.0 million and RMB24.0 million for
the years ended 31 December 31 2009 and 31 December 2010,

respectively.
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Trade receivables — net
The following table sets out the aging analysis of our trade

receivables at the dates indicated:

BEFRWNRE-FH
TREIIRAHRARAEEE 5 R IAN R
BT

As at 31 December
BZ+=-A=+-—8

2010 2009

—E-ZF —ZEEThF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

Aging analysis of trade receivables B S EWRENRERD T AR®T T ARBTT
1 - 30 days 1230H 33,373 32,102
31 - 60 days 31£60H 26,661 19,180
61 — 90 days 61290H 20,510 9,451
91 — 365 days 91%2365H 142,671 80,306
Over 1 year I 38,584 14,995
Total #Eat 261,799 156,034

Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables & - & 5 F& U 3 18 & )8 (&

BB (7,170) (1,732)

Total trade receivables — net g 5 W ERIE F 58 254,629 154,302

Our trade receivables increased by 65.0%, from RMB154.3
million as at 31 December 2009 to RMB254.6 million as at 31
December 2010 mainly because of the increase in the incomes
from newspaper advertising, internet services and television and
radio advertising businesses. Trade receivables turnover days
increased from 106 days for the year ended 31 December 2009 to
141 days for the year ended 31 December 2010 primarily due to
the increase in sales to our major customers and internet services

customers who enjoy longer credit periods.
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Assets held for sale

The properties for which we are given the contractual right to sell
under these arrangements are held under the line item “assets
held for sale”. The following table sets out the aging analysis of

our assets held for sale at the dates indicated:

FELEEE
AEERBZERFESERHERNMET
RIBETFHELEEE] HBRA - TREHINH
TNEBEARIELEEENRE DN

As at 31 December
BEZ+=-HA=+—H

2010 2009

—E-FF —ETHFE

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET T AREF T

Properties held for sale BIEHEDE 29,848 22,885

We recognise revenue from advertising services upon obtaining
the contractual rights to sell the relevant properties. We
recognised such revenue from the relevant real estate customers in
the amount of RMB22.9 million and RMB29.8 million for the years
ended 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010, respectively,
which accounted for 4.9% and 5.6% of our total revenue,
respectively. For the same periods, the amount of proceeds we
received from the sales of such properties was RMB6.6 million
and RMB10.9 million, respectively. The increase was mainly due
to an increase in sales income from advertising for the real estate

industry.
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Trade payables

BEZRENRE

As at 31 December
BE+=-HA=+—H

2010 2009

—E-FEF —ETNF

RMB’000 RMB'000

Trade payables E S EMARE ARBT R AREF T
1 - 30 days 1230H 1,463 1,751
31 - 90 days 31£90H 808 441
Over 90 days 90H KA E 1,893 1,530
Total et 4,164 3,722

Our trade payables increased by 13.5%, from RMB3.7 million as
at 31 December 2009 to RMB4.2 million as at 31 December 2010,
primarily attributable to an increase of payable to the suppliers of
newspaper and television advertising. Our trade payables turnover
days decreased from 23 days for the year ended 31 December
2009 to 5 days for the year ended 31 December 2010, which was
mainly due to the reduction in purchases of newsprint since 2008
and the fact that the payment terms of the purchasing payments

for newsprint have been historically longer.
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Indebtedness
Our indebtedness consists of obligations to our lenders, including
commercial banks and certain related parties and companies. The

following table shows our total borrowings at the dates indicated:

=R

BHANBEESRERERA (BEBERITLE
THEALRARWEE  TREJNAKEHE
ERTREHERER:

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+-—-8
2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
Borrowings LR ARBT R ARBTT
Short-term bank loans, secured RMEIRITE R BKF 50,000 44,520
Other loan HiE R 4,607 2,740
Loans from related parties FEALTER 157 36,847
Total et 54,764 84,107

Our total borrowings amounted to RMB84.1 million and RMB54.8
million as at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010,
respectively. As at 31 December 2010, we had unutilised bank
facilities of RMB5.0 million.

Our loans include borrowings secured by our equipment and
investment properties with carrying value amounted to RMB44.5
million and RMB50.0 million for the years ended 31 December
2009 and 31 December 2010, respectively.

Our gearing ratio decreased from 16.8% as at 31 December 2009
to 4.3% as at 31 December 2010 primarily due to increases in our
cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, and prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, and a decrease in our loans from

related parties.
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Capital commitments
The future aggregate minimum advertising payments under non-

cancellable exclusive advertising agreements are as follows:

BAREE
THHEBRESHENARREESHRE
BT

2010 2009
—®-85 -—TTHAF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARET T

Not later than 1 year —FLAT 248,279 254,939
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years —FUAERAFUT 606,819 499,098
Later than 5 years HEM E 2,162,000 2,160,000

3,017,098 2,914,037

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2010, we had no contingent liabilities.

Human resources

As at 31 December 2010, we had approximately 977 full-time
employees. Total staff costs including directors’ remuneration
for the year ended 31 December 2010 was approximately
RMB49.8 million (2009: approximately RMB38.7 million). We offer
competitive remuneration packages to our employees that include

salaries, bonuses and share options to qualified employees.
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The compensation for the directors are evaluated by
the remuneration committee and the committee makes
recommendations to the Board. In addition, the remuneration
committee conducts reviews of the performance, and determines

the compensation structure, of our senior management.

The Company operates an employee share option scheme
and the purpose of which is to provide incentive or reward to
eligible persons who provide services to the Company for their
contribution and continuing efforts to promote the interests of the
Company, and for such other purposes as the Board may approve

from time to time.

Prospect of the Industry and the Group

According to the China’s Advertising Market 2010 Review by
Nielsen, the aggregate advertising expenses on traditional media
(including television, newspapers, magazines and radio) in the PRC
in 2010 amounted to RMB668 billion, representing a growth of
10% from 2009. The Group anticipates that the PRC advertising
market will continue to grow rapidly in 2011. Particularly, as the
purchasing powers of the people in second-tier and third-tier
cities are rising, the overall spending on advertising is set to grow
further.
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As the media sector in the PRC continues to grow, the emergence
of target audience groups of both traditional and new media
has driven the rapid development of integrated media. The
Group firmly adheres to its integrated media marketing strategy
and is positioned to benefit from this rapidly growing market
with its competitive edge in terms of exclusive cooperation with
the media, clear cost advantage and strong bargaining power.
These strategies include: 1) establish multiple-content media
operation: in addition to reinforcing its position as an advertising
service provider for printed media, the Group will also extend
our cooperation with media partners to offer integrated content
design and more value-added services to advertisers; 2) secure
multi-city exclusive operation: in view of the current need of
multi-city business development among advertisers, we will
continue to increase the number of exclusive printed media
partners in order to acquire a larger number of audience for our
customers; 3) operate across media: we will extend the coverage
for our advertisers to different audience groups that a single
media is unable to reach by using all kinds of advertisement
available in the market. According to CTR Market Research Co.
Ltd. (RAETHIHIFE) , 73.5% of the consumers in the major cities
in the PRC came into contact with more than three types of media
everyday in 2010. The Group identified this trend a long time
ago and has established the “Shifang” (Ten Directions) integrated
media marketing model to capture this enormous market. We
will also continue to strengthen our cooperation with cross-
media partners, especially the conventional but rapidly developing
medium of radio and the more modern but complicated new
media, with a view to offering varied and comprehensive

advertising services.
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In addition, as the PRC is tightening its grip on the content of
advertisements, particularly those of fast moving consumer goods,
medicines and real estate, the Group will continue to offer a large
variety of solutions to customers who need to comply with the
regulations in the PRC. At the same time, we will also come up
with new ideas and provide a wider range of content to the target
audience using our advertisement content design ability. The
Group is fully committed to social responsibilities and takes into
account social, ethical and cultural values when it designs, selects
and publishes advertisements in an effort to establish a positive
image for our customers and offer appropriate content to their
target audience. We believe the Group is on the right track and
will be able to operate in line with national policies and meet the
needs of people at the same time, thus ensuring the healthy and

sustainable development of the Group.

We believe that given the continuous and stable development of
the PRC economy and with our cost advantage as a result of our
cooperation with newspapers, unique multiple-content, multi-
city and cross-media operation model and the joint effort of the
Board, the management and our staff, the Group will be able
to offer comprehensive “Shifang” integrated media solutions to
our customers, maintain our steady growth momentum, become
a leading integrated media advertising operator in the PRC and

provide sustainable investment returns to investors.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Zhi (R ), aged 45, is the chairman, chief executive
officer and an executive Director. He is a qualified accountant as
conferred by the Ministry of Finance. Mr. Chen was a cadre of
the Fuzhou Minhou Tax Bureau from 1982 to 1989 (during which
he was granted leave from 1985 to 1988 to pursue his studies
at Fujian Radio and Television University), deputy section chief
of the Fuzhou Economic and Technology Development Area Tax
Bureau from 1989 to 1993, and subsequently the section chief
from 1993 to 2002. He joined our Group in 2003 and pioneered
our distinctive business model of cooperating with newspaper
partners to provide integrated print media services to advertisers,
undertook the main decision-making role in the management of
our overall operations and oversaw the strategic development
of our Group. He was appointed a Director of our Company on
December 9, 2009. Mr. Chen has accumulated more than seven
years of relevant experience from developing the business of
our Group and possesses a deep understanding of the PRC print
media and advertising industries. Mr. Chen graduated from Fujian
Radio and Television University in 1988 with a diploma in financial
economics. Mr. Chen is one of our controlling shareholders. He
is also a director of TopBig International Development Limited
("TopBig International”) and China TopReach Inc. (“China
TopReach”), a SPAC with its shares traded on the OTC Bulletin
Board in the United States, and the spouse of Ms. Zheng Shou
Ling.
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Mr. Hong Pei Feng (1514 ),

Mr. Hong was an administrative officer with Jimei Teachers College

aged 45, is an executive Director.

from 1985 to 1990, the general manager of Xiamen Yuanhong
Group Co., Ltd, a real estate development company, from 1991
to 2000, and the general manager of Xiamen Yuantong Chuanbo
Co., Ltd, a company engaged in the advertising business, from
2001 to 2003. He joined our Group in 2004, and was appointed
the chairman of Olympia Media Holdings Limited (“Olympia
Media”) from 2005 to 2007 before subsequently retiring from
that role and assuming the position of its vice chairman in 2007
due to a reorganization of Olympia Media’s corporate structure.
Mr. Hong is also a core management member who developed
the business of Beijing HongXinTu Culture Communication Co.,
Ltd. (“Beijing HongXinTu"”). Mr. Hong was appointed a Director
of our Company on January 18, 2010 and currently also serves
as the vice chairman of the China International Chamber of
Commerce in Fujian Province. He graduated from Jimei Normal
College (presently known as Jimei University) in 1985 with a
diploma in Chinese. Due to Mr. Hong's substantial experience in
publication and distribution gained from his work with Olympia
Media and Beijing HongXinTu, he has significant expertise in print
media business management. Mr. Hong is one of our controlling
shareholders. He is also a director of Blazing Sun Holdings Ltd.
(“Blazing Sun”) and China TopReach, a SPAC with its shares
traded on the OTC Bulletin Board in the United States.
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Mr. Zhang Tie Zhu (5R#4E), aged 37, is an executive Director.
He is a certified public accountant as conferred by the Ministry
of Finance and a qualified lawyer as conferred by the Ministry of
Justice of the PRC. Mr. Zhang was with Deloitte Touché Tohmatsu
from 1994 to 2000, an investment director of TechFoster
Technology Ventures Ltd. from 2000 to 2002, a senior manager
with PricewaterhouseCoopers from 2002 to 2005, and an
executive director of Chum Investment Corporation from 2006
to 2009. In 2009, Mr. Zhang was appointed as a director and
subsequently the chief financial officer of China TopReach. Mr.
Zhang is responsible for China TopReach's investor relations and
regulatory compliance, including regular dealings with competent
authorities such as the Securities and Exchange Commission. He
joined our Group in 2010, and was appointed a Director of our
Company on January 18, 2010 and our chief financial officer
on February 15, 2010. He graduated from Hua Dong Industrial
University in 1994 with a bachelor’s degree in economics. Mr.
Zhang possesses substantial financial experience from his previous
work with venture capital firms and top global audit firms. Mr.
Zhang is also a director of China TopReach, a SPAC with its shares
traded on the OTC Bulletin Board in the United States.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wang Ping (), aged 41, is a non-executive Director.
He is a senior accountant as conferred by the Fujian Provincial
Department of Personnel. He also serves as a guest professor of
the school of management at Xiamen University. In addition, Mr.
Wang is a director of China Science & Kingwin (HK) Investment
Management Limited (“China Science”), and Cypress Capital
International Investment Management Limited, as well as
Shenzhen Rainbow Fine Chemical Industry Co., Ltd, Shenzhen
Beauty Star Co., Ltd. and Xiamen 35.com Technology Co., Ltd,
all three of which are listed companies in the PRC. Mr. Wang
was appointed a Director of our Company on January 18, 2010.
He obtained his doctorate degree in management from Xiamen
University in 2004.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS
Mr. Zhou Chang Ren (A E12),

non-executive Director. He was appointed as our Director on

aged 63, is an independent

November 8, 2010, and is a qualified senior economist as
conferred by the Fujian Provincial Department of Personnel. Mr.
Zhou was appointed as the chairman of the Qingliu Country Party
Committee in 1990. He was engaged in the newspaper industry
in the PRC and held several positions including the deputy bureau
chief and editorial board member of Fujian Daily from 1996 to
2002, and the general manager, senior economist and Party
Committee deputy secretary of the Fujian Daily Newspaper Group
from 2002 to 2008. In addition, Mr. Zhou was the vice chairman
and, later, chairman of the Fujian Province Newspaper Industry
Association during the same periods, before retiring in 2008. He
graduated from Fujian Provincial Party School of the CPC in 1986
with a diploma in politics. Mr. Zhou has extensive print media
experience and expertise with particular knowledge of the Fujian

newspaper industry.
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Mr. Wong Heung Ming, Henry (E @B ), aged 41, is an
independent non-executive Director. He was appointed as our
Director on November 8, 2010. Mr. Wong was an accountant
with Deloitte Touché Tohmatsu from 1993 to 2002, an internal
audit manager with Hong Kong and China Gas Investment Limited
from 2002 to 2003, senior internal audit manager of Amway
(China) Limited from 2003 to 2004, and a senior manager with
PricewaterhouseCoopers from 2005 to 2007, internal audit
director of Xinhua Finance Media Limited (presently known
as Xinhua Sports & Entertainment Limited), a NASDAQ-listed
company, from September 2007 to July 2009, and the general
internal audit manager of Maoye International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 848), a listed company in Hong Kong from October
2009 to May 2010. Mr. Wong was also an independent director
of China Industrial Waste Management Inc., a company quoted
on the OTC Bulletin Board, from 2009 to 2010. He graduated
from City Polytechnic of Hong Kong in 1993 with a bachelor’s
degree in accountancy and also obtained a master’s degree in
electronic commerce from the Open University of Hong Kong
in 2003 through part-time study. He is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants as well as a certified
internal auditor. Mr. Wong has accumulated more than 17 years
of financing, internal controls and auditing accounting experience
from his previous positions with top global audit firms and listed

companies.

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010

mRPEE MR BIFRATEST MR
T ZF+—ANREZAARARAES &
EER—NN=ZFE ST _FIEHSHH
EBFANEM R _FE_TT=F
REBERRKREBRAAANBEGTLE - N
TE=FFZ_TZEMFRLHN(FE)BAm
ERARIEMAFEALE IR _TTHF
EERRLFELEKREGTMEB IS RE
B TSt FNAEZTTAF L ATEHRE
EFR P AREMKEEAR AR (REHM
ZPBERGRAR)NABETEE K
ZENFTAZ_ZT-ZEFRAEEELTA
AR EBEBRERAER AR (BRH AR 848) A
HENBEE -BEEAER_ETNFE_E—
ZF JFfEChina Industrial Waste Management
Inc. (—ERBINRSEEBRBENAA) KB
VEE MR —NAN=ZFREEREERTET
B WERSHE2ELEM M_TT=F
MREBLAAAEREBETNEHEEFRHBKELT
B -t REREFTARETMAEREEY
M AEERGERFEASBZEM -EE 4
BHEZAERREREF AR R ETRAFNT
TERBEBN7TFE T NEES RET S ES
Rt



Directors and Senior Management Profile

o2 B v AR PN i R

Mr. Zhuo Ze Yuan (/2 ), aged 48, is an independent non-
executive Director. He was appointed as our Director on November
8, 2010. He is a qualified PRC lawyer and qualified professor
as conferred by the Sichuan Provincial Department of Justice
and Sichuan Provincial Leading Group of Professional Titles
Reform in 1989 and 1995, respectively. Mr. Zhuo had taught at
Southwest University of Political Science and Law in the 1990s
and was subsequently appointed the vice-chancellor of Southwest
University of Political Science and Law. He had been a professor
in political science and law at the Central Party School of the
CPC since 2003 and is currently a part-time lawyer with Beijing
P.H. Law Firm. Mr. Zhuo has served in various legal institutes in
the PRC and received various awards, including “China’s Top 10
Outstanding Young and Middle Aged Legal Scholars” awarded
by the China Law Society in 1999. He is currently a committee
member of the China Law Society. Mr. Zhuo obtained a bachelor’s
degree and a master's degree, both in law, from Southwest
University of Political Science and Law in 1984 and 1990,
respectively, and a doctorate in law from Chinese Academy of

Social Sciences in 2000.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yu Shi Quan (K& #), aged 34, is the vice president
of finance of our Company. He is a qualified accountant as
conferred by the Ministry of Finance. Mr. Yu was an accountant
at Fujian Lan Tian Tax Accounting Co., Ltd. from 1996 to 1997,
the finance director of Fujian Huanyu Investment Development
Co., Ltd from 1997 to 1998 and the finance director of Fujian
ShiFang Investment Co. Ltd. (“Fujian Shifang”) from 1998 to
2000. He joined our Group in 2000 and was head of finance of
Fujian ShiFang until 2008 when he became the head of finance
of Olympia Media, and, subsequently, vice president of finance
of China TopReach in 2009. He graduated from Fujian Radio
and Television University in 1996 with a diploma in finance and
accounting. Mr. Yu has gained significant management experience
from his work with Fujian ShiFang and continues to assist our
chief financial officer with the overall financial operations of our

Group.
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Mr. Chen Zi Quan (BE#£R ) , aged 46, is the vice president of the
advertising operation center of our Company. He was a teacher
at the Fujian Finance and Accounting Administrator College
from 1984 to 1998 and the general manager of Fujian ShiFang
Investment from 1998 to 2002. He joined our Group in 2002 and
served as the general manager of Fujian Yishitong Media Co., Ltd.
(presently known as Fujian ZhiYuan Media Co., Ltd.) since 2002.
Mr. Chen has also served as the vice president of Olympia Media’s
advertising operation center since 2008. He graduated from Fujian
Normal University in 1984 with a bachelor’s degree in science.
Mr. Chen is familiar with our Group’s operations with particular

experience in media and advertising management.

Mr. Wen Xiao Bin (GREEE) ,

Company. He was the manager of the marketing department

aged 42, is a vice president of our

and subsequently the deputy general manager of Fuzhou Taiyang
Advertising Co., Ltd. from 1993 to 2000, and the editor-in-chief
of Business Guide with Xiamen Daily from 2004 to 2005, and was
responsible for, among other things, media planning and data
analysis. Mr. Wen joined our Group in 2006 as an assistant to
the president. He was also the vice president of China Topreach’s
advertising operations center from January 2009 to October 2009.
He graduated from Xiamen University in 1991 with a bachelor’s
degree in law. Mr. Wen has relevant experience and expertise in

print media and newspaper advertising.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile
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Mr. Pan Jian Ping (& #EF), aged 38, is a vice president of
Finance internal control of our Company. He is a qualified
accountant as conferred by the Fujian Provincial Department of
Finance and a certified asset valuer as conferred by the China
Appraisal Society. Mr. Pan was a project manager with Fujian
Audit Firm (now known as Fujian Hongshen Certified Public
Accountants Ltd.) from 1995 to 1997 and 2000 to 2004, and a
project manager with Fujian Huashen Asset Valuation Real Estate
Appraisal Co., Ltd. from 1998 to 1999. He joined our Group
in 2004 and was the financial controller as well as assistant to
the president of Beijing HongXinTu until 2007, before assuming
the position as our vice president of internal control in 2008.
He graduated from Fuzhou University in 1995 with a diploma in
accounting and also obtained a diploma in law from Huazhong
Normal University in 2009 through part-time study. Mr. Pan has
more than eight years of accounting experience and is mainly
responsible for our Group's internal financial management and

audit supervision.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chan Ching Yi (BR&%#f%) , aged 36, is our company secretary.
She is a member of the HKICPA and a fellow of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. Ms. Chan holds a bachelor’s
degree in accountancy and has accumulated more than 14 years
of financial and auditing experience. She is currently the company
secretary of Zheda Lande Scitech Limited (stock code: 8106), a
company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market Board of the
Stock Exchange and the company secretary of Kingdom Holdings
Limited (stock code: 528), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Ms. Chan joined our Group in August 2010.
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Directors’ Report

A

The directors (“the Directors”) of Shifang Holding Limited
(“the Company”) present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the

"Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2010.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 9
December 2009 under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of

1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

In preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares (the
“Listing”) on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Group underwent a
reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”), pursuant to which the
companies engaged in the publishing and advertising businesses
of the Group were transferred to the Company. Further details of
the corporate reorganisation are set out in the prospectus of the

Company dated 22 November 2010 (the “Prospectus”).

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange with effect from 3 December 2010 (the “Listing
Date”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is as an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the business of publishing and
advertising (the “Publishing and Advertising Businesses”) in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the

year.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010
are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income on page 77.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2010 and proposed that

profit for the year be retained.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for

the past financial periods is set out on page 5.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year of 2010, the Group had acquired property, plant
and equipment of approximately RMB24.0 million for the purpose
of upgrading printing machines and office equipment of the

Group.

Details of these and other movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year of 2009 are set out in

note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year are set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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A

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles”), or the laws of the
Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new

shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during

the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes

in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The amount of the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to shareholders as at 31 December 2010, calculated in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, was

approximately RMB1,071.6 million.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year amounted to approximately RMB860,000 (HK$1 million).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year of 2010, the aggregate sales attributable to the
Group's five largest customers comprised approximately 13.3% of
the Group's total sales and the sales attributable to the Group's
largest customer were approximately 4.4% of the Group’s total
sales.

The aggregate purchases during the year of 2010 attributable to
the Group's five largest suppliers were approximately 82.97%
of the Group’s total purchases and the purchases attributable to
the Group’s largest supplier were approximately 26.97% of the

Group's total purchases.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were as follows:

Executive directors:

Mr. Chen Zhi (chairman and chief executive officer,
appointed as a Director on 9 December 2009)

Mr. Hong Pei Feng (appointed on 18 January 2010)

Mr. Zhang Tie Zhu (appointed on 18 January 2010)
Non-executive directors:
Mr. Wang Ping (appointed on 18 January 2010)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Zhou Chang Ren (appointed on 8 November 2010)

Mr. Wong Heung Ming, Henry (appointed on 8 November 2010)
Mr. Zhuo Ze Yuan (appointed on 8 November 2010)

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all existing
Directors will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-

election, at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the

Company.
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A

DIRECTORS” AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management

of the Group are set out on pages 34 to 41.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS’” CONFIRMATION OF
INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received, from each of its independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhou Chang Ren, Mr. Wong
Heung Ming, Henry and Mr. Zhuo Ze Yuan a confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all of its independent non-executive Directors

are independent.

DIRECTORS’” SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and the non-executive Director
has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term
of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which may be
terminated by not less than six months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other. Each of the independent non-executive
Director has been appointed by the Company for a term of three
years and shall be terminable by either party by giving not less

than two months’ prior notice in writing.

During the year, none of the Directors had a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy for the Directors and senior management
members of the Group was based on their individual performance
as well as market trends and practices. In addition, each of the
executive Directors and the non-executive Director is entitled to
a discretionary bonus provided that the aggregate amount of the
bonuses payable to all the executive Directors at the sole and
absolute discretion of the Company. Details of the remuneration
of the Directors are set out in note 25 to the consolidated

financial statements.

DIRECTORS” RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

IN OR DEBT SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
Other than the pre-IPO share option scheme of the Company (the
“Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) adopted by written resolutions
of its shareholders on 26 February 2010 and the post-IPO share
option scheme of the Company (the “Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme”) adopted by the written resolutions of its shareholders
on 8 November 2010, at no time during the year of 2010 was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including

debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or

fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.
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A

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors held any interests in any competing business
against the Company or any of its jointly controlled entities and

subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2010.

PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The principal terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, approved

by written resolutions of the shareholders of the Company passed

on 26 February 2010, were set out as follows:

(@) the purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to
provide incentive or reward to eligible participants for their
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the
interests of, the Company and to enable the Company and

its subsidiaries to recruit and retain high-caliber employees;

(b)  the maximum number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
shall be 27,456,156, representing approximately 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of

approval of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme;

(c)  the subscription price for the Shares under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme shall not be less than 100% of the
fair market value of the Shares on the date of grant of
the option as valued by the valuer to be appointed by the

Company;

(d) save as otherwise stated in the letter of grant, a maximum
of 40% of the total number of the options shall only be
exercisable from the expiry of the first anniversary of the
commencement date; a maximum of 70% of the total
number of the options shall only be exercisable from the
expiry of the second anniversary of the commencement date;
and all the total outstanding number of the options will be
exercisable from the expiry of the third anniversary of the

commencement date;
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subject to the termination provisions in the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme, the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period commencing on 26 February
2010, being the date on which the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme is adopted by the Shareholders, and ending on
the day immediately prior to the Listing Date (both dates
inclusive), after which period no further options pursuant
to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme will be granted but
in all other respects the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the
extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options
granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme, and options which are granted during the life of the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme may continue to be exercisable

in accordance with their terms of issue; and

the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall take effect subject to
the passing of the necessary resolution to adopt the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme by the shareholders of the Company.
The option granted may be exercised during the option
period which shall commence on the expiry of the first
anniversary of the commencement date and end on the date
immediately before the fourth anniversary of the Listing Date
(subject to the provisions for early termination contained
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. In the event that dealings
in the Shares have commenced on the Stock Exchange, the
exercise after the Listing Date of any option granted will be
conditional upon the Listing Committee granting approval
of the listing of, and permission to deal in, the Shares which
may fall to be allotted and issued pursuant to the exercise of

any options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.
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A

As of the date of this report, options to subscribe for an
aggregate of 27,456,156 Shares (representing approximately
3.75% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of this report ) have been granted by the Company under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. Particulars of the options granted
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out below:

No. of share options

HEARSRE BB ATREA 27,456,156 %
7 (R ARE B AR R B TR ANBREL
3.75% ) WIBREDC B AR RIRE T XA
ERERET L - BEE A AREEAE
TSR MBERENFBIN T X:

BREHA
Approximate
Outstanding Percentage
as at the Granted Lapsed Exercised  Outstanding of total
Name and position of Exercise beginning during during during as at the issued  Exercisable
grantee in our Group price  of the year the year the year the year yearend share capital  period (note 1)
EERARE
REANEER READ £ RER aEn
EAEENBL kE CEix:d FERRH ERER b £5gid HRTE  BOEAL  TEH(HED
(HK$)
(E1)
Mr. Chen Zhi, 1.82 - 10,433,339 - - 10,433,339 1.4% 26 February 2011 to
Executive Director 2 December 2014
RELE 87EF E-—f-AZtRAE
“E-mE+-ACH
Mr. Hong Pei Feng, 1.82 - 2,745,616 - - 2,745,616 0.4% 26 February 2011 to
Executive Director 2 December 2014
REERE NTES S
“E-mE+-ACH
Mr. Zhang Tie Zhu, 1.82 - 9,335,093 - - 9,335,093 1.3% 26 February 2011 to
Executive Director 2 December 2014
REHEE BITES I s
“E-mET-ACH
Mr. Wang Ping, 1.82 - 549,123 - - 549,123 0.1% 26 February 2011 to
Non-executive Director 2 December 2014
ITRE FHTES N
“E-mET-ACH
Mr. Chan Chun Kau, 1.82 - 1,647,369 - - 1,647,369 0.2% 26 February 2011 to
General Counsel 2 December 2014
RIS A - BB —E——F-f-1+XAZE
“E-mET-ACH
Mr. Yu Shi Quan, 1.82 - 1,098,246 - - 1,098,246 0.2% 26 February 2011 to
Vice President of Finance 2 December 2014
RAELE HBE R —E-—-%ZR=t5REZ
“E-mET-ACH
Mr. Xiao Zhen Bin, 1.82 - 1,098,246 - - 1,098,246 0.2% 26 February 2011 to
Investor Relations Director 2 December 2014
BIRWEE REBREE —F-—F-f-+AAE
“E-EETZAZH
Mr. Pan Jian Ping, 1.82 - 549,124 N N 549,124 0.1% 26 February 2011 to

Vice President of
Internal Control

BRRYRE ARNENEER

Other particulars of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out
in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010

2 December 2014
il S G
“Z-mET-AZA

BRAFHEBEENBRETSEMFBTHN A G
B 7 R L35 o



POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing passed by the shareholders
of the Company on 8 November 2010, the Company adopted the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. The purpose of the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme is to provide incentive or reward to (i) any full-time
or part-time employees, executives or officers of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries; (ii) any Directors (whether executive or
non-executive, including any independent non-executive Director)
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; or (iii) any advisors,
consultants, suppliers, customers and agents to the Company or

any subsidiaries (each "Eligible Person”).

The Board may, at any time within 10 years after the date of
approval of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, make an offer to
grant options to any Eligible Person. The subscription price for
shares granted pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion and

shall be at least the highest of:

(i)  the official closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock

Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer;

(i)  the average of the official closing prices of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date on

which such offer is made; and

(i)  the nominal value of a Share.
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A

The total number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the
Listing Date, 73,216,512 Shares, without prior approval from the
shareholders of the Company. The maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted, and yet to be exercised, under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. The total number of Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options granted under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme to each Eligible Person (including both
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of issued shares
of the Company. Any further grant of share options in excess of

this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company. In addition, if shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted under the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to a participant who is a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or
any of their associates, in any 12-month period (i) represent in
aggregate more than 0.1% of the total number of shares in issue,
and (ii) have an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
the shares of the Company at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5,000,000, the proposed grant of option must be approved by

the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting.
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The amount payable on acceptance of an option is RMB1.00. The
exercise period of any option granted under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme shall not be longer than 10 years from the date
of grant of the relevant option. There is no minimum period for
which an option must be held before the exercise of the option
except otherwise imposed by the Board.

As at 31 December 2010, no share option had been granted
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31 December 2010, the interests and short positions of
the directors in the share capital and underlying shares (the
“Share(s)”) of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the "SFO")), as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers, were set out as follows:

(i) Long position in the Company
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(i) REQXANHFER

Approximate

Number of percentage of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares interest

BEENR B e ROHBE REEBAESL

Mr. Chen Zhi Interest in controlled corporation 42,998,170 5.9%
(note 1)

REXE AR HEE B 42,998,170 5.9%
(Hf5E1)

Mr. Hong Pei Feng Interest in controlled corporation 15,859,804 2.2%
(note 2)

HIE gL MEZEHER R R 15,859,804 2.2%
(Mi5E2)

Mr. Wang Ping Interest in controlled corporation 12,483,736 1.7%
(note 3)

EFEE R EHEE S R 12,483,736 1.7%
(M$5E3)
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Notes:

(1) These Shares are held by TopBig International, which is

wholly-owned by Mr. Chen Zhi.

(2)  These Shares are held by Blazing Sun, which is wholly-owned

by Mr. Hong Pei Feng.

(3)  These Shares are held by Best Eagle Holdings Limited (“Best

Eagle”) on trust for China Science & Kingwin (HK) Investment

Management Limited (“China Science”). China Science is

wholly-owned by Shenzhen China Science & Kingwin Venture

Capital Co., Ltd, a company that is in turn owned by a group

of individuals including, among others, Mr. Wang Ping as to

54.94%.

(ii) Long position in the associated corporations of

the Company

UEE

ZERMAREEEZEHEANATH
BREsE -

HZERMHAMFEEE2ERENRSG
FH-

ZEROBREZERER AR ([RE])
WEREARRFPRIES (BE)REER
BIRAE ([HE])FHE - R RERYIT
FRESEXEEEEERATNZER
A FAYTHBEZEEREETEAR
RAAETALHA 2F (Hheid)
BAEFEEREB4.94%BHE -

RAXFEBEENTR

Name of Approximate

Associated percentage of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest Corporation interest

EEnE 5 REmtE A EIEEE BRfiNEI

Mr. Chen Zhi Interest in controlled corporation China TopReach 26.1%
(note 1)

REXE MR HEB ) S BRI (HEE1) 26.1%

Mr. Chen Zhi Beneficial Owner Beijing HongXinTu 10.0%

REXE BEnEAA I RIREE 10.0%

Mr. Hong Pei Feng Interest in controlled corporation China TopReach 10.3%
(note 2)

s e REEGEE N #E R K (F5E2) 10.3%

Mr. Wang Ping Interest in controlled corporation China TopReach 9.6%
(note 3)

FFRE RIEHDEE B S H B K 3 (M EE3) 9.6%

Mr. Zhang Tie Zhu Interest in controlled corporation China TopReach 2.0%
(note 4)

SR T ST A MR PR HEB ) BRI (Mf5E4) 2.0%
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(iii)

Notes:

(1)  These interest in China TopReach is held by TopBig

International, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Chen Zhi.

(2)  These interest in China TopReach is held by Blazing Sun, which

is wholly-owned by Mr. Hong Pei Feng.

(3)  These interest in China TopReach is held by China Science,

which is wholly-owned by Shenzhen China Science & Kingwin

Venture Capital Co., Ltd, a company that is in turn owned by
Mr. Wang Ping as to 54.94%.

(4) These interest in China TopReach is held by Real Sight

Consultant Limited, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang Tie

Zhu.

Interests in the underlying Shares of equity

derivatives of the Company

Description of

(iii)

GEE
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RAREHEAR RYTHRREDEIZER
BERARAFBREFEEREG54.94%
P& 42 -

RABXREZEEmBRETEES
& A fReal Sight Consultant Limited
FA -

RADBARFTET AR RAEBR
S

Total number Approximate

Nature of equity derivatives of underlying percentage of

Name of Director Interest (note 1) Shares interest
BASTETIAFHS BN

EEnR ERME (HMt3E1) HE R 5 A Bk
Mr. Chen Zhi Personal Share Option 10,433,339 1.4%
PREHE & A A AR 10,433,339 1.4%
Mr. Hong Pei Feng Personal Share Option 2,745,616 0.4%
HEIE I 5 A & A A AR 2,745,616 0.4%
Mr. Zhang Tie Zhu Personal Share Option 9,335,093 1.3%
SR L A fE R 9,335,093 1.3%
Mr. Wang Ping Personal Share Option 549,123 0.1%
FEEAE A A AR 549,123 0.1%
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Note:

(1) These share options were granted under the Pre-IPO Share

Option Scheme. Further details of such options are disclosed

under the paragraph above headed

Scheme”.

"Pre-IPO Share Option

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

As at 31 December 2010, the following persons (other than HE—_Z2—F
Directors or chief executives of the Company) had interests or
short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded

in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to

Section 336 of the SFO:

GEE

ZEBBREDREBEE R AFESHBR
BAEBEL - FRAZSBERENE

HBERLEXERA

g —BREE-

A % & A1 B B R AT

B AN e Ay B AH B BB A7 #) R 2

F+ZA=+—H UTAL(E
EHARAETETHRABRIN EELHENR
BESFLHPEGRIEIBCEARFRAFENE
Cfft D R AR (D RS SR B

Long positions in Shares: RROHEFER:

Approximate

Number of percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares interest

£ B Mg [ &vig - §E| Eagivask

China TopReach Beneficial Owner 320,000,000 43.7%

BB K I EunlEAA 320,000,000 43.7%

TopBig International Beneficial Owner 42,998,170 5.9%

5B BEmEBA 42,998,170 5.9%

Pride Sky Beneficial Owner 42,606,606 5.8%

Pride Sky BEHEBA 42,606,606 5.8%

CCBI Asset Management Interest in controlled corporation 42,606,606 5.8%
(note 1)

BREIBEEETE REESEE MR (M) 42,606,606 5.8%

Best Eagle Interest in controlled corporation 42,606,606 5.8%
(note 2)

BKIE REESEE M ER (ME2) 42,606,606 5.8%

Templeton Interest in controlled corporation 42,606,606 5.8%
(note 3)

B & U REESEE MR (MEE3) 42,606,606 5.8%
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Notes:

(1)  CCB International Asset Management Limited (“CCBI Asset
Management”) is deemed to be interested in the interest of Pride
Sky Holdings Limited (“Pride Sky”) in the Company by the SFO
because Pride Sky is wholly-owned by CCBI Asset Management.

(2)  Best Eagle is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
and is owned as to 57% and 43% by two individuals, who are
independent third parties. Best Eagle held part of its shareholding
interest in the Company, equivalent to 12,483,736 Shares (or
approximately 1.7% of the issued share capital of the Company), on

trust for China Science.

(3)  Templeton Strategic Emerging markets Fund Ill, LDC (“Templeton”)
is a limited duration company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. It
makes strategic investments in emerging markets and is managed by

Templeton Asset Management Ltd.

Save as disclosed herein, the Company has not been notified of
any other person (other than a Director or a chief executive of the
Company) who had an interest or a short position in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO as at 31 December 2010.

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into the transactions set out below
will be regarded as continuing connected transactions under the
Listing Rules. Unless otherwise defined, capitalised terms below

has the same meanings as those defined in the Prospectus.

Directors’ Report
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(3) HEWIENSES ([BLEE])A—RNHF
SHEAMKIMNARLDR  EFHETISIE
HI BB & - f Templeton Asset Management
LtdPrE 72 o
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NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Structure Contracts

The Structure Contracts comprise five agreements, namely (i)
the Loan Agreement, (ii) the Equity Pledge Agreement, (iii) the
Voting Rights Proxy Agreement, (iv) the Exclusive Purchase Option
Agreement and (v) the Service Agreement, which were all (except
the Service Agreement which was entered into between Fujian
ShiFang and Beijing HongXinTu) entered into between, inter alia,
Mr. Zhang Jin Gui, Mr. Chen Zhi, Mr. Qiang Yi Bin, Ms. Lin Yu Lin
and Fujian ShiFang. Each of Mr. Chen Zhi and Mr. Hong Pei Feng
is our executive Director and therefore a Connected Person of
the Company. Furthermore, Mr. Qiang Yi Bin and Ms. Lin Yu Lin,
each being an associate of Mr. Hong Pei Feng is also a Connected

Person of the Company.

The Structure Contracts were entered into to establish a situation
in which Fujian ShiFang has obtained effective management,
operational and economic control over Beijing HongXinTu and
has an exclusive option to purchase all or part of the entire equity
interest of Beijing HongXinTu when and to the extent permitted
by PRC law. The Company is currently prohibited from acquiring
an equity interest in Beijing HongXinTu, which holds a license for
the general distribution of books, newspapers and periodicals,
to incorporate its business into our Group because pursuant
to the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding Foreign Investment
jointly promulgated by The National Development and Reform
Commission of the PRC and The Ministry of Commerce of the
PRC on 31 October 2007, the publication and general distribution
of books, newspapers and periodicals business is classified as an

industry in which foreign investors are prohibited from investing.
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The transactions under the Structure Contracts (except those
under the Service Agreement) constitute continuing connected
transactions for our Company under Rule 14A.34(1) of the
Listing Rules and are subject to the requirements of reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval set out in
Rules 14A.45 to 14A.54 of the Listing Rules following the Listing.

The Directors believe that the Company’s structure whereby
Beijing HongXinTu’s financial results are consolidated into the
Company’s financial statements as if it was a wholly-owned
subsidiary and the flow of economic benefits from its business to
the Company, places the Group in a special position in relation
to the connected transactions rules. Accordingly, notwithstanding
that the transactions contemplated under the Structure Contracts
technically constitute continuing connected transactions for
the purposes of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the Directors
consider that it would be unduly burdensome and impracticable
and would impose unnecessary administrative costs on us to be
subject to strict compliance with the requirements set out under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of these continuing

connected transactions.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.42(3) of the Listing Rules, the Company
have applied for and the Stock Exchange has granted a waiver
from strict compliance with the reporting, announcement,
independent shareholders’ approval, annual cap and agreements
with fixed term of no more than three years requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the continuing
connected transactions under the Structure Contracts for so long

as the Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.
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For details of the Structure Contracts, please refer to the sections
headed “History and Corporate Structure” and “Connected

Transactions” of the Prospectus.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged
PricewaterhouseCoopers, the auditor of the Company to
review the continuing connected transactions of the Group.
PricewaterhouseCoopers has reported the results and their work
to the Board, confirming that the transaction have received the
approval of the Directors, have been entered into in accordance
with the relevant Structured Contracts and that no dividends or
other distributions have been made by Beijing HongXinTu to its

shareholders.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Structure Contracts, the above continuing connected transactions
and the report of the auditor. In the opinion of the independent

non-executive Directors:

(i)  the continuing connected transactions carried out during
the year are in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group and have been entered into in accordance with
the relevant provisions of the Structure Contracts so that the
revenue generated by Beijing HongXinTu and the subsidiaries

of the Company have been mainly retained by the Group;

(i) the continuing connected transactions were entered into
either (a) on normal commercial terms; or (b) where there is
no available comparison, on terms that are no less favorable
to the Group than terms to or from independent third

parties;

(iii) no dividends or other distributions have been made by

Beijing HongXinTu to its shareholders; and
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(iv) any new Structure Contracts entered into, renewed or
reproduced between Beijing HongXinTu and the Company
during the relevant financial period are fair and reasonable,
or advantageous, so far as the Company are concerned and

in the interests of our shareholders as a whole.

Other than disclosed above, there was no other transaction which
needs to be disclosed as connected transaction in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31
December 2010.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at

the date of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of the significant events after the reporting period of the

Group are set out in note 36 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general

meeting of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Chen Zhi

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong
29 March 2011
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CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance and value of achieving
high standards of corporate governance practices. The Board
believes that good corporate governance is an essential element
in maintaining and promoting shareholder value and investor

confidence.

The Company has adopted the code provisions on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “"CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its own
code of corporate governance since the date of the listing of the
shares of the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on 3 December, 2010. Saved as disclosed below, the Board
considers the Company has complied with the code provisions as

set out in the CG Code.

Set out below the principles and the corporate governance
practices adopted and observed by the Company from the Listing
Date up to the date of this annual report (the “Period Under

Review").

CODE PROVISION A.2.1
Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be

performed by the same individual.
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Mr. Chen Zhi, who acts as the chairman and chief executive officer
of the Company, is responsible in pioneering the Company’s
distinctive business model and undertaking the main decision-
making role in the management of the Company's overall
operations and overseeing the strategic development of the
Group. The Board will meet regularly to consider and review
the major and appropriate issues affecting the operations of
the Company. As such, the Board considers that the sufficient
measures have been taken and it will not impair the balance of

power and authority between the Board and the management.

THE BOARD

The Board provides effective and responsible leadership for the
Company in setting the strategic decision and overseeing the
Company's overall operations. The Board meets regularly and each
Director has to make decisions objectively in the best interests of

the Company and its shareholders.

The Board comprises 7 Directors, 3 of whom are executive
Directors and 1 of whom is non-executive Director and 3 of whom
are independent non-executive Directors. The biographies of all
Directors are set out on pages 34 to 39 of this annual report.
Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors has
any other financial, business, family or other material or relevant

relationships among members of the Board.
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Board Proceedings

The Company will hold at least four board meetings at
approximately quarterly intervals and will also meet at such other
times when necessary. Formal agenda of all Board meetings are
distributed to the Directors for comments and approval, generally,
at least 14 days before the meetings. Adequate time and sufficient
resources will provide to all Directors to discharge their duties
at which the Directors actively participate and hold informed
discussions. All minutes of Board meetings will record in sufficient
detail the matters considered by the Board and decisions reached.

As the Company was listed on 3 December, 2010, during the
Period Under Review, the Board convened 2 board meetings, the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee convened, meeting respectively. The attendance of
individual Directors at meetings of the Board, Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee is as
follows:

EEgRER
ARAERIBIIOREEZRRH NEFE
T—R AHRERTEREMERETEH
EEZEEE@RNEIAZRE —RNEFI &
DPTHOBRSETESE UHBXRER LA
BFEFHRETRARAMRARERETER
% MERARBLEIRABERTETR
WMEFRCAMBERLCEG D F AL
EFeFINRBERIELROREK -

1

HRARBAN-_ZE—FTFF+_A=ALm &
REOESE ESERARMAEFTEERN
EARlAR—REZZEE® FHEREEGRIE
FELZBEER -BEENEFE BERZBEe ¥
WEEeRRERZEETERMNBRERNOT:

Meeting attended/held
HE/ BTEERY
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee
EXg ENZRE §FMERE REZEEE
Executive Directors HITEZ
Chen Zhi (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)  B& (TEZEEHTE) 212 N/A n 171
2/2 A ”n 111
Hong Pei Feng I 212 N/A N/A N/A
2/2 AN iE A A3 A i A
Zhang Tie Zhu (Chief Financial Officer) KA (ERVEE) 212 N/A N/A N/A

Non-executive Directors FHTES
Wang Ping TF
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Wong Heung Ming, Henry ipkE!

Zhou Chang Ren BELC

Zhuo Ze Yuan FER
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be

performed by the same individual.

Mr. Chen Zhi, who acts as the chairman and chief executive officer
of the Company, is responsible in pioneering the Company’s
distinctive business model and undertaking the main decision-
making role in the management of the Company's overall
operations and overseeing the strategic development of the
Group. The Board will meet regularly to consider and review
the major and appropriate issues affecting the operations of
the Company. As such, the Board considers that the sufficient
measures have been taken and it will not impair the balance of

power and authority between the Board and the management.

Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rule 3.10 (1) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three independent non-executive
Directors representing more than one-third of the Board. The
Company has received from each of its independent non-executive
Directors the written confirmation of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board, based on such
confirmation, considers all independent non-executive Directors

independent.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director has
entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from the Listing Date, which may be
terminated by not less than six months’ notice in writing served
by either party on the other. The independent non-executive
Directors have been appointed for a term of three years and shall
be terminable by either party giving not less than two months
prior notice in writing. The Directors have power at any time and
from time to time to appoint any person to be a Director, either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors.
Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until the next
annual general meeting of our Company and shall then be eligible
for re-election at that meeting. In accordance with the articles of
association of the Company, at every annual general meeting of
the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being or, if
the number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to, but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Directors (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at

least once every three years.

Model Code for Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.
Directors are reminded of their obligations under the Model Code
on a regular basis. The Company has made specific enquiry of all
Directors and all Directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout

the Period Under Review.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
has been established on 8 November, 2010 with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Audit Committee
comprises three members, all are independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Heung Ming, Henry (Chairman), Mr.

Zhou Chang Ren and Mr. Zhuo Ze Yuan.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are:

- To make recommendations to the Board on (i) the

appointment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditors; (ii) the audit fee and terms of engagement of the
external auditors; and (iii) any questions of resignation or

dismissal of that auditor

- To review and monitor the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in

accordance with applicable standards

- To monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the
Company and the Company’s annual report and accounts,
interim report and quarterly financial highlights, and
reviewing significant financial reporting judgments contained

in those reports

- To review the adequacy and monitor the effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system, internal control and

risk management systems.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management in
conjunction with the external auditor, the audited annual results
and annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December,
2010, including the accounting policies and practice adopted by
the Group.

Corporate Governance Report

(e gk

ERFLHE

EREEE

ARBAR_F—FF+—A/\BKI

g ([E%ZBE])  UHEFIFARS %q

MERRELAE - FRZZESRE=AMK

Eﬂaﬁﬂﬂ%i(If) BECEERE)
£ RO RBIENTES

>H’¢H

ERZBEENIBERER:

- BOZRE ENZERBORIMEBAZEED
(iNShEp i B A BB B R R0 I
(iiE A B BE B IR A E R
EreRbER:

- RERERER e RERINPZ BN
B REBBIE A RZBOEF R

- ERAQRAMBHRER KA2AFHEE
B HHRERFTEMBRENTEMN
WEMHNZEREMARVBEREELH
BARAE &

- BEAXBMBERESE E‘%T KB
SERHESE2H WEREMK-

BEZZ BeC GRS RS2 EER A
ARABE_Z-—ZTF+_A=+—RHLFEN
REZFEEZELEFR BRAKERANE
AR M A -

THEBRARAE —ZT-2FFH

67



68

Corporate Governance Report

(e g1 E: e

During the Period Under Review, the Audit Committee had
performed their primary duties to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and the internal control procedures
of the Company. The Company has also held meeting with the
Company’s external auditors, Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers
("PWC") without the presence of executive Directors and
management, to discuss matters arising from the auditing
and report to the Board on material issues, if any, and make

recommendations to the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) has been established on 8 November, 2010 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee comprises three members, namely
Mr. Zhou Chang Ren (Chairman), Mr. Chen Zhi and Mr. Wong
Heung Ming, Henry, the majority of which are independent non-
executive Directors. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to evaluate and make recommendations to the
Board regarding the remuneration packages to the Directors and
senior management which will be determined by reference to the
performance of the individual and the Company as well as market

trends and practices.

2010, one

Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the Period

As the Company was listed on 3 December,

Under Review. From 2011 onwards, the Remuneration Committee

will conduct meeting at least once a year.
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Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) has been established on 8 November, 2010 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members,
namely Mr. Zhuo Ze Yuan (Chairman), Mr. Chen Zhi and Mr.
Wong Heung Ming, Henry, the majority of which are independent
non-executive Directors. The primary duties of the Nomination
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors. The Nomination Committee selects
and recommends the candidates for directorship shall base on
the criterion including professional knowledge, competence,

experience, independence and integrity.

As the Company was listed on 3 December, 2010, one
Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the Period
Under Review. From 2011 onwards, the Remuneration Committee

will conduct meeting at least once a year.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December,
2010 which reflect true and fair view of the financial position of
the Group and in compliance with relevant law and disclosure
provisions of the Listing Rules. The Board is responsible for
presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment
extends to annual and interim reports, other price-sensitive
announcements and other financial disclosures required under the

Listing Rules.
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The Group appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers as the Group's
external auditor. The statement by PricewaterhouseCoopers
regarding their reporting responsibility to the shareholders on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 71 to 73 of this annual

report.

During the year ended 31 December, 2010, the remuneration paid
or payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers for audit services in respect
of the Company’s listing on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
annual audit and non-audit services amounted to RMB12,191,000,
RMB811,000 and RMB78,000 respectively.

Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and
the assets of the Group. During the Period Under Review, the
Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control

system of the Group through the Audit Committee.

INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS
RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of effective communications
with shareholders and continues to act in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Company keeps shareholders
and investors informed of its business performance and strategies
by adopting a transparent and timely disclosure policy which
complies with the Listing Rules and provides all shareholders
equal access to such information. The Company also publishes all
documents on the Company’'s website at www.shifangholding.

com

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM") also
provides a forum for the Board to dialogue and interact with the
Shareholders directly. The Directors and the committee members
are available to answer questions during the Annual General

Meeting.
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PRICEAVATERHOUSECOPERS

Independent Auditor’s Report
18 VB i

BOB KBS MERAHR

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SHIFANG HOLDING LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shifang
Holding Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 74 to 196, which comprise
the consolidated and company balance sheets as at December
31, 2010, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’” RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
22/F, Prince's Building
Central, Hong Kong
Telephone (852) 2289 8888
Facsimile (852) 2810 9888
www.pwchk.com
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from

material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’'s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall

presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and
of the Group as at December 31, 2010, and of the Group’s
profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

OTHER MATTERS

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only
for you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for

the contents of this report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, March 29, 2011
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

HOPEE AR
As at December 31,
R+=—A=+-—H
2010 2009
—E-EF —EENF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 2 ARET T ARETIT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment I ERE N S 7 51,315 34,550
Investment properties WA 8 1,817 =
Intangible assets EEE 4,198 3,769
Prepayments, deposits and TETFRIE - e R E A FE UKL
other receivables FRIE 11 190,000 60,000
247,330 98,319
Current assets REEE
Inventories BE 13 5,287 3,954
Assets held for sale BIELEEE 12 29,848 22,885
Trade receivables — net Z 5 R —F 5 10 254,629 154,302
Prepayments, deposits and BT FRIB - e R E K
other receivables IR 11 187,773 145,817
Amount due from immediate JiE U B o IR B 5RO0E
holding company 32(c) - 12,891
Amounts due from related parties JE UL #E B A L FUE 32(c) 14,135 20,777
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFMEIAHE 14 546,001 40,643
1,037,673 401,269
Total assets BmEE 1,285,003 499,588
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to equity AREREREEAEGESR
holders of the Company
Share capital [N 19 63,860 =
Share premium AR 17 ) B 19 540,311 =
Other reserves H 20 91,268 81,123
Retained earnings IR & A 375,675 220,170
1,071,114 301,293
Non-controlling interests IR 472 487
Total equity EREE 1,071,586 301,780
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
AP AR

As at December 31,

R+=—A=+—H
2010 2009
—E-—EF —EENF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 2 ARET T ARETIT
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liability ERBAE
Borrowing B 16 2,789 =
2,789 -
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables 2 5 &N 5IE 17 4,164 3,722
Other payables and accrued expenses  Efib J& < 7018 & fE 51 I % 17 114,825 56,445
Current income tax liabilities BIEAFT SR & & 34,678 28,065
Borrowings B 16 51,818 47,260
Amounts due to directors JEfTEEFHIAE 32(c) 1,973 1,374
Amount due to immediate FEA B B 1 IR R B 5RIE
holding company 32(c) 1,731 -
Amounts due to related parties e 8 A L FRIE 32(c) 1,439 60,942
210,628 197,808
Total liabilities weE 213,417 197,808
Total equity and liabilities ERREEARE 1,285,003 499,588
Net current assets REEEFE 827,045 203,461
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBARG 1,074,375 301,780

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

KEFEREN T ——F=A=-+ N AHETER

March 29, 2011 and signed on behalf of the Board by: B A TINESKRRESTSEE:

Chen Zhi Hong Pei Feng
PR & T
Director Director
EE EZE
The notes on pages 80 to 196 are an integral part of these  F80E196B MBI EHEHRENEE L
financial statements. e
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Balance Sheet

HrafhR
As at
December 31,
2010
R=ZF—%F
+=B=+—H
Note RMB’000
B £ ARET T
ASSETS EE
Non-current asset kRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—RHEMERRRRE 21 342
342
Current assets REEE
Other receivable H b & Y FR B 11 26,672
Amounts due from subsidiaries NI E 22 494,220
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFMBEIEE 14 189,801
710,693
Total assets HWEE 711,035
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to equity BATRERFEEAELESR
holders of the Company
Share capital [N 19 63,860
Share premium 1% 17 4 (B 19 540,311
Equity-based compensation reserves LA i 4 7 55 B 1) 7 M £ 20 5,263
Accumulated deficits 2T B4 20 (5,520)
603,914
Total equity FEREE 603,914
LIABILITIES aE
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accrued expenses E 8 A< R8BI 2 17 26,930
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE 1 BT B A Bl 5K I8 22 80,191
107,121
Total liabilities BEE 107,121
Total equity and liabilities EERABEHE 711,035
Net current assets REBEEFE 603,572
Total assets less current liabilities HWEEBRRBEE 603,914

The notes on pages 80 to 196 are an integral part of these

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

O 2 v B e %

Year ended December 31,

BE+t-A=+—HLEE

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
Bt & AR¥ T ARET T
Revenues A 5 529,940 462,967
Cost of sales 5 & AR 24 (274,144) (243,090)
Gross profit E R 255,796 219,877
Selling and marketing expenses SHE R ThiGHEER X 24 (26,770) (22,565)
General and administrative expenses — R RATHRA X 24 (51,994) (34,776)
Other income — net H g A — 558 23 9,591 6,113
Operating profit FEE— 186,623 168,649
Finance income A W 26 274 46
Finance costs & A AR 26 (1,462) (3,270)
Finance costs — net B R AN —F 8 26 (1,188) (3,224)
Profit before income tax R P 48 B4 A % Rl 185,435 165,425
Income tax expenses Fr 5 Fi A 2 27 (24,355) (24,645)
Profit for the year FREFR 161,080 140,780
Other comprehensive income H b2 HE W=
— Revaluation surplus —HHAK 919 -
Total comprehensive FRAZEKFETE
income for the year 161,999 140,780
Profit/(loss) attributable to: LT &ERER (FA) :
— Equity holders of the Company —ARAIEERFEA 161,095 140,819
— Non-controlling interests —JEfE R fE = (15) (39)
161,080 140,780
Total comprehensive income/(loss) M TEEEEZEWKZE
attributable to: (E18) &5
— Equity holders of the Company —ARBIEERFEA 162,014 140,819
— Non-controlling interests — IR R A (15) (39)
161,999 140,780
Earnings per share for profit RAFIERFEA ARG
attributable to equity holders of the & RO
Company
— Basic (RMB per share) —HEKX(BRARE) 28 0.2858 0.2564
— Diluted (RMB per share) —EE (BRARE) 28 0.2824 0.2564
Dividend f% 8 29 - -

The notes on pages 80 to 196 are an integral part of these EBOE 196 E MM T B It T Bk o) & ZE &
_\0

financial statements. 7
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
e 2 ) %

Equity-
based Non-
Share Share Capital Revaluation compensation  Statutory Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserves reserve reserves reserves earnings Total interests Equity
URER
HER
Bx  BRHEE  EAEE  EREE  FMEE  iERE  REER #i  FEREE  BRLE

Note  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'00  RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
Wi ARETE ARETE ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR

Balance at January 1, 2010 RZZ-T5-R—-AN&EH - - 62,081 - - 19042 220170 301,293 487 301,780
Comprehensive income 2ENE
Profit/(loss) for the year ERiafl/ (B8) - - - - - - 161,095 161,09 (15 161,080
Revaluation surplus EfREH - - - 919 - - - 919 - 919
Total comprehensive income 2EKEEE - - - 919 - - 161,095 162,014 (15) 161,999
Transactions with owners REFANRS
Appropriation to statutory reserves ~ EAZAT - - - - - 5,590 (5,590) - - -
Contributions from equity holders ERFEAER 19(0) 48,284 190,657 = - - = - 238941 - 238941
Issuance of share capital BIRA - 342 (342) - - - - - - -
Share issuance costs RIABITERA = = (1,285) - - - - (1,285) - (1,285)
Equity-based compensation IR AER O EHM - - - - 5263 - - 5263 - 5,263
Issue of shares in connection FERFERTRG

with the Global Offering 19() 15,576 456,365 = = = = = 471,941 - 471,941
Share issuance costs in connection  BEZRREERRABIRA

with the Global Offering - (107,053) - - - - - (107,053) - (107,053)
Total transactions with owners BEFANRHLE 63,860 540,311 (1,627) - 5263 5,590 (5590 607,807 - 607,807
Balance at December 31, 2010 RZT-TF

TZA=T—RMLE 63,860 540,311 60,454 919 5,263 24,632 375,675 1,071,114 472 1,071,586
Balance at January 1, 2009 RZEENF—A—-B#EH - - 62,081 - - 9,277 89,116 160,474 526 161,000
Comprehensive income 2EKE
Profit/(loss) for the year FnaEil/ (B8) - - - - - - 140819 140,819 (39) 140,780
Total comprehensive income 2EMEEE - - - - - - 140819 140,819 (39) 140,780
Transactions with owners BREBEANRS
Appropriation to statutory reserves  BEZ AT - - - - - 9,765 (9,765) - - =
Total transactions with owners BREANRSEE - - - - - 9,765 (9,765) - - -
Balance at December 31, 2009 RZZZhE
+=A=t-BREH = = 62,081 - - 19,042 220,170 301,293 487 301,780

BOE196 A MBI TN HEANERH

o

i

The notes on pages 80 to 196 are an integral part of these

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
OB e R

Year ended December 31,

BE+t-A=+—HLEE

2010 2009
—EB-BF —ZEENEF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt = ARBF T ARBTT
Cash flows from operating activities E&EZBHRAEHESHE
Cash generated from operations KEERMSH S 30(a) 85,692 59,431
Interest received =& S) 26 274 46
Interest paid B FE 26 (1,462) (3,270)
Income tax paid ERAEH (17,742) (7,943)
Net cash generated from KEEBFRERESFE
operating activities 66,762 48,264
Cash flows from investing activities REEZBHFAESHESHE
Prepayment for long term investment  KEIIEE M BN KB 11 (98,000) =
Additions of property, M BERZERNRE
plant and equipment 7 (23,955) (1,973)
Additions of intangible assets B EERNE 9 (1,030) (15)
Deposits to newspaper publishers BT MALHRENIES 11 (32,000) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME KERREMS
plant and equipment FRIA 30(b) 151 3
Net cash used in investing activities REEBFARE FE (154,834) (1,985)
Cash flows from financing activities BEEZBHFAESESHE
Capital injection from equity RAFIERFAEATE
holders of the Company 19 238,941 -
Proceeds from borrowings BT 5KIA 54,607 64,520
Repayment of borrowings BEBRX (47,260) (63,860)
Proceeds from loans from XHRBEBAEATHER
related parties 8,656 46,837
Repayment of loans from BREAZEALER
related parties (64,125) (63,867)
Proceeds from issuance of KB B IRBEEBITEBRMG
ordinary shares pursuant to TRIE
the Global Offering 19 471,941 -
Payments for share issuance costs X ATRR 0 B 1T A AR (69,330) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) MEFBRE(FTA)
financing activities B F5E 593,430 (16,370)
Net increase in cash and RERASEEERBMBEE
cash equivalents 505,358 29,909
Cash and cash equivalents FYNRERRESFEIER
at beginning of the year 14 40,643 10,734
Cash and cash equivalents FRNREERESFEER
at end of the year 14 546,001 40,643

The notes on pages 80 to 196 are an integral part of these

financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

£ Dk S 5 8 0 B ik

1

GENERAL INFORMATION AND GROUP
REORGANISATION

(a) General information

Shifang Holding Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on December 9,
2009 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law (2009 Revision as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified) of the Cayman
Islands. The address of its registered office is PO
Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,

Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the business of publishing and advertising
(the “Publishing and Advertising Businesses”) in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The immediate
holding company of the Company is China TopReach
Inc. (“China TopReach”), a company whose shares
are quoted on the Over the Counter Bulletin Board
("OTC") in the United States of America.

On December 3, 2010 (“the Listing Date"”), the shares
of the Company became listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”), pursuant to which
183,042,000 new shares of HK$0.1 each were issued
by the Company (the “Global Offering”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in thousands of units of Renminbi (RMB’000), unless
otherwise stated. These consolidated financial
statements have been approved for issue by the Board
of Directors on March 29, 2011.

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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GENERAL INFORMATION AND GROUP

REORGANISATION (continued)

(b) Reorganisation
In preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the “Listing”), the
Publishing and Advertising Businesses underwent a
group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”), pursuant
to which the companies engaged in the publishing and
advertising businesses of the Group were transferred
to the Company. The Reorganisation involved the

followings:

- On December 9, 2009, the Company was
incorporated with one issued share capital of
HK$0.10 allotted and issued to China TopReach.

- Pursuant to an agreement on January 14,
2010, certain shareholders of China TopReach,
namely: TopBig International Development
Limited (“TopBig International”), Blazing Sun
Holdings Limited (“Blazing Sun”) and Keep Profit
International Capital Limited (“Keep Profit”)
transferred its equity interest in China TopReach
to the Company in exchange for 80,000,000 new
shares allotted by the Company.

- On the same date, 319,999,999 shares are
issued and allotted to China TopReach and
they are credited as fully paid pursuant to the
capitalisation issue immediately following the
issue of new shares to TopBig International,

Blazing Sun and Keep Profit.

1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION AND GROUP
REORGANISATION (continued)
(b) Reorganisation (continued)

(c)

- Pursuant to an agreement dated January 18,
2010 China TopReach transferred its entire equity
interests in Olympia Media to the Company
in exchange for US$50,000. Thereafter, the
Company became the holding company of the

Group.

Basis of presentation

Pursuant to the Reorganisation as described in Note
1 (b), the Reorganisation has been accounted for
as a reorganisation of businesses under common
control as there has been no change in control
immediately before and after the Reorganisation. The
Reorganisation has been accounted for in a manner
similar to pooling-of-interests and the principles of
merger accounting under Hong Kong Accounting
Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations”. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared as if the current group structure

had been in existence throughout the year.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

("IFRS"), using the historical cost convention as modified by

the revaluation of investment properties, which are carried at

fair value.

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEFGFBORME (4)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation 21 RBEE

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgment in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.

Change in accounting policy and disclosures
(@) New and amended standards effective in 2010

The Group has adopted the following new and
amended standards and interpretation as at

January 1, 2010:

Distribution of non-cash

IFRIC 17

assets to owners

o IAS 27 (revised) Consolidated and separate
financial statements

o IFRS 3 (revised) Business combinations

o IAS 38 Intangible assets
(amendment)
° IFRS 5 Measurement of non-
(amendment) current assets (or disposal
groups) classified as held
for sale
o IAS 1 Presentation of financial
(amendment) statements
o IFRS 2 Share-based payment
(amendment)

RETABERY B REEL NS G
MBHmRBERAE THREEE
A BEEENAERKAASEES
BROBEFELHE - FRBE
HIE KR SEM SR S R
EHMBBRRBERNBRE LA
IS M AW E -

S BRERKESENE S
(@) R-F—FFLENLFEL
ABIEETEA

AEBER -_T—TF—A—
HERA T 537 E] RS IE =T 4R
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o BERYBHRER RAEEIR
BZE€Z17  FHLEE
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o EReiEl AHREU
F27% B e
(&3
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R E3%

(&3
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385
(B3T%)
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Change in accounting policy and disclosures

(continued)

(a)

New and amended standards effective in 2010
(continued)
IFRIC 17 ’Distribution of non-cash assets to

owners’

The interpretation is part of the IASB’s annual
improvements project published in May 2009.
This interpretation provides guidance on
accounting for arrangements whereby an entity
distributes non-cash assets to shareholders either
as a distribution of reserves or as dividends. IFRS
5 has also been amended to require that assets
are classified as held for distribution only when
they are available for distribution in their present
condition and the distribution is highly probable.
The interpretation does not have a material
impact on the Group’s or Company’s financial

statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EEGFEIBORBEE (57)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEE (&)

Change in accounting policy and disclosures B BRRIEESENE S

(continued) (&)

(a)  New and amended standards effective in 2010 (a) R-EFE—FFLENBIFETR
(continued) AEIEFTER (42)
IAS 27 (revised) ‘Consolidated and separate B 2R FE275% (£1E
financial statements’ 51) [ &0 R I8 S B 75 3 3k |
The revised standard requires the effects of all UL TE LS ET ZE BIAR TE - 204 )
transactions with non-controlling interest to be R Ao E - Bl IE P R i A
recorded in equity if there is no change in control ETHMBER SN E LA
and these transactions will no longer result in TEEERIR  MEERXHE
goodwill or gains and losses. In this respect, it THEHMERRE Ut
does not change the existing accounting policy = BLIRAS S AT 2RI NE M i
of the Group. The standard also specifies the RNEBEIR G W EETBUR ° ILI8
accounting when control is lost. Any remaining ZERI TR 51| BA 2% 2 12 1| #E s )
interest in the entity is re-measured to fair SAE EERBANEA TR
value, and a gain or loss is recognised in profit BmEAREBEENGE I
or loss. The Group will apply IAS 27 (revised) EEGRTPERER ANEE
prospectively to transactions with non-controlling KEEAREEHF T —F
interest from January 1, 2010. It does not have F—H —HREFERERE
a material impact on the Group's or Company's TR ZHEABER S ERE
financial statements. 275 (R EF]) cH A A

SE SRR BT BEHRREK
ERFE-

trgRERAR —T-T544 85
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Change in accounting policy and disclosures

(continued)

(a)

New and amended standards effective in 2010
(continued)

IFRS 3 (revised) ‘Business combinations’

The revised standard continues to apply the
acquisition method to business combinations,
with some significant changes. For example,
all payments to purchase a business are to be
recorded at fair value at the acquisition date,
with contingent payments classified as debt
subsequently re-measured through the income
statement. There is a choice on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis to measure the non-controlling
interest in the acquiree either at fair value or
at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
share of the acquiree’s net assets. All acquisition-
related costs should be expensed. It does not
have a material impact on the Group’s or

Company's financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
Change in accounting policy and disclosures
(continued)

(a)

New and amended standards effective in 2010
(continued)
IAS 38 (amendment) ‘Intangible Assets’

The amendment is part of the IASB’s annual
improvements project published in May 2009
and the Group and Company will apply IAS 38
(amendment) from the date IFRS 3 (revised) is
adopted. The amendment clarifies guidance in
measuring the fair value of an intangible asset
acquired in a business combination and it permits
the grouping of intangible assets as a single
asset if each asset has similar useful economic
lives. The amendment does not have a material
impact on the Group’s or Company’s financial
statements.

IFRS 5 (amendment) ‘Measurement of non-
current assets (or disposal groups) classified as
held for sale’

The amendment is part of the IASB’s annual
improvements project published in May 2009.
The amendment provides clarification that IFRS
5 specifies the disclosures required in respect of
non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified
as held for sale or discontinued operations. It also
clarifies that the general requirement of IAS 1
still apply, particularly paragraph 15 (to achieve a
fair presentation) and paragraph 125 (sources of
estimation uncertainty) of IAS 1. This amendment
does not have a material impact on the Group's
or Company's financial statements.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Change in accounting policy and disclosures

(continued)

(a)

New and amended standards effective in 2010
(continued)

IAS 1 (amendment) ‘Presentation of financial
statements’

The amendment is part of the IASB’s annual
improvements project published in May 2009.
The amendment provides clarification that the
potential settlement of a liability by the issue
of equity is not relevant to its classification
as current or non-current. By amending the
definition of current liability, the amendment
permits a liability to be classified as non-current
(provided that the entity has an unconditional
right to defer settlement by transfer of cash or
other assets for at least 12 months after the
accounting period) notwithstanding the fact that
the entity could be required by the counterparty
to settle in shares at any time. This amendment
does not have a material impact on the Group's

or Company's financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
Change in accounting policy and disclosures
(continued)

(a)

New and amended standards effective in 2010
(continued)
IFRS 2 (amendment) ‘Share-based Payment’

IFRS 2 (amendment) clarify the scope of IFRS 2
and the accounting for group cash-settled share-
based payment transactions in the separate
or individual financial statements of the entity
receiving the goods or services when that
entity has no obligation to settle the share-
based payment transaction. The amendments
also incorporate the guidance contained in
currently effective IFRIC 11 and hence once
the amendments are effective these two

interpretations will be withdrawn.

Improvements to IFRS 2009 were issued in May
2009. The effective dates vary standard by
standard but most are effective from January 1,
2010.

Improvements to IFRS 2010 published in May
2010. These improvements contain amendments
to IFRS 1, IFRS 3, IFRS 7 and IAS 1, IAS 27, IAS
34 and IFRIC — Int 13 which are effective from
annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2011. Earlier application is permitted.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Change in accounting policy and disclosures

(continued)

(a)

(b)

New and amended standards effective in 2010
(continued)
IFRS 2 (amendment) ‘Share-based Payment’

(continued)

The adoption of new IFRSs had no material effect
on how the results and financial position for
the current or prior accounting years have been
prepared. Accordingly, no prior year adjustment

has been required.

New and amended standards that are not yet
effective and have not been adopted by the
Group

The following standards and amendments to
existing standards have been published and
are mandatory and relevant for the Group’'s
accounting periods beginning on or after January
1, 2011, or later periods, but the Group has not
early adopted them:
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Change in accounting policy and disclosures

(continued)

(b)

New and amended standards that are not yet
effective and have not been adopted by the
Group (continued)

IAS 24 ‘Related party disclosures’ primarily
amends the disclosure requirements applicable to
government-related entities and, more generally,
the definition of a related party. Government-
related entities are defined as those entities which
are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by a government (which term includes
government agencies and similar bodies,
whether local, national or international). The
amendments aim to provide relief from disclosure
of information by government-related entities
in respect of transactions with the government-
related entities to which the reporting entity is
related, or transactions with other entities related
to the same government, where the information
may be costly to gather and of less value to users.
In respect of the definition of a related party, the
amendments aim to simplify the definition and

remove inconsistencies.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
Change in accounting policy and disclosures
(continued)

(b)

New and amended standards that are not yet
effective and have not been adopted by the
Group (continued)

The source of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”,
IFRS 9, is the first finalised part of a wider
project being undertaken by the IASB to reduce
the complexity of the current requirements
and to replace IAS 39, Financial instruments:
recognition and measurement. IFRS 9 deals with
classification and measurement of financial assets
only. The Standard retains but simplifies the
mixed measurement model and establishes two
primary measurement categories for financial
assets: amortised cost and fair value, with the
basis of classification dependent on the entity's
business model and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets. Further
parts of the project, which are expected to be
completed by the end of 2010, will deal with
impairment of financial assets, measurement of
financial liabilities, derecognition of financial
instruments, impairment and hedge accounting.
IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2013, but may be applied
earlier. An early adopter of IFRS 9 continues to
apply IAS 39 for other accounting requirements
for financial instruments within its scope that
are not covered by IFRS 9. In general, the
Standard requires retrospective adoption (i.e. the
comparatives should be restated in the first year
of adoption) unless it is adopted for a period
beginning before January 1, 2012 (in which case
adjustments are required to opening balances
in first period of adoption). There are several
other exceptions to this principle where extensive
transitional provisions have been set out.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Change in accounting policy and disclosures

(continued)

(b)

New and amended standards that are not yet
effective and have not been adopted by the
Group (continued)

The Group has already commenced an assessment
of the impact of above new standards, revised
standards and amendments to existing standards
and interpretations but is not yet in a position
to state whether the new standards, revised
standards and amendments to existing standards
and interpretations would have a significant
impact to its results of operations and financial

position.

2.2 Consolidated Financial Statements

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the
Group has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies generally accompanying a
shareholding of more than one half of the voting
rights. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing
whether the Group controls another entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that

control ceases.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

Apart from the Reorganisation, the purchase
method of accounting is used to account for the
acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost
of an acquisition is measured as the fair value
of the assets given, equity instruments issued
and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date
of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to
the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in
a business combination are measured initially
at their fair values at the acquisition date,
irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling
interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive

income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are

also eliminated.

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency

with the policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEFGFBORME (4)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Consolidated Financial Statements 22 SO EERR (&)
(continued)

(b) BHEEWEE

(b) Special purpose entities

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company,
its subsidiaries, and special purpose entities
(“SPEs”) where the Company is deemed the
primary beneficiary. Fujian ShiFang, one of the
Company's wholly owned subsidiaries, entered
into contractual agreements with Beijing
HongXinTu (the “Structural Agreements”), where
Fujian ShiFang provides consulting services to
Beijing HongXinTu and is entitled to (1) receive a
substantial portion of the economic benefits from
Beijing HongXinTu; (2) exercise effective control
over Beijing HongXinTu, and (3) have an exclusive
option to purchase all or part of the equity
interests in Beijing HongXinTu when and to the

extent permitted by the PRC laws.

By virtue of the contractual arrangements, Beijing
HongXinTu is a SPE and deemed as a subsidiary of
the Company under the requirements of Standing
Interpretations Committee No.12 (“SIC-12"),

“Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 D 5 TR Wk
2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EEGFEIBORBEE (57)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Consolidated Financial Statements 22 0t KEHK (&)
(continued)
(b) Special purpose entities (continued) (b) HHEWER (&)

When assessing whether to combine an SPE, the B —RXERXRENEREDS
Group evaluates a range of factors, including EHAREK  AEEeFEE
whether (1) the activities of the SPE are being HEZE  BFE0)IEkRE TR
conducted on behalf of the Group according X EB RSB IRIEE R ER
to its specific business needs so that the Group FERRAEHET MAS
obtains the benefits from the SPE’s operations, (2) B R B N EEEER
the Group has decision-making powers to obtain BR - QASEELHEEES
the majority of the benefits, (3) the Group obtains REHNmHNRERE - Q)RS
the majority of the benefits of the activities of ERRESRKAENEREK
the SPE, and (4) the Group retains the majority of BRI AZH N - R(AARE
the residual ownership risks related to the assets BREREBAZHEEERH
in order to obtain the benefits from its activities. BOER T 775 R B DA EL 2R 75
The Group consolidates an SPE if an assessment B RER - MR AR R =
of the relevant factors indicates that it controls BRHEZGHSKRENER &5
the SPE. KEMNEBHNARESHA
Based on the contractual arrangements, the EREGAMZH AR AKIL
Company consolidated Beijing HongXinTu's RBRENES BEERAERE
results, assets and liabilities in financial R+ 75 IR A BR 2 B 6 B S R
statements of ShiFang Holding Limited. ~aftt AR
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEGFTBUORMEE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Consolidated Financial Statements

2.2 SOt EHE (E)

(continued)

EHEZFNEES G

control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statement items of the combining
entities or businesses in which the common
control combination occurs as if they had been
consolidated from the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under the control

of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or
businesses are consolidated using the existing
book values from the controlling parties’
perspective. No amount is recognised in respect
of goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the
net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost at
the time of common control combination, to
the extent of the contribution of the controlling
party’s interest. All differences between the
cost of acquisition (fair value of consideration
paid) and the amounts at which the assets and
liabilities are recorded have been recognised

directly in equity as part of the capital reserve.

(c) Business combinations under common (c)
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)
(c) Business combinations under common

control (continued)

The consolidated statement of comprehensive
income includes the results of each of the
combining entities or businesses from the earliest
date presented or since the date when combining
entities or business first came under common
control, where this is a shorter period, regardless

of the date of the common control combination.

The comparative amounts in the financial
statements are presented as if the entities or
business had been consolidated at the earliest
balance sheet date presented or when they first
came under common control, whichever is the

later.

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between the
combining entities or businesses are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated but
considered as an impairment indicator of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted

by the Group.

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010

2

FEREG A BORME (5])

2.2 SOt EHE (ME)

(c)

ZHEEHNELS G
(&)
EHEHKRERBERERER
SRR G HEBIEBERX
ZHEZEGIE B AR (ABRE
ERE BwmatHRZEHA
HZB)EAHERAEHD
ES K

MBHRR2ILREE BN
BERIEBRAEINNRFHE
EARBEARARESER
(AEBBELE)REAH -

RAARS R AHER
REHRH < HERER
B &M - RERBETEM
W EREREREENRE
BR-MEARNETBERE
EVBE B AR AN EE
PR G BER — B



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

£ Dk S 5 0 o Wi ik

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidated Financial Statements

(continued)

(d) Transactions with non-controlling
interest
The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interest as transactions with equity
holders of the Company. For purchases from
non-controlling interest, the difference between
any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the
subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses
on disposals to non-controlling interest are also

recorded in equity.

2.3 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors

(the “Board”) that makes strategic decisions.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The financial statements is presented
in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the Company's

functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive

income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents
are presented in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income within ‘Finance income or
cost’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income within ‘other gains/(losses)

- net’.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEGEBORME (4)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

24 HEEBRE (&)
(c) EEAQT

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the

group entities (none of which has the currency

of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have

a functional currency different from the

presentation currency are translated into the

presentation currency as follows:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate

at the date of that balance sheet;

income and expenses for each statement
of comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the rate on

the dates of the transactions); and

all resulting exchange differences are
recognised as a separate component of

equity.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

FEREG A BORME (5])

2.4 HEBRE (R)

102

(c) Group companies (continued)
On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in
foreign operations, and of borrowings are taken
to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation
is partially disposed of or sold, exchange
differences that were recorded in equity are
recognised in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income as part of the gain or loss

on sale.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the

items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the statement of comprehensive income

during the financial period in which they are incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EEGFEIBORBEE (57)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 25 YE- -BERRE (E)
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is M- BERZEENTENEZE
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate STECRMAEFAEAFHERKAD
their cost to their residual values over their estimated BE=HFMpEE - BAFTHEOT

useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 40 years BF 405
Leasehold 5 years or the remaining term HEWMEEE  SFRREEHEY
improvements of any non-renewable lease, B 88 T F 2
whichever is shorter (ABEERE)
Machinery 5 — 10 years 125 52104
Fixture, furniture and 5 years HE R 5%
equipment B
Motor vehicles 5 — 10 years =R 52104
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are BENHGKREERAFEAFHES
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of MEMARETERN REEERE
each reporting period. R
An asset's carrying amount is written down finl & EE 7Y B [ B A8 38 L b 5t AT i (=)
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's R A& ZE A BR T B B R =
carrying amount is greater than its estimated Hrle &5 (f:F2.8) °

recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by HEEANKEREBEBLEER
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount FIERIEEEmEMEE YR E
and are recognised within ‘General and administrative frmElak [ —RRERITEHASZ] A
expenses’ in the consolidated statement of R o

comprehensive income.

trEgeERAE —2-2F8% 103



104

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

£ Dk S 5 i o0 B ik

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields
and is not occupied by the Group is classified as
investment property. Land held under operating
leases are accounted for as investment properties
when the rest of the definition of an investment
property is met. In such cases, the operating leases
concerned are accounted for as if they were finance
leases. Investment property is initially measured at
cost, including related transaction costs. After initial
recognition at cost investment properties are carried at
fair value, representing open market value determined
at each reporting date by external valuers. Fair value is
based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary,
for any difference in the nature, location or condition
of the specific asset. If the information is not available,
the Group uses alternative valuation methods such as
recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash
flow projections. Changes in fair values are recorded in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

as part of “other gains/losses, net"”.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Intangible assets

Computer software and web site

Costs associated with maintaining computer software
program and web site are recognised as an expense
as incurred. Development costs that are directly
attributable to the design and testing of identifiable
and unique computer software and web site controlled
by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when

the following criteria are met:

o It is technically feasible to complete the software

and web site so that it will be available for use;

o Management intends to complete the software

and web site, and use or sell it;

o There is an ability to use or sell the software and

web site;

o It can be demonstrated how the software and
web site will generate probable future economic

benefits;

. Adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell
the computer software and web site are available;

and

o The expenditure attributable to the computer
software and web site during its development can

be reliably measured.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Intangible assets (continued)

Computer software and web site (continued)
Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as
part of the software and web site cost include the

development employee costs.

Other development expenditures that do not meet
these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs previously recognised as an expense

are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Acquired computer software and web sites are initially
capitalised at cost which includes the purchase price
(net of any discounts and rebates) and other directly
attributable cost of preparing the asset for its intended
use. Direct expenditure including employee costs,
which enhances or extends the performance of the
computer software beyond its specifications and which
can be reliably measured, is added to the original cost
of the software. Costs associated with maintaining the
computer software are recognised as an expense when

incurred.

Computer software and web site costs recognised as
assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives,

which are between 3 and 10 years.

Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible
assets is capitalised only when it increases the future
economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to
which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as

incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting

date.

Assets held for sale

Assets are classified as assets held for sale when their
carrying amount is to be recovered principally through
a sale transaction and a sale is considered highly
probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying
amount is to be recovered principally through a sale

transaction rather than through continuing use.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EEFIBORKE (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Financial assets 210 &MEE
Loans and receivables BB EWSIE

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. They are included in
current assets, except for maturities greater than 12
months after the end of the reporting period. These are
classified as non-current assets. The Group's loans and
receivables comprise ‘trade and other receivables’ and
‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the balance sheet (Notes
2.13 and 2.14).

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date — the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at
fair value through profit or loss. Loans and receivables
are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

2.11 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired
and impairment losses are incurred only if there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss event (or
events) has an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets

that can be reliably estimated.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Impairment of financial assets (continued)
The criteria that the Group uses to determine that
there is objective evidence of an impairment loss

include:

Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or

obligor;

o A breach of contract, such as a default or

delinquency in interest or principal payments;

o The Group, for economic or legal reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to
the borrower a concession that the lender would

not otherwise consider;

o It becomes probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

o The disappearance of an active market for that

financial asset because of financial difficulties; or
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEGFTBUORMEE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.11 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

2N EREERE (&)

110

o Observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows from a portfolio of financial assets since
the initial recognition of those assets, although
the decrease cannot yet be identified with
the individual financial assets in the portfolio,

including:

(i)  adverse changes in the payment status of

borrowers in the portfolio; and

(i)  national or local economic conditions that
correlate with defaults on the assets in the

portfolio.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of

impairment exists.

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the
amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. If a loan has a variable interest
rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment
loss is the current effective interest rate determined
under the contract. As a practical expedient, the
Group may measure impairment on the basis of an
instrument’s fair value using an observable market

price.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEGFTBUORMEE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

2N EREERE (&)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised (such as an improvement
in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the
previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in

the statement of comprehensive income.

2.12 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods comprises
newsprint paper and printing consumables. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable

selling expenses.

2.13 Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are amounts due from
customers for merchandise sold or services performed
in the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are

presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for

impairment.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and
deposits held at call with banks with original maturities

of three months or less.

2.15 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,

from the proceeds.

2.16 Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Accounts payable are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-

current liabilities.
Payables are recognised initially at fair value and

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income over the period of the borrowings using the

effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of
the reporting period.

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income, except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly

in equity, respectively.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEGFTBUORMEE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued) 2. 18 ENEA RIEEFT B (8)

114

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantially
enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be

paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for
if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance
sheet date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred

income tax liability is settled.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEGFTBUORMEE ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued) 2. 18 ENEA RIEEFT B (8)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences

can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not

reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the

balances on a net basis.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits
(a) Pension obligations

Full time employees of the PRC entities
participate in a government mandated multi-
employer defined contribution plan pursuant to
which certain pension benefits, medical care,
unemployment insurance, employee housing
fund and other welfare benefits are provided to
employees. Chinese labor regulations require the
Company to accrue for these benefits based on
certain percentages of the employees’ salaries.
Management believes full time employees who
have passed the probation period are entitled to

such benefits.

The Group has no further payment obligations
once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expense when they are due and are reduced
by contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in
the contributions. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is

available.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.19 Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Employee leaves entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave and long service payment as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the
reporting date. Employee entitlements to sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until

the time of leave.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses, based on performance and takes
into consideration the profit attributable to
the Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is
a past practice that has created a constructive

obligation.

Equity-based compensation

The Group operates employee share option
scheme, under which the entity receives the
services from eligible participants as consideration
for options to acquire ordinary shares of the

Company.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.19 Employee benefits (continued)

(d) Equity-based compensation (continued)

The fair value of the employee services received
in exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair

value of the options granted:

o including any market performance

conditions;

3 excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions
(for example, profitability, sales growth
targets and remaining an employee of the

entity over a specified time period); and

3 excluding the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for

employees to save).

Non-market vesting conditions are included
in assumptions about the number of options
that are expected to vest. The total expense is
recognised over the vesting period, which is the
period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of

each reporting period, the Group revises its

estimates of the number of options that are
expected to vest based on the non-marketing
vesting conditions. It recognises the impact
of the revision to original estimates, if any, in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income, with a corresponding adjustment to

equity.

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010

2

FEREG A BORME (5])

219 EEERN (&)

(d) ARESERNTH

(&)

PASR Hh BB B A S B O (8 B AR 75
AR EBEDERR/FAX
FTXHENESBDH2RBERE

BhREALEEERE:

e BREREMMBHRBAM

g

o TEEEMMRYENIET
BRARBIREZTE
(BIERTA s € B RS 2 42 7
S HERRBERLE
BREMERZER)

&

s TEEFBBHRMH (W
BREEEZME) -

FMEREBIGRTREREEME
HEBNERERENRR
e BN R ERREER
M B 78 %5 € 55 B8 R 1R 10 s I
MER-RNEREHR XK
BER] ERHBHRBEIEN SR
BRERBOBERERE D
st - AKREEA G 2E K

RERERGEEEFT (WFH)
VR E W ELRER

%o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

£ Dk S 5 0 o Wi ik

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEGFTBUORMEE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (continued) 219 EEEH (&)

(d) Equity-based compensation
(continued)
The cash subscribed for the shares issued when
the options are exercised is credited to share
capital (nominal value) and share premium, net of

any directly attributable transaction costs.

2.20 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not

recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even
if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one
item included in the same class of obligations may be

small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as

interest expense.
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2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEGFTBUORMEE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition 221 AR

120

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods and
services in the ordinary course of the Group's activities.
Revenue is shown net of value-added tax, returns,
rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within

the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount
of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity
and when specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group's activities as described below. The
Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking
into consideration the type of customer, the type of

transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(a) Publishing and advertising
The Group's role in the provision of services on
publishing and advertising is that of a principal.
When deciding the most appropriate basis for
presenting revenue or costs of revenue, both
the legal form and substance of the agreement
between the Group and its business partners are
reviewed to determine each party’s respective role

in the transaction.

Hence, revenue from publishing and advertising
services is recognised on a gross basis when
services are rendered for the creation, production
and placement of advertising materials through

all media.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

(b) Barter transaction

(c)

When services are exchanged or swapped for
services which are of a similar nature and value,
the exchange is not regarded as a revenue

generating transaction.

When services are rendered in exchange for
dissimilar services, the exchange is regarded as
a revenue generating transaction. The revenue
is measured at the fair value of the services
received, adjusted by the amount of any cash
or cash equivalents transferred. When the fair
value of the services received cannot be measured
reliably, the revenue is measured at the fair value
of the services provided in a barter transaction,
by reference to non-barter transaction involving
similar services, adjusted by the amount of any

cash or cash equivalents transferred.

Online Services

Revenue from online services is recognised when
the services, including electronic publications,
online advertisements and website maintenance
and technical services, are rendered. Revenue
from online services provided over fixed periods
is recognised on straight-line basis over the

respective period.

2 ERGHEIBORBE (5)

221 W AR (&)
(b) BEXRS

(c)

ARG AR R BRI E
REENREE KB TEH
BREEWANKS -

RERB R AERBEE 2
BERREEBRANRZ S K
ARSI RGO D R EE
AEOYHRERNRESARS
FEEEBNSBFEHRAR -2
FrERR 5 80 & 7 B EEOAA
SETER  WAZ2E L REAU
RENFEZTERS BHER
SR RB O A EER
E UREBENRSIBAEF
EREENSHEELARE

# #% BR %%

B RBBARRERE (2
REF R BEES LB
R N Bl AR 75 ) By BE AR o IR
[E] 7E HA T B2 4 B 48 4 BR 75 A
K& B HRRBEREEER -

THERERAE —T-TFEEFEH

121



122

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

£ Dk S 5 8 o0 B ik

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

(d) Distribution management, consulting

(e)

(f)

and printing services
Revenue from distribution management and
printing services is recognised as the services are

delivered to the customers.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance
that the grant will be received and the Group will

comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants receivable are recognised as
income over the periods necessary to match them
with the related costs which they are intended to
compensate, on a systematic basis. Government
grants relating to expenses are shown separately

as other income.

Rental income

Rental income from investment property is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income on a straight-line basis over the term of

the lease.

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010

2

FEREG A BORME (5])

221 W AR (&)

(d) Z#HEE - HH RN RS

7 $HE 72 e BNl AR 75 M A TR BR
BRINTFEFRERER -

(e) BUFFBY

fHRE B EARE GBS BUF B
RAE BT A A K &
o AZEMBRAAEE

& W AT o8 B I 0 R HRA TR A 2%
FHFERR U A B E AR A
ERARRI B AR - EF AR
128 O IR 78 B 1 2 EL A U A (B

IR

() HEWA

REMENHSWAREHRA
REGREEGEE2E RS RE

=7
o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

£ Dk S 5 0 o Wi ik

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEGFTBUORMEE ()
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.22 Leases 2.22E

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks
and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor
are classified as operating leases. Payments made
under operating leases (net of any incentives received
from the lessor) are charged to the statement of
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the

period of the lease.

The Group leases certain property, plant and
equipment. Leases of property, plant and equipment
where the Group has substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership are classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease's
commencement at the lower of the fair value of the
leased property and the present value of the minimum

lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability
and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate
on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding
rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included
in other long-term payables. The interest element
of the finance cost is charged to the statement of
comprehensive income over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period. The
property, plant and equipment acquired under finance
leases are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life

of the asset and the lease term.
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2

3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.23 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s

shareholders and directors, where appropriate.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value
interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
overall risk management program focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance. The Group has not used any
derivative financial instruments to hedge its risk

exposures.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates principally in the PRC.
Majority of recognised assets and liabilities
are denominated in RMB and majority
of transactions are settled in RMB. The
Group does not hold or issue any derivative
financial instruments to manage its

exposure to foreign currency risk.

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
3.1 Financial

risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i)

(1)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

As at December 31, 2010, the Group has
cash deposit denominated in US dollar
and HK dollar. If RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 2% against USD with
all other variables held constant, pre-tax
results for the year ended December 31,
2010 would have been approximately RMB
1,081,000 (2009: RMB 8,000) higher/lower,
mainly as a result of foreign exchange
differences and translation of the US dollar
denominated cash deposit. If RMB had
weakened/strengthened by 2% against HKD
with all other variables held constant, pre-
tax results for the year ended December
31, 2010 would have been approximately
RMB8,906,000 (2009: RMB16,000)
higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange differences and translation of the

HK dollar denominated cash deposit.

Price risk
The Group is not exposed to any equity

securities price risk or commodity price risk.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 WAEmEREE R (5)
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BIEBEEE (&)

(a) M5 Ak ()

(i) HERERIAIEE
T BB
AEBEWNEEREE
KA RITERAF
MEZHHHNERSAE
EEmHRSRENER
B iz AR T 2 HIAF
BAEFANRS AR
i o LARIE A R H e ts
REeAEEERHRAE
B ERER -

(a) Market risk (continued)

(iif)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises mainly
from bank borrowings. Borrowings issued at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk which is partially offset
by cash held at variable rates. Borrowings
issued at fixed rates expose the Group to

fair value interest rate risk.

During the year, the Group had the FAN - RNEBEHEFUATE

following types of borrowings: KAER
2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T R ARETIT
Fixed rate: & E R =
Short-term bank loans, g HiIRITE 3 B I
secured - 4,000
Other loan EihE R = 2,740
Amounts due to related FEISBEE A T3R8
parties (Note 32 (c)) (F3E32(c)) 157 36,847
157 43,587
Variable rate: FERE:
Short-term bank loans, g HiIRITE 3 BRI
secured 50,000 40,520
Other loan HEE & 4,607 =
54,607 40,520

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
3.1 Financial

risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(iif)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(continued)

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to
interest rate risk on its variable rate bank
deposits and borrowings at the balance
sheet date and prepared assuming the
amount of bank deposits and borrowings
outstanding at each balance sheet date was

outstanding for the whole year.

At December 31, 2010, if interest rates had
been 100 basis points higher/lower with all

other variables held constant, the Group’s

post-tax profit for the year ended December
31, 2010, would have been RMB546,000
lower/higher (2009: RMB405,000 lower/
higher), mainly as a result of higher/

lower interest expense on floating rate

borrowings.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on group basis. Credit
risk primarily arises from trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, amounts due from
immediate holding company and related parties
and cash and cash equivalents including pledged
bank deposits included in the consolidated
balance sheets and represents the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its

financial assets.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to its trade receivables. The Group has policies in
place to ensure that sales are made to customers
with an appropriate credit history. In addition,
the directors review the recoverable amount of
each individual trade debt regularly to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are recognised for

irrecoverable debts.

Amounts due from immediate holding company
and related parties are continuously monitored by
assessed the credit quality of counterparty, taking
into account its financial position, past experience
and other factors. Where necessary, impairment
loss is made for estimated irrecoverable amounts.
As at December 31, 2010, the amount due from
immediate holding company and related parties

are fully performing.

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables from the Group’s five largest
customers in aggregate to the Group's total trade
receivables are 30.6% at December 31, 2010
(2009:38.3%).

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
cash and bank and restricted cash are placed
with reputable financial institutions which
management believes are of sound credit quality

and without significant credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements for
maintaining sufficient cash and the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities to meet its liquidity

requirements in the short and longer term.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the balance sheet
date to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within
12 months equal their carrying balances, as the

impact of discounting is not significant.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

3 Bk B (A1)

3.1 BIEKREZE (&)

(c)

nBERR (&)

Group Less than 1 year
rEH 1E R
RMB'000
ARBEF T

At December 31, 2010 R=Z-ZF+=A=+-—H
Trade and other payables B 5 I CH fth f& 1~ ;I8 105,706
Borrowings (R 57,549
Amounts due to directors [T E S FHIA 1,973

Amount due to immediate FET BB R A R FRIE

holding company 1,731
Amounts due to related parties FERT B E A T 5RIA 1,439
168,398

At December 31, 2009 R-ZBZBAF+Z-A=1T—H
Trade and other payables B 5K E M E NI 41,048
Borrowings f& 48,534
Amounts due to directors JEE EFIE 1,374
Amounts due to related parties JE R A 7008 60,942
151,898

Company Less than 1 year
AT 18R
RMB'000
AR T T

At December 31, 2010 R-Z2-2F+-A=+—-H
Other payables H b e 5 5RI8 26,672
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE <1 B B8 A R SR I8 80,191
106,863
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 B b B (A
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 MBRABEE (&)
(d) Fair value estimation (d) AREEME
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial rEENeREERERBE
assets and financial liabilities including cash and (PREREeRELZEER -
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, B 5 R E A EWGRIE - ERE
amounts due from immediate holding company BEiEiR A | R B E A T RRIE
and related parties, trade and other payables, B REMEBEMNZIE  ERK
borrowings and amounts due to immediate ENEZEERARRBEEAL
holding company and related parties approximate RIE)MEEEREEAAEBE
their respective fair values. iEEE
3.2 Capital risk management 3.2 EXRKBER
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to EEAEE L AEENEREARR
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going EARSBEFEL S R EEELE
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders BIEE ) Bk AR R IR Bl 3 & &
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an HBEER A THRFZE AR
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. HREARNERNEENREES
B o
In order to adjust the capital structure, the Group may RABRERERE AEBENZHE
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, k% T IR A AR S5 - BATHAR (D
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. FHEEBE  NEIRERE-

tHERERAR —T-TFF#H 13
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AP B e B
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 W A B (A
(continued)
3.2 Capital risk management (continued) 3.2 EXEBRER (&)

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing REBRBEEEABERERER-
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings ZUHEREHEEBBERATAE
divided by total assets, as shown in the consolidated REBRUNBEETE - AEER
balance sheets. During the year, the Group's strategy FANKBEESBEEABERERE
was to maintain a gearing ratio below 40%. The 40% AT - R_E—ZTEFR_ZZT
gearing ratios as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 were NFET+ZA=+—HWEEAREX

as follows: R
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR% T AR¥T T
Borrowings B3 54,607 47,260
Amounts due to related parties B REEA LT RA 157 36,847
Total borrowings e R 4a = 54,764 84,107
Total assets BEE 1,285,003 499,588
Gearing ratio BEAGBE 4% 17%

1 32 ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND ASSUMPTIONS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Revenue recognition for barter transactions
When services are rendered in exchange for dissimilar
goods or services, such as when the Group receives the
rights to sell or receive the proceeds of a sale of real
estate properties in exchange for advertising services
the Group provide to certain of our real estate industry
customers, the exchange is regarded as a revenue-
generating transaction. The revenue from such barter
transactions is measured at the fair value of the related
real estate properties received, adjusted by the amount
of any cash or cash equivalents transferred. When the
fair value of the rights to the real estate properties
received cannot be measured reliably, the revenue is
measured at the fair value of the goods or services
provided in the barter transactions, by reference to
non-barter transaction involving similar goods or
services, adjusted by the amount of any cash or cash

equivalents transferred.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Revenue recognition for barter transactions
(continued)

As at December 31, 2010, the Group has these assets
held for sale in the PRC of RMB29,848,000 (2009:
RMB22,885,000), respectively, and these were included
in ‘assets held for sale’ on the consolidated balance
sheet. Should the fair value of the real estate properties
increase/fall by 10%, the Group’s post-tax profit would
have been RMB2,594,000 higher/lower, for the year
ended December 31, 2010 (2009: RMB1,948,000

higher/lower).

Allowance for doubtful accounts

The Group makes allowance for doubtful accounts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the
trade and other receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each
debtor. Impairments arise where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts
requires the use of judgment and estimates. Where
the actual result is different from the original estimate,
such a difference will impact the carrying value of the
trade and other receivables and bad and doubtful debt
expenses in the year in which such estimate has been
changed. If the financial conditions of the debtors
were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their
ability to make payments, additional allowances may
be required. Details of allowance for doubtful accounts

is described in Note 10.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

(c)

(d)

Income taxes

The Group is principally subject to income taxes in the
PRC. Significant judgment is required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current
income tax provision and deferred income tax assets
and liabilities in the period in which such determination

is made.

Impairment of assets

The Group follows the guidance of IAS 36 “Impairment
of Assets” to determine when assets are impaired,
which requires significant judgment. In making this
judgment, the Group evaluates, among other factors,
the duration and extent to which the recoverable
amount of assets is less than their carrying balance,
including factors such as the industry performance
and changes in operational and financing cash flows.
For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest level for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows (a CGU). The
recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
require the use of estimates, including operating
results, income and expenses of the business, future
economic conditions on growth rates and future

returns.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Impairment of assets (continued)

Changes in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount of the assets is based could
significantly affect the Group’s financial condition and

results of operations.

Estimated fair values of investment properties
Investment properties are stated at fair value based
on the valuation performed by an independent and

professionally qualified valuer.

In determining the fair value, the valuer has based
on property valuation techniques which involve,
inter alia, certain estimates including comparable
sales in the relevant market, current market rents for
similar properties in the same location and condition,
appropriate discount rates and expected future market
rents. In relying on the valuation report, management
has exercised their judgement and is satisfied that the
method of valuation is reflective of the current market

condition.

Engaging in the business of internet publication
The Group is providing the electronic dissemination
services through its online website www.duk.cn.
However, according to the Interim Provisions for the
Administration of Internet Publication (the “Interim
Provisions”), which was jointly promulgated by the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology and
General Administration of Press and Publication of the
PRC (“GAPP") on June 27, 2002, a company may not
engage in the business of internet publication without

obtaining an internet publication license.

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)

(f)

Engaging in the business of internet publication
(continued)

In April 2010, the Group applied to GAPP for the
license pursuant to the Interim Provisions to provide
electronic dissemination services to newspapers,
magazines and other publishers through the Group's
online website www.duk.cn and has obtained the
internet publication license as requested by the Interim
Provisions on December 15, 2010. The Group has been
providing the above electronic dissemination services
prior to the Group’s obtaining the license, as such the
Group would face the risk of penalties and sanctions,
including confiscation of publication equipment and
any relevant illegal profit, being ordered to cease
operations and a fine of an amount up to ten times
of the Group's relevant income generated from such
business. As advised by the Company’s PRC legal
advisor, the Group’s risk of being subject to such
penalties is minimal. As at December 31, 2010, the
Group had not been subject to any of such penalties

imposed by the relevant authorities.

5 REVENUES

Revenues from external customers are derived from the

provision of newspaper advertising services to advertisers in

the PRC, online services, including electronic dissemination

of publication and provision of online system development

services to newspaper publishers, and the provision of

distribution management, consulting, printing services,

television and radio advertising, outdoor advertising services

and activities. The amount of the Group's five largest

customers in aggregate to the Group’s total sales are RMB
70,569,000 at December 31, 2010 (2009: RMB 68,330,000).

o o i it Al MR (A)
(f) REEBAHRES ()

RZZE—ZTFMA AEEERE
BORERFEEREZEREZEB
AN 52 B 48 HEwww. duk.cnlA) 3R 4% - 5
R E MR EREE T ERS
WA YER-_T—ZTF+=
A+ HEBBSEITHE ERH B
A8 tH M 5T AT RE o AN R B RN ERAS RT AT
B —HRELEREFH RS-
AN 52 [ ok T 6 R S R Y
R\ Bg - B 452 UL I AR 5% 48 I AE AT 4B
BEEBERN BB RIEEE
REEAREEE BEBAEER
WASEHEKU TR EBARR
AR EARBERAEN AEE
EXAHRSNEREM -BEZ
T—EF+-A=+—H X5H
WAREZBEADPINERES -

&
REAINBEFHRZFER AP EESER
PREJEESRY BERS (B2FH
IRYEE F 9 8 R A A LR RS
EREFRERY)  URRBHBETER.
H - ERIRYE BERKESESERS -
FPONBERBRESH R_T—FTF+=
A=+—R AEERARFHARER
HEBEMNELE A ARMT0,569,0007T
—ZEZNF: AR%68,330,0007T) °

THERERAE —T-TFEEFEH
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REVENUES (continued) Wtk (45)
Analysis of the revenues by category is as follows: ZERE SR SN DT
2010 2009
—E—EF —ETNF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET AREF T
Newspaper advertising WBES 408,654 371,772
Online services 48 4% iR 7% 65,310 47,061
Distribution management, consulting and BITE R - 5 K EN R AR 7%
printing services 41,538 44,134
Television and radio advertising BEREEAE 14,438 -
529,940 462,967

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Board of Directors has been identified as the chief
operating decision maker. Management has determined the
operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the

Board of Directors that are used to make strategic decisions.

The Board of Directors assesses the performance of the
Group's publishing and advertising businesses from both
geographic and product perspectives. Geographically,
management considers the Group’s publishing and
advertising businesses are primarily operated in the PRC.
All of the Group's publishing and advertising businesses
activities are included in a single reportable segment in
accordance with IFRS 8 “Operating segments”. As such, no

segment information is presented.
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BN
B P B R Bk
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - 7 W W Rkt — AR
GROUP
Fixture,
Leasehold furniture
improve- and Motor
Buildings ments Machinery ~ equipment vehicles Total
2B HGRE
B HENEZHE HE B RE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETr AR¥Tn ARBTT ARETn  ARETn
At January 1, 2009 R=ZENF-B-H
Cost KA 2,822 1,338 35,447 5,350 4,827 49,784
Accumulated depreciation 2itE (142) (895) (7,970) (1,985) (903) (11,895)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,680 443 27,477 3,365 3,924 37,889
Year ended December 31,2009 EHZ-EEAE+-A=1-H
LEE
Opening net carrying amount FNEAFR 2,680 443 27,477 3,365 3,924 37,889
Additions AE - 48 - 693 1,232 1,973
Disposals HE - = = (20) = (20)
Depreciation (Note 24) & (Miz24) (67) (167) (3.414) (1,050) (594) (5292)
Closing net carrying amount EREAFE 2,613 324 24,063 2,988 4,562 34,550
At December 31, 2009 R-EEAE+-A=t-H
Cost KR 2,822 1,386 35,447 6,023 6,059 51,737
Accumulated depreciation RiiE (209) (1,062) (11,384) (3,035) (1,497) (17,187)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,613 324 24,063 2,988 4,562 34,550
Year ended December 31,2010 HZ-E-BF+-fA=1-
ALEE
Opening net carrying amount FUREFE 2,613 324 24,063 2,988 4,562 34,550
Additions NE - 9,465 7,260 1,880 5,350 23,955
Disposals HE - - = 3) (208) 211)
Transfer to Investment properties ~ HARENE
(Note 8) (FizEs) (898) - - - - (898)
Depreciation (Note 24) 78 (W324) ) (391) (3,689) (1,117) (842) (6,081)
Closing net carrying amount FRREFE 1,673 9,398 27,634 3,748 8,862 51,315
At December 31, 2010 R-Z-BF+-A=t-H
Cost KA 1,801 10,851 42,707 7,900 11,149 74,408
Accumulated depreciation ZEME (128) (1,453) (15,073) (4,152) (2,287) (23,093)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,673 9,398 27,634 3,748 8,862 51,315
+EBRERAT —T-TEEH
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AP B e B
7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - 7 W W Rkt — AR
GROUP (continued) (%)
Depreciation of the Group's property, plant and equipment AEEHNYE BEMRENEDIETI
has been charged to the consolidated profit and loss as FRE B KRB
follows:
2010 2009
—E2-ZF ZTEENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Cost of sales $HE K AR 3,817 3,674
General and administrative expenses — B RITHREX 2,264 1,618
Total mEt 6,081 5,292
The Group's buildings at their carrying amounts are analysed AEEEFRERMESNET :
as follows:
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T AR¥T T
Buildings in the PRC KA ENEF 1,673 2,613
As at December 31, 2010, no buildings with net book value R-ZE—ZSF+_-_F=1+—8 HEEF
(2009: RMB898,000) were pledged as collateral for the EEMEATSEERNERR (ZEF
Group's borrowings, (Notes 15 and 16). As at December NE BREFE A RES898,0007t) (K
31, 2010, machinery with net book values of approximately F15K16) R-ZE—FF+ - =+—
RMB8,515,000 (2009: RMB23,479,000) were pledged as A EREFELN ARKS5150007T (=
collateral for the Group's borrowings (Notes 15 and 16). T NF: AR¥23,479,0007T ) H) # 25
WHEIRE AR EE AR ERm (M5
%16) °
Depreciation on buildings of RMB42,000 (2009: RMB67,000) HE-_ZT—ZFF+-_A=1+—HILFE"
for the year ended December 31, 2010, has been charged to BFEHEARKAL2,000 (Z BT HF:
“General and administrative expenses”. AE#67,0007T) B [ —f RITEFSZ
Rl
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A F 5 R Bk
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - GROUP 8 WEWE—-AKEHE
2010 2009
—F-BF —TENF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T

At beginning of the year REF - =
Transfer from property, plant and equipment — #4¥1%  BE M R E B A 898 -
Surplus directly credit to revaluation reserve BEEFTAEGBRZHED RS 919 -
At end of the year RER 1,817 -
As at December 31, 2010, investment properties of carrying R-E—ZFF+_-_F=1+—8 ~&£EEPE
value of RMB1,817,000 (2009: nil) were pledged as collateral EIFEREEAR%1,817,000L (ZFZE
for the Group's borrowings (Notes 15 and 16). NFE-E)NREWE UERLREEE
FHHE AR R (FRE15516) ©

The Group's interests in investment properties at their REBRREMENEREERED T

carrying amounts are analysed as follows: IR
2010 2009
—E-ZF —TENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBT T ARBF T

In the PRC, held on: KA TS G RFFE :

Leases of 10-50 years 10E50F WA 4 1,817 =

tHERERAR —T-TF#H 141
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Ok 0 75 R Bk
9 INTANGIBLE ASSETS - GROUP 9 MIPHE-ALH
Computer
software Web site Total
B E #8135 @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARSTT AREFTRT ARETT
At January 1, 2009 R=ZFZhF—HA—H
Cost P 2R 1,542 3,106 4,648
Accumulated amortisation E X (329) = (329)
Net carrying amount BREFER 1,213 3,106 4,319
Year ended December 31,2009 EHEZE-ZEEAFE+=-A=1+-—
HiItEE
Opening net carrying amount FEHEEFRR 1,213 3,106 4,319
Additions NE 15 - 15
Amortisation (Note 24) B (M5E24) (254) (311) (565)
Closing net carrying amount FRREFER 974 2,795 3,769
At December 31, 2009 R-EBEZEAF+=-A=+—H
Cost BN 1,557 3,106 4,663
Accumulated amortisation E £ (583) (311) (894)
Net carrying amount R FER 974 2,795 3,769
Year ended December 31, 2010 HE=-ZE—ZFF+=-A=+-—
HIEFEE
Opening net carrying amount FEHEEFRR 974 2,795 3,769
Additions NE 1,030 - 1,030
Amortisation (Note 24) 5 (MsE24) (290) (311) (601)
Closing net carrying amount FORAREFE 1,714 2,484 4,198
At December 31, 2010 R-FE—ZF+-A=+—8H
Cost X X 2,587 3,106 5,693
Accumulated amortisation E £ (873) (622) (1,495)
Net carrying amount B FER 1,714 2,484 4,198

The amortisation of intangible assets has been charged to

“General and administrative expenses”.
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10 TRADE RECEIVABLES - NET — GROUP

10 B 5 BEWOGRIE — 38— AR

2010 2009

—E-ZF —ZETNF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T AR¥T T

Trade receivables Z 5 kI8 261,799 156,034
Less: provision for impairment of B 5 EWRIB R E B &

trade receivables (7,170) (1,732)

Trade receivables — net B 5 W TE - F 5 254,629 154,302

The fair values of trade receivables approximate their BHRERFEN QA EEEHEREEM

carrying values.

The payment terms with customers are mainly on cash on
delivery and on credit. The credit periods ranging from
30 days to 365 days after end of the month in which the
relevant sales occurred. Aging analysis of the Group’s trade

receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

Eo

BEP—MIREF MR R ARG e
EEBRNFELEAHEE S AERE
30HE365H TN E - AEEKE 5 FEUGK
BEREBEEFHZAHNERRITAT

2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
RMB’‘000 RMB'000
ARE T ARETFIT
1 — 30 days 1230H 33,373 32,102
31 - 60 days 31£60H 26,661 19,180
61 — 90 days 61£90H 20,510 9,451
91 — 365 days 91%365H 142,671 80,306
Over 1 year —F M E 38,584 14,995
261,799 156,034

Less: provision for impairment on BB 5 EWGRIBR AR
trade receivables (7,170) (1,732)
Trade receivables — net B 5 W EIE — F5E 254,629 154,302
+EERERAT —T—TEFR
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10 TRADE RECEIVABLES - NET - GROUP
(continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are

denominated in RMB.

As at December 31, 2010, trade receivables of
RMB50,974,000 (2009: RMB24,601,000) were past due
but not impaired. These relate to a number of independent
customers for whom there is no recent history of default and
the repayment period is consistent with the Group’s practice.

The aging analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

10

B 5 WK IH — R — AR
(%)
REBESEKHENEEEARE
HE -

RZZE—TF+_A=1+—H BIEK
I AR #50,974,0007T (Z T h 4
AR #24,601,0007T) 2 #8918 3 K R
BHoZERBTABOPTEEDRE L
ZEBURFPABRAENEEIE —
B-ZEE9RWRIBERERESTAT

2010 2009
—E-ZF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AREBTT

Past due 1 — 30 days #E1Z=30H

Past due 31 — 60 days #HA31E60H
Past due 61 — 90 days #HI61 2908
Past due over 91 days BEI9TH M £

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010
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10 TRADE RECEIVABLES - NET - GROUP

(continued)

As at December 31, 2010, trade receivables of RMB7,170,000
(2009: RMB1,732,000) were impaired and provided for.
For the year ended December 31, 2010, the amounts
of the provision charged to the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income were RMB5,438,000 (2009:
RMB858,000). The individually impaired receivables mainly
relate to customers which are in unexpected difficult

economic situations. The aging of these receivables is as

10 B 5 BEWOGRIE — 38— AR

(%)

RZZE—TF+A=1+—H BIEK
FIBARK7,170,000L (ZETNF:
AK#1,732,0007T ) BB ST B -
HE—ZT-ZTHE+-_A=+—-BIEE"
REM2EBERIKR 2 BESEAA
[R#5,438,000L (ZZETNF: ARK
858,0007T) - AR E M EE MR EEE
HERBIINCERRNEFEM 25k

follows: WRIB R ERBR D AT R0 ¢
2010 2009
—E-ZF —EENF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T AREFIT
91-365 days 91%&365H 842 277
Over 1 year —F M E 6,328 1,455
7,170 1,732

Movements on the Group's provision for impairment on

trade receivables are as follows:

AEERESEREREHESBE RN

T

2010 2009

—g-®8F -—ETAL

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT T AREF T

At beginning of year RER 1,732 874
Provision for impairment on trade receivables  J& YRR I8 35 {8 5 4 5,438 858
At end of year RER 7,170 1,732
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10 TRADE RECEIVABLES - NET - GROUP

11

(continued)

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables
have been included in “General and administrative
expenses” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income (Note 24). Amounts charged to the allowance
account are generally written off, when there is no
expectation of recovering additional cash. Apart from the
trade receivables with impairment provided, the remaining

trade receivables do not contain impaired assets.

The maximum exposures of the Group to credit risk as at
December 31, 2010 and 2009 were the carrying value of
trade receivables mentioned above. The Group does not hold

any collateral as security.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

10 B 5 BEWOGRIE — 38— AR

(%)
EURRERERBNEERBERD A
EHEEKRERN [—RETERAX] R
(KfiE24) - ETEHIA TREW @ RO BRI R
S BRELAGBERENEE - RSH
o BREAERER I E 5 BRI
HMB S REFRAETSEREERE-

RZBE-—ZFERZZBENFT_A=+—
H AEEEGNEAGEERBR R EME
SEWSRIENEREE A BV EFEE
REREEMAERS -

11 FHAFRIE - #2483 A 8 ok

RECEIVABLES JH
Group 2010 2009
REE —E-ZF —TENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥BT AR¥ET T
Non-current portion: FERNEAEL 5 -
Prepayment for long term investment RHEIZ & K TE 1T /I8 98,000 -
Deposits to newspaper publishers BT WA HRENIRS 92,000 60,000
o tempoe 0Ly
Current portion: BNEREL & :
Prepayments T FOE 124,620 98,488
Deposits and other receivables e N H b fE Uk 5 IE 63,153 47,329
L
Total #eE 377,773 205,817
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11 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES (continued)

11 FEAT RO ~ 32 5 e 3 b g ok

H (#)

Company 2010 2009
PiN/NE]| —E—EF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARE T AREFIT

Other receivable E i pE W 5008 26,672 =

The carrying amounts of the Group's prepayments, deposits

and other receivables are denominated in RMB.

Prepayment for long term investment

Prepayment for long term investment represents cash paid
by the Group to a metropolitan newspaper publisher in the
PRC in relation to the potential establishment of a jointly
controlled entity with the metropolitan newspaper publisher.
The prepayment will be refundable upon the earlier of the
termination of the plan to establish the jointly controlled
entity or December 31, 2011 which is the target date to

complete the potential investment.

Deposits to newspaper publishers

Deposits to newspaper publishers represented cash paid by
the Group to certain metropolitan newspaper publishers
in the PRC pursuant to exclusive agreements between the
Group and newspaper publishers. Under the terms of the
agreements, the Group has obtained the exclusive rights
to sell advertising space of the respective newspapers for a
fixed term from 7 to 30 years and it has to transfer specified
amount of cash to the newspaper publishers. The cash held
by the newspaper publishers will be repayable to the Group
upon the expiry of the agreements. The Group assesses
the recoverable amount of the deposits on each balance
sheet date and the carrying values of these amounts are
written down immediately to their recoverable amounts if

recoverable amounts are less than the carrying values.

AEBHIENIE RE R EMRUKTIR
WEEEEAAREE:.

RERENASRE
EHRRENENRBREARE A L8R
B — % #R T AR A S KRR R
BMRENORE - BAKIEH AR
R ARES EEAEHI T ——F
T-A=+t—H (AEXEERENE R
BH) (ARFBEERE)EM -

BTHRELRENRE
BTREEMEANEZSEAEBREAR
SEBERE LR LA B K R F
BIE TEHMREREZTOERS - BIRZ
ZEHEMGER AEEDNGEHEBRARKE
EEERBBEREN  BREFE R/7E30
FomMEBRBRALREEERTNR S
B - MALIREFAFEENR B ERZ
[EmeRREAEE AEERSHEER
FERem B S5 Sl B S EE
RERTEE - 7% % FRIA 6 BRI {E & B R U
ZHKEI SR

THERERAE —T-TFEEFEH

147



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

£ Dk S 5 8 o0 B ik

11 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 11 FEAFFRIE ~ 4 e H Al JRE ez

148

RECEIVABLES (continued)

Prepayments

Under the terms of the exclusive advertising agreements
with metropolitan newspaper’s contract, the Group also
has to make prepayments for print media advertising to the
newspaper publishers, the amounts prepaid to newspaper
publishers can be used to offset the fees payable where
the amount of prepayment available. During the year
ended December 31, 2010, the Group has entered into co-
operative arrangements with television operators and has to
make prepayment to the television operator in accordance

with the contract.

The future aggregate minimum advertising payments under
non-cancellable exclusive advertising agreements are as

follows:

H (#)

R FRIE
RIBBRE S ik RS LR
ZRER B TR /B 5t EV Rl 4R 68 /2 45 R ¥R AR Al
AN IR AR L RE AN B KRR
AREREEMNNER (HERAIHEE AN
BNREEHE) REBEE_FT—FTF+=
A=+—BLFE FAEEEBRELD
RIS EEREE WEARBENAERES
B RN FRIR

TAREBRESHENBRKERS
@B mT

2010 2009
—E-ZF —EENF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETF T
Not later than 1 year —F PR 248,279 254,939
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years —FAERAFNUAT 606,819 499,098
Later than 5 years AFLE 2,162,000 2,160,000
3,017,098 2,914,037

Deposits and other receivables ReERHEMEWNKIE

Deposits and other receivables primarily comprised cash paid
to contracted newspaper and television partners as deposits
for operation rights. The deposits are interest-free and are
refundable at the end of each year or on request under

mutual consent.
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12 ASSETS HELD FOR SALE - GROUP 12 FifE g E - AL
The Group's assets held for sale includes the following: AREBENFREHEEERIENATIER -

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFR  ARETL

Properties held for sale FEHEWE 29,848 22,885
The properties in the PRC were received in exchange of B 28 T 5 TR AR B S b EE B B S AR
advertising services to real estates developers in the PRC. The EERBRERG AEEE K RHEEZ
Group's intention is to sell these properties and, accordingly, Sy Bt EHEENEIHEE 8
such rights are recognised as assets held for sale upon the AEFMRTKESHER SHFERIER
completion of the advertising sales transaction if the related EHEEE-

property is ready to be sold.

Cash flows associated with the disposal of assets held ERALEREHEEENRERERT
for sale are presented under “operating activities” in the REHRERER[KLETE] T-HE
consolidated statement of cash flows. The gain/loss on RIEHEEENKE BB Rk
disposal of assets held for sale are recorded in “other afftEEWaER [HMBA] R IT—8& K
income” and “general and administrative expenses” in TR A-

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,

respectively.

13 INVENTORIES - GROUP 13 8- AK4EH
2010 2009
—B-BF —TThE
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARET T

Newsprint and printing consumables 7 4R K BRI B #E 5,287 3,954
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14 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Group's cash and cash equivalents are denominated in

14

Bl& kBl &FHEEA

AEBEZRERBEEEBRBTIA TG

the following currencies: BHGHE:
Group 2010 2009
AEH —E-ZHF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREFIT
Cash at bank and on hand: RITNEFHEIRE:
Denominated in RMB KARKEE 46,627 39,394
Denominated in HKD LAV TTETHE 445,315 838
Denominated in USD AZETTEHE 54,059 411
546,001 40,643
Maximum exposure to credit risk XN EER R 544,250 38,526
Company 2010 2009
PiN/NE] —E-ZF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T AREEF T
Cash at bank: R1ITIE &
Denominated in HKD LA TR E 189,801 =
189,801 -

Cash in bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily

bank deposits rate. The carrying amounts of the cash and

cash equivalents approximate their fair values.
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B P B R Bk
14 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 14 Bi& KBI&SMEEE (4)
(continued)
Bank and cash balances amounted to approximately RZE—TF+_A=+—H RITER
RMB546,001,000 as at December 31, 2010 (2009: THEEBRK R ARS46,001,000T (= F
RMB40,643,000), were denominated in RMB. Conversion T NF: AR¥40,643,0007T) * HAA
of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's REE ARBEBAINEREFHE
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration SNEE B I G0 R A5 EE - B RATEEE AR
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange E °
Regulations.
15 PLEDGE OF ASSETS 15 ¥ fik
The Group had the following pledge of assets as collateral to REFEERATEEERE R m - AR
secure the Group's bank borrowings (Note 16): HASERMRITEE (ME16) :
2010 2009
—E-2F —ZEENEF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ T AREEF T
At net book value: 1R FE
Buildings in the PRC (Note 7) KB REF (Fa7) - 898
Machinery (Note 7) #e2s (MiaE7) 8,515 23,479
8,515 24,377
At fair value: BARBE:
Investment properties (Note 8) "EYZE (H5E8) 1,817 =
10,332 24,377
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16 BORROWINGS - GROUP

16 Ak — A<M

2010 2009
—B-BF -—TTHE
RMB’‘000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T

Non-current liability: FnBEE

Other loan EMER 2,789 =

Current liabilities: mENEE -

Short-term bank loans, secured WMERITER . A 50,000 44,520

Other loans HAanE 1,818 2,740
51,818 47,260
54,607 47,260

Borrowings of RMB 50,000,000 as at December 31, 2010
(2009: RMB 44,520,000) were secured by the Group’s
machinery and investment properties (Note 15). These loans

are used to finance daily operations.

The weighted average effective interest rate at December
31, 2010, was 5.6% per annum (2009: 5.3% per annum).
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16 BORROWINGS - GROUP (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are

denominated in RMB and approximate to their fair values.

(a)

The maturity of the total borrowings at respective

balance sheet dates is as follow:

16 flak— A& M (4)

2010 2009
—B-BF —TTHE
RMB’‘000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T

Within 1 year —FLATR
Between 1 to 2 years —FEMF
After 2 and within 5 years MEERF

51,818 47,260
1,783 =
1,006 =

54,607 47,260

THERERAE —T-TFEEFEH
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17 TRADE, OTHER PAYABLES AND 17 ©& 5 - H b BEAF 3K 08 I RE 5t #¢

ACCRUED EXPENSES

H

Group 2010 2009
REH —E-2F —ZETAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT T
Trade payables B 5 RIE 4,164 3,722
Other payables and accrued expenses: HMENKERETER:
Accrued utility expenses and other liabilities  FE&F A HE &R = &
Hi B & 848 992
Accrued salaries and welfare fEstEH & Mg A 3,175 5,064
Value added tax and other taxes payable AR E M EMATIE 29,323 25,100
Other payables H b & 518 67,920 2,144
Deposits from customers REBEFEWEZE® 4,299 9,090
Receipts in advance T8 5t Y BY A 30 IE 9,260 14,055
114,825 56,445
118,989 60,167
Company 2010 2009
NG —¥-¥F -TThE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARET T
Other payables and accrued expenses: HMERNRIERETER :
Accrued salaries and welfare s E & REF 258 -
Other payables H b & 5 FR I8 26,672 =
26,930 -

Payment terms granted by suppliers are mainly on cash

on delivery and on credit. The credit periods ranging from

30 days to 365 days after end of the month in which the

relevant purchase occurred.

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010
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A ORI B i i
17 TRADE, OTHER PAYABLES AND 17 ©& 5 ~ HoAth FE Ak sk 00 S g 5t ¢
ACCRUED EXPENSES (continued) M (%)
The aging analysis of the trade payables based on the date B S REMNZIERBEWNE BB RE DT
of receipt of goods is as follows: U
2010 2009
—E-ZF —EENF
RMB’‘000 RMB'000
AR T AREFIT
1 — 30 days 1230H 1,463 1,751
31 - 90 days 31£90H 808 441
Over 90 days 908 A E 1,893 1,530
4,164 3,722
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade payables are all REBERE S ENFIARREDEZS MU
denominated in RMB. AREEGHE -
DEFERRED INCOME TAX 18 #BIE B 43 Bt

18

No deferred income tax asset has been recognised in respect
of the RMB5,257,000 of tax losses as at December 31, 2010
(2009: RMB 2,792,000) as it is not probable that the relevant
subsidiaries of the Group will generate taxable profits to
utilise the tax loss in the foreseeable future. Such tax losses

have an expiry period of five years.

Under the EIT Law and implementation regulations
issued by the PRC Government, withholding tax of 10%
or a lower treaty rate is imposed on dividends declared
in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from
January 1, 2008 onward. Deferred income tax liabilities of
RMB41,151,000 for the year ended December 31, 2010
(2009: RMB24,499,000), have not been recognised for the
withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries because the
Group has no intention to remit such unremitted earnings in
these subsidiaries in the PRC in the foreseeable future. As at
December 2010, unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries
amounted to RMB411,505,000 (2009: RMB244,987,000).

R-ZE—ZF+-_F=+—H AXEE
FEREM S A B A 7] B = A e AR B i A
AR AT B 2R K AR I 5 18 - i B mE A
R¥5,257,000c (ZZEZThF: ARK
2,792,0007T ) & %t 18 &5 18 1 SRR E FT 15
MEE ZEHIABEERABRRE -

BRI BT REMA B ERENERE
&f - B =FTN\F— A — B iREH K
B~ 7Bt AT BB B B R B IR B R 10%
SREBEHEBRFENR -HE=—F —
EFE+-_A=+—BIEFE BETHE
N AR B S A B AN TR H0 B R E A B IR
meE A ARE41,151,000C (ZZEZ A,
& AR #24,499,0007T ) B IE IE FT 15 B
BERERR ScEAAEEEER
ARARRELZERBEMNEQRRMGE
wmH-RZE—TF+ A BETHEBR
&) B9 R A BB 48 A1) 3 A R ¥6411,505,0007T
—ETNF: ARME244,987,0007T) °

THERERAE —T-TFEEFEH
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19 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

19 JBAR K B A i 1

Equivalent
Nominal nominal
Number of value of value of
ordinary ordinary ordinary Share
shares shares shares premium Total
EBR
EERYE LEREE ZEAE RAEE “E
HK$ RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BT ARETT AERETT ARETT
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each at RZEEAF+ZAAAL
December 9, 2009 and December RZZ-TER=TTN
31, 2010 and 2009 (Note (a)) F+-RA=+—-AGKA
HO 1B TH L AR
(i) 2,000,000,000 0.1
Issued: BT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each at RZEENET-_ANER
December 9, 2009 and January 1, “T-Z5-F-HER
2010 (Note (a)) EE0BTHE AR
(FisG@) 1 0.1 - = =
Allotment of new ordinary shares of Fe R G RAEE. 1B TA
HK$0.1 each (Note (b)) MEER (MEb) 549,123,120 54,912,312 43,284 190,657 238,941
Share issued in connection with the RERBERTRG
Global Offering (Note (c)) (M) 183,042,000 18,304,200 15,576 456,365 471,941
Share issuance costs BRI - - - (106,711) (106,711)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each i S S
at December 31, 2010 =+-AERAEMECIAT
ML @R 732,165,121 73,216,512 63,860 540,311 604,171
Notes: BT &
(@) The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on (@ ZARERZTZNF+_ANLBEHZ
December 9, 2009 with an authorised share capital of HK$ B Sk - A RE MR 4200,000,000
200 million divided into 2,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.1 B I 9 A2,000,000,000% & i E
each. On the same date, the Company issued and allotted one 018 THRM - R B - KRR [ A EX
share, credited as fully paid at par, to China TopReach. M7 REEE —RIZEEARI AT
RIBR 17 ©
(b)  Pursuant to a resolution dated January 18, 2010 and a share by REBHA-Z—ZF—A+NAAH
subscription agreement on February 5, 2010, the Company's ARERER-ZZE—ZTF_HAAABFZ
issued share capital was increased from RMBO.1 to RMB RN REHZE A AEHEEITRA
48,284,000, by the issuance of 549,123,120 shares of HK$0.1 2% B3 17549,123, 120/ & X {50.1
each. BITHRNDBARBOITEEARK
48,284,0007T °
(c)  On December 3, 2010, the Company issued 183,042,000 new (0 R-ZE—ZTF+_-_A=H XQRAGZZ

shares of HK$0.1 each in relation to the Global Offering.

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010
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20 RESERVES
(@) Group

The details of movement in the Group's reserves are set

out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity

on page 78:

()

Statutory reserves

The statutory reserves represent reserves of the
PRC incorporated companies which are set aside
for future development purpose in accordance
with the regulations in the PRC. The allocation is
based on certain percentages of these companies’
profit for the year, as reported in their statutory

financial statements.

Pursuant to the PRC regulations and the
companies’ respective Articles of Association,
each of the Group companies is required
to transfer 10% of its profit for the year,
as determined under the PRC Accounting
Regulations, to a statutory common reserve
fund until the fund balance exceeds 50% of the
Group company’s registered capital. The statutory
common reserve fund can be used to make good
previous years' losses, if any, and to issue new
shares to shareholders in proportion to their
existing shareholdings or to increase the par value
of the shares currently held by them, provided
that the balance after such issue is not less than

25% of the registered capital.

Each of the Group companies is also permitted to
transfer a certain percentage of its profit for the
year as determined under the PRC Accounting
Regulations, to a discretionary common reserve
fund. The transfer to this reserve is subject to

approval at shareholders’ meetings.

20 f#EfH

(a) &=&HE
A G N R B E RN E78E
MAGEEEDR

(i) EERE
R W e T B R AL A B
LR ER B WRBETEDER
R ER o LD BT B X
ERAEETE M B IRERAPTR
MERGNO—FEB DL

RETEEBRERRAREB
MERAR AREEKER
A 78 1% 12 1 B & 5T 2 Al P At
HOFEREMO10%ENETE
NEE BEERLNTEDHERE
BAEEKE QAR EMER
H50% < JAE ~TES Al N
MAREEER (WA) 75
R A F AL I AC % M AT
A T A BR S 4 0 A 3R 3R 5 B
Rl mE(E BRERET
BE SRR A DR E AR
25% °

ER B F BB AR Al R
B & 5t 4 Al Pt S5 B9 F 0% A
METAESHEBAFRERR
ToRBEERARBRRASE

t+trERERAR —T-T65% 157
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20 RESERVES (continued)

(@) Group (continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Capital reserves

Capital reserves represent cash contributions
to Olympia Media, Fujian ShiFang and Beijing
HongXinTu by the Underlying Shareholders.

Equity-based compensation reserves

The equity-based compensation reserves
represented the fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of the
share options which is recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for equity-

based compensation in Note 35.

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation

of the investment properties to their fair values.

(b) Company

20 fakths (#4)
(a) A%E (%)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

BN fwtm
BAREEERERREREE
BwBETH RIERBREE
HE) IR 2 K-

LREARERNETNREE
VA RR #E /5 EL I 1 37 M % 486 45 DA
BB RS E 8 RIEH
AABE BEAAREBAETIER
PR BLFT 523589 LA BG4 A E T &Y
HNER A S5 BURTER

BB
EfREEEREMEANEE
EfHER-

(b) &27F

Accumulated

Equity-based

compensation

deficits reserves Total
IRERERD
RETE A B mE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBTTT ARBF T
Balance at January 1,2010 R=-Z—-ZF—A—HK
2323 - - -
Total comprehensive loss for FRAEZEEBELE
the year (5,520) - (5,520)
Equity-based compensation VAR 42 7 BT 1) 365 B - 5,263 5,263
Balance R=2-ZF
at December 31, 2010 T-A=t-RAW&ER (5.520) 5,263 (257)

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010
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21 INVESTMENT IN A SUBSIDIARY - 21 A ME A R s - AN
COMPANY G|

2010
—g-25
RMB’000
AR T

JE TR A A 342

Unlisted shares, at cost

FREJIN-F-—FE+-A=+—8

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries of the

Company as at December 31, 2010: ZEBEWBAR:
Place and date Issued or Effective
of incorporation/ Principal registered/paid interest held as
Name establishment activities Legal status up capital at December 31,
A ERTHREM/ R+=A=t+-H
A1 MR R B TEXH EEMY BARA FENERESR
2010 2009
—E-BF C—TTNF
Directly owned subsidiary:
EEREHEAR:
Olympia Media Holdings Limited The British Virgin Islands, Investment holding Limited liability US$50,000 100% 100%
("Olympia Media") December 13, 2005 company
REEREEERAT EBERREE REER EREERH 50,000% 1T 100% 100%
(TREEE]) —“TTRE
+=A+=H
Indirectly owned subsidiaries:
BEEEMELR:
Beijing BaiChuanDuKe Science and  Beijing, the PRC, Provision of technology Limited liability RMB1,000,000 100% 100%
Technology Co., Ltd. November 14, 2006 promotion and company
consultancy services
ErEEERHNRERAR RELR SRAL BT 4 FE T BREARA AR #1,000,0007 100% 100%
—ZERE i IR
+—-A+mA

THERERAE —T-TFEEFEH
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21 INVESTMENT IN A SUBSIDIARY -

COMPANY (continued)

21— [T B A R R B — AR A
" (#)

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries of the T&RET R —ZEF+_A=+—H
Company as at December 31, 2010: (continued) ZIKE’HE/—\ (&)
Place and date Issued or Effective
of incorporation/ Principal registered/paid interest held as
Name establishment activities Legal status up capital at December 31,
R, ERTHEM/ Rt=A=t+-H
A% Bt %R A TEXR SRR BaRE RHRNERER
2010 2009
ZE-BF —ITThE
Beijing HanDing Advertisement Beijing, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability HK$2,500,000 100% 100%
Co., Ltd. August 8, 2007 advertising services company
ErERESERAT HEL R RE2HUEE RS EREERH 2,500,000 70 100% 100%
“ZZEFNANR
Chongging ShiFang Culture Chongging, the PRC Provision of full- line Limited liability RMB2,000,000 100% 100%
Communication Co., Ltd. January 19, 2006 advertising services company
("Chongging ShiFang”)
BEETAXILERERAT TEERE RE2 RS RS BERAAERH AR #2,000,00070 100% 100%
(TEE+H]) “TTRF
—AthA
Dalian ShiFang Dalian, the PRC Provision of advertising Limited liability RMB2,000,000 100% 100%
Media Co., Ltd. February 8, 2007 services company
(“Dalian ShiFang")
ABTHBRAERAR REAE REEERS EREERH AR #2,000,0007 100% 100%
(TRE+H]) “TTH5-ANR
Dongkuai (Fuzhou) Investment Fuzhou, the PRC Provision of investment Limited liability RMB500,000 100% 100%
Consultancy Services Co., Ltd. July 13, 2007 consultancy services company
RR(BINREZARBERRR  PEENMN HEE & AR BERAEARH AR #500,00070 100% 100%

:??titﬁ+£5
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INVESTMENT IN A SUBSIDIARY -
COMPANY (continued)

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries of the

Company as at December 31, 2010: (continued)

21 A HHE A F R E - A s
A (%)
TERFIN-_F—FF+-A=+—8
ZEEWMAR: (M)

Place and date Issued or Effective
of incorporation/ Principal registered/paid interest held as
Name establishment activities Legal status up capital at December 31,
TEMRIL ERTHEM/ R+=A=t+-H
A8 Bt %R A TEXR EEM BaRE FENERES
2010 2009
ZE-BF —ITThE
Fujian ShiFang Culture Fuzhou, the PRC Provision of full- line Limited liability RMB46,000,000 100% 100%
Communication Co., Ltd. November 1, 2000 advertising agency company
(“Fujian ShiFang”) services
BETAXCERERAF hE M RERTUEERERY FAREFRE  AR46,000,0007T 100% 100%
(MEg+nl) “ZZZE+—f—H
Fujian ZhiYuan Fuzhou, the PRC Provision of newspaper Limited liability RMB3,030,000 100% 100%
Media Co., Ltd. September 3, 2002 advertising agency company
services
REZGEEERAA RE M REBEESKERB  AREERA AR #3,030,0007 100% 100%
“ZT-FNhR=A
Fuzhou AoHai Fuzhou, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMB1,000,000 100% 100%
Advertisement Co., Ltd. February 19, 2008 advertising agency company
services
RMNEERSERAA e M RERTUEERERY FAREERF AR #1,000,0007C 100% 100%
“TENEZA+ANH
Fuzhou DongKuai Fuzhou, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMB500,000 100% 100%
Media Co., Ltd. June 9, 2005 advertising agency company
services
RMRREZERAF e M RERTUEERERY AREERF AR #500,0007 100% 100%
“ZTRFARANA
tHERERAT —T-2F5#% 161
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21

INVESTMENT IN A SUBSIDIARY -
COMPANY (continued)

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries of the

Company as at December 31, 2010: (continued)

21— [T B A R R B — AR A
" (#)

T T

TRHEIN-F

=

#+=A=+-H
ZEEMBAA: (B)

Place and date Issued or Effective
of incorporation/ Principal registered/paid interest held as
Name establishment activities Legal status up capital at December 31,
B3 BRTHREMR/ R+=A=t+-H
A1 [Zve:ck 4= TEER EEWA EARE FENERESR
2010 2009
—2-BF C—TTNF
Fuzhou HanDing Network Science &  Fuzhou, the PRC Investment holding Limited liability RMB 190,000,000 100% 100%
Technology Co., Ltd. April 30, 2008 company
RMNESBEMRERAF ST REER AREARE  AR%190,000,0007 100% 100%
“ZZ\EFMA=1H
Fuzhou HongXinTu Printing Co., Ltd.  Fuzhou, the PRC Provision of printing Limited liability RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
(“Fuzhou HongXinTu") September 21, 2006 services company
RMBREEBERA A ST RALENRIARTS EREMERR  AR¥%10,000,0007T 100% 100%
(TEMBEE]) —ZTRE
ANAZ+—H
Gloria Fair Limited Hong Kong, Provision of advertising, Limited liability HK$10,000 100% 100%
November 2, 2001 investment and company
internet services
ERERAA & REES KER EREERH 10,000/ 7 100% 100%
ZTT-F1+—-AZB GEHBRY
Hung Hing To Publishing Limited The British Virgin Islands, Provision of publishing Limited liability US$622,500 100% 100%
December 13, 2005 and advertising company
services
BEEEETERAA EBRERAREE. SR I R B o IR 75 EREERH 622,500% 7T 100% 100%
“ZTRE
+ZA+=H
Kunming AoHai Advertising Co.,Ltd. ~ Kunming, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMB1,000,000 100% 100%
March 3, 2008 advertising services company
ERREESERAA TEEHR RE2 TSRS EREERT AR #1,000,0007 100% 100%
ZETTN\¥=R=AH
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21 INVESTMENT IN A SUBSIDIARY -
COMPANY (continued)

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries of the

Company as at December 31, 2010: (continued)

21 A HHE A F R E - A s
A (%)
TERFIN-_F—FF+-A=+—8
ZEEWMAR: (M)

Place and date Issued or Effective
of incorporation/ Principal registered/paid interest held as
Name establishment activities Legal status up capital at December 31,
EMRIL BRTHEM/ R+=A=t+-H
A% Bt H R A TEXR EEM BARE FENERES
2010 2009
“E-BF ZTTNF
Kunming HongLianXin Printing Kunming, the PRC Provision of publishing Limited liability RMB23,000,000 100% 100%
Co. Ltd. July 22, 2005 and printing services company
("Kunming HongLianXin")
EHABMRENBERA A TEEHR SR H R B EN R AR 75 EREMERR  AR¥%23,000,0007T 100% 100%
([EHABLBR]) “ZTRELR
—+=H
Liaoning AoHai TianYi Media Shenyang, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMB5,000,000 100% 100%
Advertisement Co., Ltd. March 17, 2008 advertising services company
BERGR—ERREERLA hEES REEFHUEE RS EREERH AR #5,000,0007C 100% 100%
“TT\F=A+tH
Shenyang ZhuQin Shifang Media Shenyang, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMB1,000,000 51% 51%
Development Co., Ltd. September 10, 2007 advertising services company
("Shenyang ShiFang")
EERRTIERERERLA hEES REEHUEE RS EREERH AR #1,000,0007C 51% 51%
(NEHTAHD “ZZHENATH
Shifang YaQi Culture Xiamen, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMB2,000,000 100% 100%
Communication (Xiamen) Co. Ltd December 27, 2004 advertising services company
THEEXER (EF)ARRE  HEEM REEHUEE RS BREARH AR #2,000,0007C 100% 100%
“TTME
T=A++H
trERERAR —T-TF48% 163
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21 INVESTMENT IN A SUBSIDIARY -
COMPANY (continued)

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries of the

Company as at December 31, 2010: (continued)

21 A HHE A F R E - A s
A (%)
TERFIN-_F—FF+-A=+—8
ZEEWMAR: (M)

Place and date Issued or Effective
of incorporation/ Principal registered/paid interest held as
Name establishment activities Legal status up capital at December 31,
EMRIL BRTHEM/ R+=A=t+-H
A8 Bt H R A TEXR EEM BARE FENERES
2010 2009
—E-BF ZTTNF
Tianjin ShiFang Advertisement Tianjin, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMB1,000,000 100% 100%
Media Co., Ltd. February 13, 2007 advertising services company
(“Tianjin ShiFang")
RETHTREEEEERAH RERE RE2HEE RS EREERH AR #1,000,0007C 100% 100%
(TRE+H]) “TT+F-RA+=A
Xiamen DuKe Information Science &  Xiamen, the PRC Provision of technology Limited liability RMB11,000,000 100% 100%
Technology Co., Ltd. February 24, 2006 promotion and company
("Xiamen DuKe") consultancy services
EFEEEEMRERAR hEEM RERMERRFZARYE FAREERE  AR11,000,0007T 100% 100%
(TEFEE]) kY2
“A=t+mA
ZhiYuan Fuzhou Culture Fuzhou, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMB1,030,000 100% 100%
Communication Co. Ltd November 2, 2006 advertising services company
& (BN L BEER R A M RE2HUEE RS EREERT AR #1,030,0007 100% 100%
“ZZRE+-AZH
ZhiYuan (Xiamen) Culture Xiamen, the PRC Provision of full-line Limited liability RMB1,000,000 100% 100%
Communication Co. Ltd January 12, 2005 advertising services company
& (EF) XL BRERRA hEEM RE2HUEE RS EREERT AR #1,000,0007C 100% 100%

—TERE-A+ZH
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INVESTMENT IN A SUBSIDIARY -
COMPANY (continued)
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries of the

Company as at December 31, 2010: (continued)

21 A HHE A F R E - A s
A (%)
TERFIN-_F—FF+-A=+—8
ZEEWMAR: (M)

Place and date Issued or Effective
of incorporation/ Principal registered/paid interest held as
Name establishment activities Legal status up capital at December 31,
EMRIL BRTHEM/ R+=A=t+-H
A% Bt H R A TEXR EEM BARE FENERES
2010 2009
“E-BF ZTTNF
Guizhou Qianzhong Newspaper Guizhou, the PRC, Provision of publishing Limited liability RMB 4,000,000 100% -
Industry Printing Co. Ltd June 3, 2010 and printing services company
EMBTRENBERAF REEM $R 4t AR % ED R PR 75 BREARH AR #4,000,0007C 100%
“Z-ZFXAR=A
Guizhou Shifang HanDing Guizhou, the PRC, Provision of full-line Limited liability RMB 10,000,000 100% -
Media Co. Ltd October 20, 2010 advertising services company
EMTHERERERAT HEEMN RE2HUEE RS EREERAR  AR¥10,000,0007T 100%
“Z-ZE+AZ+H
Special purpose entity:
KHRENER:
Beijing HongXinTu Culture Beijing, the PRC Provision of publishing Limited liability RMB 30,000,000 100% 100%
Communication Co., Ltd. July 2, 2004 services company
("Beijing HongXinTu")
IR BEEXCERERAR HEL R RAL I R AR 7S EREMERR  ARY30,000,0007 100% 100%
(MHERBEE]) “ZEMELAZA
trERERAR —T-TF48% 165
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22 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO)
SUBSIDIARIES - COMPANY

The balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free

and repayable on demand.

23 OTHER INCOME - NET

22

23

HEW, " (HEAT ) B I 2 W #A sk JEL
— A4 ]
RHBEARZ BB DRER 2ORES
KA -

HoAt e N\ — B
2010 2009
—g-8F —TTAF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

Sale of newsprint papers $H 6 37 B AR
Sale of scrap material $H 5 SR BE MR
Government grants I 4 B
Sundry income WA

The Group has recognised government grants of
RMB4,293,000 (2009: RMB1,945,000) from the Fujian
government authority for the year ended December 31,
2010, as an incentive to expand the business and develop
the economy in the PRC. This incentive is granted as the
relevant subsidiaries of the Group have taxable profits for

the respective years.

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010
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24 PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 24
Profit before income tax is stated after charging and

(crediting) the following:

5 Bt 45 o i ¥ A
WA SRR RGN R (5 A) AT E
N+

2010 2009
—E-EF —ZETAEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBF T
Auditors’ remuneration % 2R B & 937 62
Cost of newspaper advertising AR E S A
- Media costs — A 222,864 209,283
Cost of online services 48 4% R 75 B X 2,021 1,123
Cost of television and radio advertising BEREAESHA
— Media costs — BB AN 11,070 =
Cost of distribution management, BITEIR - 550 R ED R AR 7%
consulting and printing services: PR 7
- Raw material — R # 4,317 3,630
- Media costs —EERA 4,71 4,188
— Other costs —E MK 1,420 1,003
Depreciation (Note 7) e (HsE7) 6,081 5,292
Amortisation (Note 9) B (M1 5E9) 601 565
Operating lease charges in respect of BRELHNREFH
land and building KEHEWRE 3,354 3,696
Net loss on disposals of property, LEYE - BE REED
plant and equipment 18 %58 60 17
Provision for impairment on B 5 e W RIE R B BB
trade receivables (Note 10) (Hfz£10) 5,438 858
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) SNERSE, (Was) F 58 2,969 (178)
Employee benefit expenses (including EERAFX
directors’ emoluments) (Note 25) (BREEEMH)
(Ht3E25) 49,765 38,746
Business tax BEM 21,108 17,487
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Ok 0 75 R Bk
25 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 25 1@ B A A S (A6 35
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ %)
EMOLUMENTYS)
2010 2009
—E-BF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARETIT
Salaries and other allowances e M EMRL 40,590 35,458
Equity-based compensation expenses VA RR 193 7 25 18 Y 357 B B S 5,263 -
Discretionary bonus B IETEAL 339 797
Social security costs HIRE A 1,561 1,025
Retirement scheme contribution BIRET B30 2,012 1,466

49,765 38,746
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25 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS) (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments
The remuneration of every director of the Company
paid/payable by the companies now comprising the
Group for the years ended December 31, 2010 and
2009 is set out below:

25 f@ BB (RiGHE B )

(%)

(a) EEM2
HE_Z—ZTER_FTENFTZ
A=+—HBLEFE REEAKETE
BERAREN TENEARRSES
e ImT :

Year ended December 31, 2010
BE-Z-BET-A=+-HLEE

Salaries
and other

Fees  allowances

ik
RMB000

HER

Rt
RMB'000

ARBTT  AR®TR

Social  Share-based
Discretionary security compensation
bonus cost (Note 35) Total
SR A
ERHFHH
ilpiay HRER (K3E35) &t

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTT  AR%®TR  AR%TR  ARETR

Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Chen Zhi BELE - m - - 2,000 2,711
Mr. Hong Pei Feng LR E - 611 - - 527 1,138
Mr. Zhang Tie Zhu Fafts - 695 - 5 1,790 2,490
Non-executive director: FUTES:
Mr. Wang Ping FEEE 10 - - - 105 115
Independent Non-executive ~ BYFHTES:

directors:
Mr. Zhou Chang Ren AELCEE 10 - - - - 10
Mr. Wong Heung Ming, Henry  EREA%EE 10 - - - - 10
Mr. Zhuo Ze Yuan SRR E 10 - - - - 10
Total Bt 40 2,017 - 5 4,422 6,484
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25 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS) (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

25 f@ BB (RiGHE B )

(%)

(a) EEM= (&)

Year ended December 31, 2009

BE-ZENET-A=T-HIEE
Salaries Social  Share-based
and other  Discretionary security  compensation
Fees allowances bonus cost (Note 35) Total
ARG A
Hek AR M
ik H e BTt HRER (F15E35) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFT ARETR AREBTT AREFTR ARETx
Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Chen Zhi BELE - 600 - - - 600
Mr. Hong Pei Feng HEEEE - 600 - - = 600
Mr. Zhang Tie Zhu RELLA - 150 - - - 150
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Mr. Wang Ping FIEE - - - - - -
Independent Non-executive ~ BYFHTES:
directors:
Mr. Zhou Chang Ren RELCEE - - - - - -
Mr. Wong Heung Ming, Henry &% & - - - - - -
Mr. Zhuo Ze Yuan SERLA - - - - - -
Total Fe = 1,350 - - - 1,350

During the year ended December 31, 2010, none of the
directors of the Company (i) received any emolument
from the Group as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group; or (i) received any compensation
for loss of office as a director or management of any
member of the Group; or (iii) waived or has agreed to
waive any emolument (2009: nil).

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the
year ended December 31, 2010 (2009: nil).

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010

REBEE-_FT-—FTF+-_A=+—H
IR - RRBESHE ()AL
B ERB S ERMAREBERMNA
AEBRHER: RNBEEARE
BERKERARMNESREERBK
HR A fa] 8518 < s (i) U Sk A B3R
FaME (—ZThEF E) -

REE-F—FF+-A=+-
B4 - 2 R R A B
REAWSORHE (“FENE:
OF
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5 D 5 T W ke
25 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 25 R HFEAM X (BHEEFHE)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ (%)
EMOLUMENTS) (continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EEEEHFAL
For the year ended December 31, 2010, the five B Z—2ZF+_A=+—HIt
individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the FE - AEBELEEaFALTEE
Group include 3 directors (2009: 2 directors), whose R (ZEENF WMRB)ES H
emoluments were reflected in the analysis presented M\%}iﬁﬁ&ﬁtﬁﬁﬁiﬁlJE’UAWqJ g
above. The emoluments paid/payable to the remaining REBE-Z—ZF+=-A=+—H
2 individuals (2009: 3 individuals) individuals during JtiE'Eﬁ/ﬁ’EéHﬁ%TFﬁ% (=%
the year ended December 31, 2010 were as follows: TNF:=ZF) ATHEISI T
2010 2009
—E-FF —ZETNF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T R AREF T
Salaries and other allowances FokHAmbn 144 962
Equity-based compensation expenses LA & 4 7 EL B 9 357 B A =2 526 -
Discretionary bonus BB TEAL - -
Social security costs HRER 4 7
674 969
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, BE_Z-ZFR_ZFTNFT=
the emoluments of the highest paid individuals of the A=t HLEFE AREEEH
Group fall within the following bands: ATHBE N F TIEE :
Number of individuals
A
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZETAEF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T 2 3

trgprERAd —2-26F% 17
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25 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 25 RBEmAGZ (SHEEHML)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ (%)

EMOLUMENTS) (continued)

() Key management compensation () EEEEEF M

172

2010 2009
—E-EHF —EENF
RMB’‘000 RMB'000
AR T AREFIT
Salaries and other allowances e M H ek 3,289 2,997
Equity-based compensation expenses VA B 42 7 B 1t A9 2 B ) 2 5,263 =
Discretionary bonus 15 TE 4L - =
Social security costs A =] 23 18
8,575 3,015
26 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 26 il B WA O A
2010 2009
—E-FF —EENF
RMB’‘000 RMB'000
AR T ARETFIT
Finance income: BE s
— Interest income on short-term — R HRIT A
bank deposits FEMA 274 46
Interest expense on: FERE:
— Bank borrowings —IRITE (1,462) (3,117)
— Other loans —HEMER = (153)
(1,462) (3,270)
Finance costs — net BEE KA —F 5 (1,188) (3,224)

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A OF W #5 B R B
27 INCOME TAX EXPENSES 27 FifaBiBH X
2010 2009
—®-®F -—TTAE
RMB’‘000 RMB'000
ARET R ARETFIT
Mainland China Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT")  F1 B ARE (b 2 8 Fi
(TEmBRH])

— Current tax — B HEA R I8 24,013 24,956

— Under/(over) provision in prior years —-MBEEEBRETR
(EBRE#E) 342 (311)
Total income tax expenses Fri8®if Sz 458 24,355 24,645

The Group is not subject to Hong Kong profits tax as it has

no assessable income arising in or derived from Hong Kong
during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.

ARARERBE-T—TFR-TF
NET=A=+—BLEFELRRES
EESEEERBMA  ABASMES
R85

THERERAE —T-TFEEFEH
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27 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 27 i RiBASZ (4)

174

Subsequent to the effective date of China Corporate Income
Tax (“CIT") Law on January 1, 2008, Kunming HongLianXin
continued to enjoy its three-year tax exemption period that
commenced from January 1, 2006 with a follow-on two-
year 50% tax reduction through 2010. Fuzhou HongXinTu
continued to enjoy its two-year tax exemption period
that commenced from January 1, 2007 with a follow-on
three-year 50% tax reduction through 2011. Shifang YaQi
was entitled to the grandfathering treatment where the
applicable CIT rate phased-in from 18% to 25% over a
period of 5 years through 2013. Xiamen DuKe accredited as
an approved High and New Technology Enterprise (“HNTE")
located in the High Technology Development Zone, was
entitled to a two-year tax exemption period that commenced
from January 1, 2008 which was included as one of the
transitional preferential treatments stipulated in Circular 39.
Xiamen DuKe was then re-assessed as a HNTE under the new
CIT law regime and become eligible to enjoy a reduced CIT
rate of 15% upon the expiry of CIT holiday in 2009.

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010

RS ([FERCEMRER])
FEEBBEH_ZENF-HA—H% BH
MR _E—TE2FEEETHAC
ZERF-A-HARABRN=FHRERE
H - HEMFOBERY - BN BEER
T FRFHEEZXHEA-_TT L
F-R—BRBROMERBHREE  Hi&
=FOBERY T EHARZERR
FB HERTPECEMGHEEZ T
—=F LT FHRRAZR P ERA18%E25%
B X MERFEIVRBAAETRAEERS
Bz — EFTERT AN &M
EHSFREMEE (TRFRMRE]) -
EREZEXH_TETN\F-—A—HENM
FRIEREH B EMERREBENTE
TEMGREAGEREFRTIERASHK
¥ HEEBR_ZTNFHRELE
FREME % HAfE M 18 = X 15% 8 R %
Bl EEH X
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27 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 27 FREmLRE S (A1)
The taxation on the Group's profit before income tax AN £5 [ R T A5 A0 A e M A B TE B ER AR B
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using AR EE R ERE R & 0 E 8289 m F &Y
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of MEFHHREAFENERSBZENE
the consolidated entities in the respective jurisdictions as CERUNE
follows:
2010 2009
—E-2F —ZETAEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥® TR ARBTF T
Profit before income tax BR BT 15 554 A1 4 7 185,435 165,425
Tax calculated at domestic rates applicable RERANSEREERE R
to profits of the entities in the respective i A E 3T B R St B e B
jurisdictions ] 46,568 39,993
Tax effects of: IATHEENHIELE
— Income not subject to tax — AT A (385) (36)
— Expenses not deductible for tax purposes — AR 2 557 515
— Tax losses for which no deferred income —RBERERLEMEHREE
tax asset was recognised Eoks% g R 1,462 119
— Utilisation of previously unrecognised —RABERERNIES
tax losses | - (1,039)
— Effect of tax holiday —BIEREHANTE (24,189) (14,639)
— Under/(over) provision in prior years — B FE TS S
income tax expenses wrR, (HBREE
) 342 (311)
— Others —H At - 43

24,355 24,645
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27 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 27
The effective tax rate was 13.1% (2009: 14.9%) for the year
ended December 31, 2010.

28 EARNINGS PER SHARE 28

(a) Basic
Basic earnings per share for the years ended December
31, 2010 and 2009 is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to the equity holders of the Company by
the deemed weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue during the year.

The number of ordinary shares used for the calculation
of earnings per share for the year ended December 31,
2009, is the aggregate number of shares which are
outstanding as at January 18, 2010 which included the

ordinary shares issued as part of the Reorganisation of

Fife i B % (4)
HE-_ZT—ZTFE+_-_A=+—HLHF
EHBEEMREAE13.1% (ZZ2T A&
14.9% ) °

5 Ji v A1)

(a) EX
BE_Z-ZEFR-_FFNFT+=
A=+ BLEFENSRENET
TR R RIS R ARG S B
AFRRIEE BT EBBINE TS
BEE-

ARFAEEEZE_TZENAF+ A
=T BLEFESBRH O EBK
BEARR_ZE—ZEF—Ht+/\BE
BT BB A% EEeREME
P ERERE ETETHNEA &

the Group as disclosed in Note 1. D MBETH LB
2010 2009
—E-2F —ETNF
Profit attributable to equity holders of AR E#EzS3E A AFE(R & A
the Company (RMB’000) (AR®ETFT) 161,095 140,819
Weight average number of shares in B BT e T &
issue (thousands) (Fh%) 563,666 549,123
Basic earnings per share (RMB per share) & & 7N 5
(BRARY) 0.2858 0.2564
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28 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 28 i A (4)
(b) Diluted (b) #H

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting BRESEEN DR AEEETER
the weighted average number of ordinary shares AR B9 AN BUARR AT RBE
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive BEYENTERE LIRFTE &
potential ordinary shares. For the year ended December ETTFFT_A=1+—HLHF
31, 2010, the Company’s share options issued under B -AAGIREBEERAMBEEE
the pre-IPO share option was the sole category of IREZETHERERLBEESY

dilutive potential ordinary shares. Z2TEReE—SER -
2010 2009
—E-2F —ZETAEF

Profit attributable to the equity holders AR Al #EZEH A &L % A
of the Company (RMB '000) (ARBTTT) 161,095 140,819

Weighted average number of ordinary BT EBARME T S E
shares issued (thousands) (F M) 563,666 549,123

Adjustment for share option (thousands) &A% 8% (T %) 6,796 -

Weighted average number of ordinary AR ESREFTEFHNE

shares issued for diluted earning per BT E B NGE T B
share (thousands) (B 570,462 549,123
Diluted earnings per share TR E T
(RMB per share) (BERARE) 0.2824 0.2564
29 DIVIDEND 29 S
No dividend has been declared by the Company since its AnE B MR ARE RS E

incorporation.
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FLOWS

30 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH 30 Bl LW EE
(a) Cash generated from operation (a) REMBRR
2010 2009
—E-ZF —TENF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt & AR¥ T AR¥T T
Profit before income tax & BT 15 B4 Al i A 185,435 165,425
Adjustments for: HE
Depreciation e 7 6,081 5,292
Amortisation 5y 601 565
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  BE Rk
plant and equipment RIEEE 30(b) 60 17
Provision for impairment of 2 5 W IE R E
trade receivables BB 10 5,438 858
Finance income Bl & I a 26 (274) (46)
Finance costs & AR 26 1,462 3,270
Equity-based compensation LA B 46 /2 EL 18 A9 5 B
expenses 53 25 5,263 -
Changes in working capital: EEESEF:
— Trade receivables — & 5 el I8 (112,728) (50,396)
— Inventories -FE (1,333) (1,981)
— Prepayments, deposits and —FERRIE -RER
other receivables H fh e Uy 5RIE. (16,569) (53,261)
— Amounts due from —JEUR A& A T FKIA
related parties 19,533 (10,767)
— Trade payables — B EMNKIE 442 (22,610)
— Other payables and — H i JE T SRIB R JE
accrued expenses AR (6,015) 19,795
— Amounts due to — BN EEAN LTI
related parties (1,704) 3,270
Cash generated from operations REMBIRE 85,692 59,431
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30 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH 30

FLOWS (continued)

(b) Disposal of property, plant and equipment

In the statements of cash flows, proceeds from disposal

£ Dk S 5 0 o Wi ik
Bl i B AR ik (%)

(b) HEVWHX BERRE
ReRnERTHEDE BE MR

of property, plant and equipment comprise: EHFTEFRIEEE
2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
Net book amount (Note 7) BREFRE (MEE7) 211 20
Loss on disposal of property, LEME - KE R
plant and equipment HEEE (60) (17)
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEME BE &
plant and equipment R PTIS RIR 151 3
31 COMMITMENTS 31 &%

Operating lease commitments — Group

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases are as follows:

REHENAE-F5E
THRHEEEHOBE THRKREHEE
BB MT

2010 2009

—E-ZF —ZETNF

Not later than 1 year —FE T 2,874 3,168
Later than 1 year and not —FUAERAFNUT

later than 5 years 12,095 9,790

Later than 5 years AFLE 1,788 6,937

16,757 19,895

THERERAE —T-TFEEFEH
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32 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements,
parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant
influence over the Group in making financial and operating
decisions, or vice versa. Related parties may be individuals
(being members of key management personnel, significant
shareholders and/or their close family members) or other
entities and include entities which are under the significant
influence of related parties of the Group where those parties
are individuals. Parties are also considered to be related if

they are subject to common control.

(@) The directors of the Company are of the view that the
following companies/individuals were related parties

that had transactions or balances with the Group

32 BEALZS

MREHTBRERMS  WEALTHEDE
255 (B 1 1 B 7S R A R R B L o P
HAKEMMERATZE %)\iﬂﬂ?ﬁmﬁ
REAEEGRE (R2ZTA)  BE
iﬂlz}(%ﬂ/\(f;z%ﬂf@/\ﬁ‘ixﬂxﬁ
R/ HEERR) SHEAM R - AR
EREEEATAEA - BIREE /\ij‘]— e
RIAEATERAZENRAA - MEAR
AR B KR ﬁ%ﬁi’u\ﬁmfﬁaﬁ/\if’

(a) $"ET§$W7% ATRA/EA

during the year ended December 31, 2010:

Name

=L

Mr. Chen Zhi

&KL

Fujian JinDi Mining Industry Co., Ltd.
RBESWEEFR QA

Fujian ShiFang Digital Technology Co., Ltd.
BETHEBRMAR QA
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AREE_T—ZTFE+_A=1+—
HﬁiEWﬁ$$@ﬁﬁx%ﬁﬁ
BHESNBEEAL

Relationship with the Group
BEAEBANER

Executive director of the Company/Chief Executive
Officer of the Group
RARMITER AEEBERATE

Controlled by the Chief Executive Officer of the Group
HAEEEERITEES

Controlled by the Chief Executive Officer of the Group
HASEEERITEES
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32 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(a)

The directors of the Company are of the view that the
following companies/individuals were related parties
that had transactions or balances with the Group

during the year ended December 31, 2010: (continued)

32 BAEALRS (H)

(@) ARREFRR UTREEA

BRBE_ZT—TF+_A=1+—
BUEFERNEAKEETR S HIF

BREBHEEAL: (B)

Name

=L

TopBig International

AFERERERAA]

Shenyang Si Ling Ling Gou Trading Co., Ltd.

BENEEEEEARAA

Guangxi Nanning Ha Le Tao Trading Co., Ltd.

EAEERLIHEARAA

Beijing Ha Le Tao Electronic Trading Co., Ltd.

ERBEBEFRBEERADA

Fuzhou Development Zone
Xuanhua Industry & Trade Co., Ltd.
BMNAZEERZETZEEBRA A

Relationship with the Group
HASEHER

Controlled by the Chief Executive Officer of the Group
HASEEFERITEES

Controlled by the Chief Executive Officer of the Group
from November 27, 2009 to June 18, 2010

R_BZNFE+T—AZ++tBE_ZT-—ZFXHA+/\H
HAREEFRITEZES

Controlled by the Chief Executive Officer of the Group
from December 22, 2009 to June 18, 2010
A\—EENFF+ A+t HE-_ZT—ZEFA+/\AH
HASESFRITEZES

Controlled by the Chief Executive Officer of the Group
from September 3, 2009 to June 18, 2010

RZBZNFAA=ZBZE_ZE-—ZF AT N\BHAE
BRI

Controlled by a close family of a director of the
Company

HARRE —BEFHTRIES

THEBRERAE —ZT—TFFH
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32 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(a)

The directors of the Company are of the view that the
following companies/individuals were related parties
that had transactions or balances with the Group

during the year ended December 31, 2010: (continued)

PN LR S (%)

AREIEERE UTRAR/AA
RREZEZZE—ZF+-A=1+—
BIEFERNEASEETRHHF
BEBNBAEALT: (8B)

Name

=L

Mr. Qiang Yibing
58 TR ST A

Fujian Jinyi Asia Paper Co., Ltd.

BESEDMAEERAA

Mr. Li Gang
2 M 5 &

Mr. Xu Kaining
HRE S

Xiamen Hongnian Venture
Investment Co., Ltd.
EMRFRIERERR QA

Shenzhen Longbai Investment and
Management Co., Ltd.
RYTEEMREEEERR A A
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Relationship with the Group
HASEHER

A close family member of a director of the Company

RRR—RBREFHNER
Controlled by a close family member of a director of the
Company

BARRQR—BEFERTHIES

Key management of the Group

AEETEEEAR

Key management of the Group

AEETEEEAR

Controlled by a director of the Company

HARE —BEFEH

Controlled by a director of the Company

HARRE —BEFEH
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32 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(a)

The directors of the Company are of the view that the
following companies/individuals were related parties
that had transactions or balances with the Group

during the year ended December 31, 2010: (continued)

32 BAEALRS (H)

@ ARAEFREBE UTRAAA
RREZEZZE—ZF+-A=1+—
BIEFERNEASEETRHHF
BEBNBAEALT: (8B)

Name

=E
Shenzhen Zhongke Hongyi Venture
Investment Management Co., Ltd.
RITHREZRIEREEBEGR QA
Quan Zhou Shifang
Advertising Company Ltd.

EM+HTEEBERAT]

Mr. Hong Peifeng
HIFE R E

Mr. Zhang Tiezhu

SREIESLE

China TopReach
1 B K 3

Xiamen Zhishang Trading Co., Ltd.

EFfELRHBEERAA

Relationship with the Group
HASEHER

Controlled by a director of the Company

BHARR—BEFZH

Controlled by the Chief Executive Officer of the Group

HASEEFERNTEZH

Executive director of the Company

ARAER

Director of the Company/Chief Financial Officer of the
Group.
KRBESE /AEBEREHBE

Immediate holding company

BEREERAA

Controlled by a close family member of a director of the
Company

BARQR—BEERTHIES
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32 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

32 BAEALRS (H)

(continued)

(@) The directors of the Company are of the view that the @ ARAEFREBE UTRAAA
following companies/individuals were related parties ARBE_ZT—ZTF+A=1—
that had transactions or balances with the Group HIEFEAERREEBETR ST
during the year ended December 31, 2010: (continued) BrRANBEALT: (&)

Name Relationship with the Group
2B HEASENERE

Xiamen YuanTong Communication Co., Ltd
EfTBEEERAA
Xiamen Yuanliu Cultural

Communication Co., Ltd.

EFERXILEERERAR

Ms. Zheng Shouling
Brhe L+

Mr. Chen Ziquan
BRI R SE A4

Fuzhou Yagi Art Originality Co. Ltd.

BMEHBMAZERA A

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010

Controlled by a close family member of a director of the
Company

BARR—BEFERTHRIES

Controlled by a member of key management of the
Group until August 20, 2010
R=2—FF/\A=+ANAAEEEEETABLH

Spouse of the Chief Executive Officer of the Group
AEEEFEATENRS

Key management of the Group
AEBEEEEASR

Controlled by a member of key management of the
Group until August 18, 2010
RZZE—ZF\A+/\BABAEEETEEEABSEH
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32 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32 BEALRS (H)

(continued)

(@) The directors of the Company are of the view that the @ ARAEFREBE UTRAAA
following companies/individuals were related parties ARBE_ZT—ZTF+A=1—
that had transactions or balances with the Group HIEFEAERREEBETR ST
during the year ended December 31, 2010: (continued) BHEBAEALT: (&)

Name Relationship with the Group

=E HASENER

Mr. Qin Guo Jun A significant shareholder of a subsidiary of the Group

=BRALE AEE-—RMBRAANEERRE

Mr. Zhu Sheng Nan A significant shareholder of a subsidiary of the Group

MRk £ AEE-RMBRAANEFERRK

Shenyang Jinyutang Real Estate Controlled by a significant shareholder of a subsidiary of
Agency Co., Ltd. the Group

BEEEERMERERRAA BHASE —RMBEAAMEZREIZES

The above names of certain related parties companies EAETFREEATRAIRRXEEBHAR

represented the best effort by management of the REEREARER XABENBEZF MR

Company in translating their Chinese names as they do #H RESEBARWEIENE LR -

not have official English names.

THERERAE —T-TFEEFEH
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32 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(b) Transactions with related parties: (b)

32 BAEALRS (H)

HEBEALETHIRS:
AEERBE_T-TF+_-A
St BUEFERBEATETNR

The following transactions were undertaken by the

Group with related parties during the year ended

December 31, 2010: TR :
(i) Continuing transactions (i) FEXRS
2010 2009
—E—ZF —EENF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET AREF T
Key management compensation FEERBASHM
(Note 25(c)) (BaE25(c)) 8,575 3,015
(ii) Non-continuing transactions (i) kFEXZ
2010 2009
—E-2F —ZTENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT
Newspaper advertising and REBEALTHHREESR
online services revenue from 8 4% PR A5 W 2 -
related parties:
Companies controlled by a close BRI PTE T
family member of a director UNE] - 1,590
Company controlled by a member AEEFZEEAE
of key management of the PR 2= il 89 22 7]
Group 1,023 2,931
Company controlled by the Chief — ZNEEE & E&N1T B FTE 5 &9
Executive Officer of the Group NG 2,959 2,087
3,982 6,608
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32 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32 BEANLRS (4)
(continued)
(b) Transactions with related parties: (continued) (by HEEFBEALETNRS: (B)

(ii) Non-continuing transactions (continued)
The transactions with related parties were
conducted in accordance with commercial terms
mutually agreed between the Group and the

respective related parties.

The amounts below represented expenses paid by

the Group on behalf of China TopReach.

(i) FBFEXZ (&)
HEABEALTETORS IR
AEEELSREALHERTE
BRI R AR BOETT

ATHRBAEAKERERFEX

X AHRAL -
2010 2009
—E-ZF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Expenses paid on behalf of REBEEALHAHX:

related party:
Immediate holding company HEERAR

3,519 9,319

3,519 9,319

THERERAE —T-TFEEFEH
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32 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(©)

Balances with related parties:

32

(c)

The Group had the following material trade and non-

trade balances with related parties:

PN LR S (%)

HEEALFBRER
REBEBEALTHFANUATEKRE
FRIFE R

2010 2009
—EB-BF —ZEENEF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT
Amount due (to)/from immediate () EREEZRAR
holding company - non-trade NE-FEH (1,731) 12,891
Amounts due from related EWEEALTRE-E5
parties — trade
Companies controlled by a close family — ZK A &) — 4 & 2= #3135 pr %
of a director of the Company /NG 12,000 14,614
Companies controlled by a member of ~ AEEEEEIE A B A7l
key management of the Group #) A ] - 1,293
Company controlled by the Chief REBGENITE PTG A
Executive Officer of the Group N - 1,403
12,000 17,310
Amounts due from related EWBAEATRE-FES
parties - non-trade
Companies controlled by a member of ~ AEEF EEIE A B A7l
key management of the Group #) A ] - 798
Spouse of the Chief Executive Officer of ANEEEHFEHITE WA B
the Group 663 879
Key management of the Group REENEZEEEAER 1,334 1,767
A former director of a subsidiary —ERBARMATEES
until September 1, 2008 (EEZZTZEN\FhA—
B) 23 23
Company controlled by the chief REEHEHITE FTESI
executive officer of the Group A A] 115 -
2,135 3,467
14,135 20,777
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32 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Balances with related parties: (continued)

For the year ended December 31, 2010, no outstanding

balance was due from any director (2009: Nil).

(c)

32 BAEALRS (H)

HEEATTFENGES: (8)
HE-_Z—ZTF+-_A=+—H1t
FE ERKEME SN &M
KEE(ZZETAFE &) -

2010 2009
—E-—EF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R AREFIT

Amounts due to directors: EREERE:
Mr. Chen Zhi PR SEAE 151 194
Mr. Hong Peifeng T I 5 A 1,641 1,030
Mr. Zhang Tiezhu ofk 881 55 A 141 150
Others Hib 40 =
1,973 1,374

The balances with directors are unsecured, interest-free

HESFAENEHAEER 2

and are repayable on demand. NEERKEE-
2010 2009
—e-8F —TINA
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Amounts due to related parties: FESBEEALRE:
Short-term borrowings SELLEF
Companies controlled by the Chief REEHEHNTE
Executive Officer of the Group FIT 12 161l B9 2 ] 157 36,847

Borrowings from companies controlled by the Chief

Executive Officer of the Company are unsecured,

interest-free and they are used to finance daily

operations.

KEARBEREAITEAEHNA
AMERAEER 28 KAER

HEEAS

THERERAE —T-TFEEFEH
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32 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32 BAMALZ S (H)
(continued)
(c) Balances with related parties: (continued) (0 BEEATHEENES: (&)
2010 2009
—EB-2F —EENF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R ARETF T
Amounts due to related EABEALTRE-FES
parties - non-trade
Companies controlled by the Chief AEBEFNTETESD
Executive Officer of the Group 2Ll 69 329
Companies controlled by a close family AR R —BEFHIMTH
member of a director of the Company FITZ ] 6 2 A) 312 316
Companies controlled by a director of RRAB—BREEMESN
the Company 2Ll 861 20,000
Key management of the Group AEEFEZERAR 40 _
Significant shareholders of subsidiaries A& EK B R E X 2R
of the Group - 2,240
Company controlled by a significant REEE— 2= ZBRATE S
shareholder of the Group H) 2 A - 1,210
1,282 24,095
1,439 60,942
All the above balances were unsecured, non-interests A Litsss AEEKIR - pE RE
bearing and repayable on demand. EREE-
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in
the PRC are members of a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute certain percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and wages to the central pension scheme
to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal
government undertakes to assume the retirement benefits
obligations of all existing and future retired employees of
these subsidiaries. The only obligation of these subsidiaries
with respect to the central pension scheme is to meet the

required contributions under the scheme.

The total contributions incurred in this connection for
the year ended December 31,
RMB1,764,000 (2009: RMB1,333,000).

contributions are available to reduce the contribution

2010 were approximately
No forfeited

payable by the Group in the future years.

CONTINGENCIES

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, the Group and the
Company had no other significant contingent liabilities at
December 31, 2010 and 2009.

34

N R U
AEBEEFBAKIHNBERRNEES
B A BT E R RRKETE A
WWEQTM&EAWE$%%&I§
H—EBP AP RRASFTEIHR L
BT IR IRAB F o b 75 7 BT 2 %Fﬁﬁ
MBARMMARSE RARKEKEEBN
RKENEAE - BB R R+ REIK
FEIME—EERBETEFEDNEHR
e

BE_2—ZF+_-_A=+—H8 1t
FE BRUEEEOHREEONRAR
#1,764,000 (ZZETNEF: AR
1,333,0007T ) ° BEARULHERR AT A VER
RREEAREE RS

AR AR

AR E A H D FREE I R T

z¢ “EEAFt-A=t—B F%
RAR A EEMEEARAARE-

THEBRERAE —ZT—TFFH
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35 STOCK OPTIONS SCHEME
(@) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to a resolution in writing passed by all the
shareholders of the Company on February 26, 2010,
the Company conditionally approved and adopted
a Pre-IPO Option Scheme (the “Pre-IPO Option
Scheme”). By the same resolution, the Company
granted 27,456,156 share options to its directors and
employees which are exercisable under the following

terms:

(i)  The exercise price of the option should not be less
than 100% of the fair market value of the shares
as at the grant date as determined by valuer

appointed by the Company;

(i)  40% of total options granted become exercisable
a year after grant date, another 30% also
become exercisable 2 years after grant date and
remaining 30% become exercisable 3 years after

grant date

The fair value of the employee services received
in exchange for the grant of the share options is
recognised as an expense, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity-based compensation reserves,
over the vesting period. At the end of each reporting
period, the Company revises its estimates of the
number of options that are expected to vest. It
recognises the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in the statement of comprehensive
income, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. For
the year ended December 31, 2010, the equity-based
compensation expenses amounted to RMB 5,263,000
(2009: nil).

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010

35 i B RE ST
(a) BRDBIR SR ES S

BEARAREZERER_ZT—F
FZAZHABARBHEBDRE
B ARTABREHERKAER
AREENERESE ([BRA
FEERBRERTE]) - REBEZOR
BR AQATIMEEEREERT
27,456,15617 & IR 7 - 7% & B IR
AJHR TSR T LATTE -

(i) BRETEETNSEREART
Z G ERE RO E
BEHIA L MERI00% ;

(i) ERHBRELHEN4I0%A]
REE B EB1F#&ITE B
30% Al R H B BR2F £ 1T
- AT 30%BI AT A X HH B HR
3BT

REBRELDNESRBOR A
BEXGBHANERRFAX AR
VAR R 7 EE T8 0 35 B % 48 VEAB FE 3
BN EWMEHR  RREHSITEE
TEES T HRBEERESE s
E2E W RERER MG
FE(WE)  WHERELBESR
B BE_T—ZTF+ZA=1+—
B IEFE - LARR R /5 B 5 69 37 B 79
Y A AREES263,0000T (ZET
Fom|)o
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35 STOCK OPTIONS SCHEME (continued) 35 HEBRERTH] (4)

(@) Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

Each share option gives the holder the right to

subscribe for one ordinary share of the Company.

(i) Movement of Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

(a) BERDFBEAEREST S
(&
BNBRERTHEARBART
— R EBRAERF)

~

(i) BRARBEMBEREEN

during the period as follows: HARNEFHOT :

Number of
Exercise Price Option
TEE BREZE

(HK$)

(BT)
At January 1, 2010 R_ZE-—TF—H—H - _
Granted on February 26, 2010 R —ZF - A - +XAXRH 1.82 27,456,156
At December 31, 2010 R-F—FF+-A= = 1.82 27,456,156

As at December 31, 2010, no options were exercisable.
All of the outstanding share options will be expired by
December 2, 2014.

The weighted average fair value per share option granted
during the period is determined by using the binomial
option pricing model and it was HK$0.57 per option. The
significant inputs into the Binomial option pricing model in
determining the fair value of the share options granted by
the Company are: the fair market value at the grant date of
HK$1.79 per option, exercise price of HK$1.82, volatility of
40.66%), expected option life of 4.4 years, dividend yield of
0%, and risk-free annual interest rate of 1.493%. Expected
volatility is estimated to be based on historical volatility of
the comparable companies over the period that has the

same length as the expected life of each grant.

R EITE o BT M AT A IS R
—E—NFE+—_AZHHm-

AR _BEAAREERAEEERD
BHERENMETHRAEERST
BT -CEEEAARMBLERENAR
BER —HEARECTEREAMANE
EHABER:REBHAZAATESEN
FERRRE1.798 T 1T (B1.828 T KR
40.66% - TEEARE AR B A HA4.45F R B
L0% MERKRF B E1.493% ° EEIK R
BB EALBRATDRRERS KED
8 AR HE &Y T8 HA 48 HA AR B A9 HA FA) 9 38 12 K
IS

THERERAE —T-TFEEFEH
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35 STOCK OPTIONS SCHEME (continued)

(a)

(b)

35 B RE T I (%)

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued) () BXRL BBEAIBERETS
(%)
Held at Granted Held at
31 December during 31 December
2009 the period 2010 Grant date Expiry date
RZZENF R=2-%2%
TZA=+-H TFEEZETr=F
58 REBR & 5E it B EpCpe!
Directors EE = 23,063,171 23,063,171 Feb 26, 2010 Dec 2, 2014
—F-%£ it Sl
“A=+iA +=AZH
Other employees HtfES - 4,392,985 4,392,985  Feb 26, 2010 Dec2,2014
—F-%£ it Sl
“A=+iA +=AZH
- 27,456,156 27,456,156
Share Option Scheme (b) IERRFESHE

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing passed by the
shareholders of the Company on November 8, 2010,
the Company adopted a share option scheme on
November 8, 2010 (“Share Option Scheme”). The
purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentive or reward to (i) any full-time or part-time
employees, executives or officers of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries; (ii) any Directors (whether
executive or non-executive, including any independent
non-executive Director) of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries; or (iii) any advisors, consultants
suppliers, customers and agents to the Company or any

subsidiaries (each “Eligible Person”).

ShiFang Holding Limited Annual Report 2010

BEARRBRRR _Z—FTF+—
ANBEBNETRER AR A
R-ZF-—FF+—-ANBRAER
REEHE ([t E]) - B
AEE ERBHMBGRAFHE
(=R CIERY=PNCIEORER B A 1
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35 STOCK OPTIONS SCHEME (continued)
(b) Share Option Scheme (continued)

The Board of Directors may, at any time within 10 years
after the date of approval of the Share Option Scheme,
make an offer to grant options to any Eligible Person.
The subscription price for shares granted pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the
Board of Directors in its absolute discretion and shall be
at least the highest of:

(i)  the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of offer;

(i)  the average of the closing prices of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date on which such offer is made;
and

(iii) the nominal value of shares of the Company.

The total number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme is
not permitted to exceed 10% of the total number
of shares in issue as at the Listing Date, 73,216,512
Shares, without prior approval from the shareholders
of the Company. The maximum number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted, and yet to be exercised, under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of
the issued share capital of the Company from time
to time. The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted under the
Share Option Scheme to each Eligible Person (including
both exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total
number of issued shares of the Company. Any further
grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject
to shareholders” approval in a general meeting.

35

S Joe WEE i o) ()
(b) FERMERTE (&)

Exen N BERETSEILEER
B+ FABRREAMEERALR
EREBEE REBRE SR
HOERMHRBEHEZTS2RDE
Br BETHBERTISENRS
=

() BORREEELEREZAE
BERFTE B mERAT RO T
1B

(i) BORBEERREEROEREE
BRI REEXBEBMER
WERABNFHRTE: K

(i) ARFRMDHIEE-

MREARRBRE F L BRI
FERRFERT 21 Pl 3% (L O BB IR A 0 R WO
IR BB S HBBMN LT HEE &
TR D 2 8L 10% (B173,216,512
BRARD) c1TEREERETE R
NN EHERE AL BB AR ST &I H B
18 155 1T 150 B BT B 2R 17 160 B AR e ifm AT
BITHRMEE LR TEBEN
RNETRE BITIRAAIZ30% - R1E
fa] 121 A BARE 17 8 4R 55 45 A i 51 2l
BTEREERATHREBRE
(BEETE BEERRTENE
AR fE) 31T RS T BITH AR (D 48
BT BBBEARAEEITRGE
1% o LiE— SR B BB ER
RERES BERRABREAE L
HEE -

THERARAT —T-TFFR
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35 STOCK OPTIONS SCHEME (continued) 35 JEMEREGT#E ()
(b) Share Option Scheme (continued) (b) HERREFE (&)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any
of their associates, are subject to approval in advance
by the independent non-executive directors of the
Company. In addition, if shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options granted under the Share
Option Scheme (including options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) to a participant who is a substantial
shareholder or an independent nonexecutive director
of the Company, or any of their associates, in any
12-month period (i) represent in aggregate more than
0.1% of the total number of shares in issue, and (ii)
have an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
the shares of the Company at the date of each grant,
in excess of HK$5,000,000, the proposed grant of
option must be approved by the shareholders of the

Company in a general meeting.

The amount payable on acceptance of an option is
RMB1.00. The exercise period of any option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall not be longer
than 10 years from the date of grant of the relevant
option. There is no minimum period for which an
option must be held before the exercise of the option

except otherwise imposed by the board of Directors.

As at 31 December 2010, no share option had been

granted under the Share Option Scheme.

RAXAREE FETBRAEK
FTERRABFEMBEARLE
Bt BCARARBYIERITE
SFEFHAE o BhSN - AR 21E A
N RIBERERETER2EE (B
RRREBRRKBIIENTES)
HIREFEMBE AR LB BR
E(REEETE BEaHRRE
TERNBRE) BTEEETRE
TEITHORGO)E HBBRBE BITR
DHEAZR0.1%  M()ZRREERE B
AR ARG T ESEHNREB
85,000,000/ 7T - A2 K H BB
BAKARFTRERRREAE Lt
JE

REMBRERENNESEASAR
#1.007T - 1R 2 BB A A I IR 0
EABRENTTER N SEERH
BIRER L E BRE10F - BAE
REITEAY EARE N RKEH
R HEZ=SSHBINERIER

RE-T-F5+-A=+-8
0 9RO RO T 8138 1 £ (R

T
36 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 36 R FIH
On February 22, 2011, the Group repaid RMB50 million of REZE——FZA=Z+=ZH AEEUE
bank borrowings, using its own cash and cash equivalents. RekReEFHEBEREERRITERAR
¥S0B BT e
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